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Doğuş REIT launched operations on July 25, 1997, under 
the title of Osmanlı REIT and held its IPO on March 
25, 1998, as the third real estate investment trust to be 
traded on the Istanbul Stock Exchange.

By the end of 2001, two Doğuş Group companies, 
Osmanlı Bank and Garanti Bank merged and, with 
this transaction, 51 percent of the Osmanlı REIT shares 
were transferred to Garanti Bank and the company 
became a subsidiary of Garanti Bank under the title 
Garanti REIT.

Garanti REIT laid the foundations of its first residential 
project, Evidea, in November 2004. Developed on a 
land of 34,000 m² in total, the Project EVIDEA consists 
of a construction area of 101,000 m² in total including 
a residence area of 73,000 m² and, a social facility area 
of 24,500 m². All the houses within the Project EVIDEA 
developed with the combination of the experiences of 
Garanti REIT and, Yapı Kredi Koray in the fields of real 
estate development and financing have been delivered 
to the respective owners as of the end of 2007.

All the houses within the Project EVIDEA developed 
with the combination of the experiences of Garanti 
REIT and, Yapı Kredi Koray in the fields of real estate 
development and financing have been delivered to the 
respective owners as of the end of 2007.

Garanti REIT started the construction of the project 
Doğuş Center Maslak in Maslak, Istanbul in June, 2005. 
Doğuş Center Maslak that has a total area of 63,202 
m2, of which 47,398 m2 is rentable space was opened 
on November 9, 2006. Upon the sales of the Garanti 

REIT shares held by Garanti Bank to General Electric 
(GE) Capital Corporation and Doğuş Holding, the 
shareholding structure of our company changed as 
of December 1, 2006 to 25.5% held by Doğuş Holding, 
25.5% held by GE and, 49% by the public, and the 
corporate name changed to Doğuş-GE GYO A.Ş. as 
of the same date.

In January 2011, General Electric (GE) Capital Corporation 
sold all of its shares in Doğuş-GE REIT to Doğuş Group 
and the company’s shareholder structure became 51% 
Doğuş Group and 49% publicly-traded. On the same 
date, the company’s trade name was changed to Doğuş 
REIT.
 
As a result of the partial demerger completed on 
December 26, 2013, the Gebze Center Shopping Center 
was included into the real estate portfolio of Doğuş 
REIT. The Gebze Center Shopping Center started to be 
constructed by Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme 
A.Ş. in August, 2008 came into operation on September 
3, 2010 with a rentable area of 59,054 m2 and, about 130 
stores and an investment budget of USD 180 million.

After the inclusion of the Gebze Center Shopping 
Center into the real estate portfolio of Doğuş REIT, the 
development efforts started to be carried out to create 
a mixed life center by means of extending the existing 
Shopping Center to include additional buildings and a 
hotel project. The project started to be constructed with 
the respective building license obtained on February 20, 
2015. There is a 158-room hotel and, various commercial 
areas in the project consisting of a construction area 
of 47,045 thousand m2.

In December, 2018, the D-Ofis Maslak office building 
located in Maslak that is one of the most important 
business and trade centers in Istanbul and, the Sport 
Center located within the Doğuş Center Etiler complex 
within our portfolio.

HISTORY

As a result of the partial demerger completed on 
September 6, 2016, the Doğuş Center Etiler was 
included into the real estate portfolio of Doğuş 
REIT. The total land area of the Doğuş Center Etiler is 
36,440.80 m2, consisting of 45 detached sections and, 
the total rentable area is 9,827 m2. The Doğuş Center 
Etiler is considered to be one of the most important 
business centers in the region due to its office and 
social areas and, the opportunities to use it provides.

The project Gebze Center Hotel and Additional 
Buildings, the investment of which started in 2015, 
was completed in 2017 and, the hotel opened under 
the brand “Hyatt House Gebze”. The rental procedures 
for the automotive showroom and the service area as 
well as additional Shopping Center units have been 
completed.

The sales procedures for Antalya 2000 Plaza were 
completed in June, 2018 and, it has been removed 
from our portfolio of real estate investments.

In December, 2018, the D-Ofis Maslak office building 
located in Maslak that is one of the most important 
business and trade centers in Istanbul and, the Gym 
Center that consists of the independent centers no. 16 
and 17 located within the Doğuş Center Etiler complex 
within our portfolio. D-Ofis Maslak is considered 
a valuable office building since it is located in a 
prestigious location where there are offices, shopping 
centers and luxury houses and residences and, its 
useable area is 40,438 m2. And the Sports Center 
within the Doğuş Center Etiler complex is operated 
by D-Gym, one of the most prestigious gym centers in 
Istanbul and, it consists of a leasable area of 6,745 m2.

As of the end of 2018, the real estate portfolio of 
Doğuş REIT consists of Doğuş Center Maslak, D-Office 
Maslak, Doğuş Center Etiler – Office Building, Doğuş 
Center Etiler – Gym, Gebze Center – Shopping Center, 
Gebze Center – Hotel (Hyatt House Gebze), Gebze 
Center – Automotive Showroom and Service (Doğuş 
Oto Gebze) and, the value of the investment real estate 
portfolio of Doğuş REIT has reached an amount of 
TL 1.77 billion.  

VISION
Doğuş REIT’s vision is to become a 
leading REIT in Turkey, empowered by 
the parent company Doğuş Group’s 
robust financial structure and global 
experience in real estate, construction, 
and finance.

MISSION
Doğuş REIT’s mission is to expand 
its real estate portfolio and improve 
its market value by assuring stable 
growth while being transparent and 
accountable, as well as respectful 
and responsive to its shareholders, 
stakeholders, customers, laws, 
corporate code of ethics, and the 
environment.

INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY
Doğuş REIT’s investment strategy is to 
maximize shareholder value through 
dividend pay-out and stock value 
gain; expand its investment portfolio 
and improve market cap via real 
estate investments mainly in rentable 
commercial spaces.
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Doğuş REIT started to operate 
in July 25, 1997.

It went public on March 
25, 1998 as the third REIT 
traded at the Istanbul Stock 
Exchange.

The construction of the 
project Doğuş Center Maslak 
started in Maslak, Istanbul in 
June.

The foundations of the project 
EVIDEA were laid down in 
November.

Doğuş Center Maslak opened 
in November.

2005

1998
1997

2004

2006

The residence project EVIDEA 
was completed.

Gebze Center Shopping 
Mall was included in the real 
estate portfolio of Doğuş REIT.

Gebze Center Etiler was 
included in the real estate 
portfolio of Doğuş REIT.

D-Ofis Maslak has been 
included to the real estate 
portfolio of Doğuş REIT.

D-Gym operating in the 
independent sections no. 16-17 
of Doğuş Center Etiler – Gym 
has been included to the real 
estate portfolio of Doğuş REIT.

The construction of the 
project Gebze Center 
Shopping Mall – Hotel and 
Additional Buildings was 
started.

Gebze Center -Hotel,
leasing have been 
completed to Hyatt
House Gebze and opened.

Gebze Center-Automotive 
Showroom and Service
have been leased to
Doğuş Oto Gebze.

2007

2015

2017

2016

2018

2013

MILESTONES
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ORGANIZATION CHART CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDING 
STRUCTURE 

Doğuş REIT
Board of Directors

Hüsnü Akhan Chairman
Ekrem Nevzat Öztangut Member
Adv. Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz Member 
Mustafa Doğrusoy  Independent Member 
M. Bahadır Teker  Independent Member

Çağan Erkan
CEO

Cem Engin
Deputy General Manager

Zeynep Kılıçcı
Assistant Manager

Audit Committee

Corporate Communication 
and Marketing

Early Risk Detection 
Committee

Corporate Governance 
Committee

Investor RelationsFinancial AffairsLaw

Özgür Çınar 
Legal Counsel

Adv. Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz
Division Director

Nazlı Yılmaz 
Division Staff

Nazlı Yılmaz
Deputy General Manager

Cüneyt Güneren
Manager

İlhan Hatipoğlu
Specialist

As of 31.12.2018, the shareholder structure of Doğuş 
REIT is as follows: 

COMPANY CAPITAL, SHAREHOLDERS WITH 
MORE THAN 5% AND 10% OF THE CAPITAL:

As of 31.12.2018, the Company’s Registered Capital 
Ceiling and Paid-in Capital are 500,000,000 
Turkish Liras and 332,007,786 Turkish Liras, 
respectively. The shareholders with more than 5% 
and 10% of the capital as per the data kept by the 
Central Registry Agency;

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. : 94.08%
TOTAL   : 94.08%

In the period of 01.01.2018 – 31.12.2018, there is no 
real person with 5% or more of the capital.

SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES

As of 31.12.2018, the company has no subsidiaries 
and affiliates.

SHAREHOLDER’S NAME/TITLE GROUP TYPE
DECEMBER 31, 2018
SHARE PERCENTAGE
(%)

DECEMBER 31, 2017
SHARE PERCENTAGE
(%)

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. (Private) A Registered 0.78 0.78

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. (Private) B Bearer 14.67 14.67

Other Publicly-Traded Part B Bearer 84.55 84.55

Total 100 100



10 11

DOĞUŞ REIT 2018 ANNUAL REPORT DOĞUŞ REIT 2018 ANNUAL REPORTAbout Doğuş REIT About Doğuş REIT

STATEMENTS ABOUT PREFERENCE SHARES 
AND THEIR VOTING RIGHTS

The shares within the Company are divided into two 
groups: group A and group B. The Group (A) Shares 
have the privilege to nominate for the election of the 
members of the Board of Directors. Each shareholder 
holding the shares of the Company has one vote to cast 
for their one share. There is no other privilege granted 
to the shareholders within the Company.

VOTING RIGHTS AND MINORITY RIGHTS

At the General Meetings of Shareholders, the votes are 
cast as an internal directive prepared by the Board of 
Directors pursuant to the pertinent arrangements issued 
by the Ministry of Customs and Trade. A shareholder, 
who does not attend a meeting physically, shall cast their 
votes as per the pertinent provisions of the legislations 
concerning General Meetings held electronically. 

There is no application within the Company aiming 
to make difficult the exercise the voting rights. Each 
shareholder is provided with an opportunity to exercise 
the voting rights in the easiest and most appropriate 
manner. Great attention is paid at our Company to 
the exercise of the minority rights. There has been no 
critics or complaints submitted by minority shareholders 
to the company within the period of 01.01.2018 – 
31.12.2018. Each shareholder holding the shares of the 
Company has one vote to cast for their one share. A 
non-privileged shareholder within the Company eligible 

for voting may exercise this right in person or through 
a third person not necessary a shareholder. There is no 
provision in the articles of association aiming to prevent 
a non-shareholder to cast vote acting on behalf of a 
shareholder. The information on the candidates for the 
members of the Board of Directors are submitted to 
the shareholders for the information in the General 
Meeting of Shareholders, and then such candidates 
are appointed by the resolution of the General Meeting 
of Shareholders. 

There is no mutual participation relation in the capital 
of our company.  

The minority rights are described in the article 21 
“General Meetings” of the articles of association of 
the Company. Save for the special provisions of the 
legislations and the articles of association, the voting 
at a General Meeting shall be carried out as an open 
ballot by means of raising hands using an electronic 
voting system.

Information on the Capital and Shareholding 
Structure of the Company and the Changes within 
the Relevant Accounting Period

None.

Amendments within the Accounting Period with 
respect to the Articles of Association of the Company

None.

Management and 
Assessments

12   Message From the General Manager
14   Board of Directors
20  Senior Management
22  Independence Statements
25  Committees

02/SHAREHOLDER’S NAME/TITLE GROUP

VOTING RIGHTS 
OF PREFERENCE/
NON-PREFERENCE 
RIGHTS

TOTAL VOTING 
RIGHTS OF 
PREFERENCE/
NON-PREFERENCE 
RIGHTS

TOTAL VOTING 
PERCENTAGE OF 
PREFERENCE/
NON-PREFERENCE 
RIGHTS (%)

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. A 1 2,604,451.264 0.78

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. (Private) B 1 48,693,875.297 14.67

Other (Publicly-Traded Part) B 1 280,709,459.439 84.55

Total  332,007,786.00 100.00
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
GENERAL MANAGER  

Dear Stakeholders,

We have passed through a tough year for both the 
global economy and, the Turkish economy. We have 
felt the impacts of the contraction on volatility and 
liquidity conditions experienced in the global markets 
also in the Turkish economy. In spite of these tough 
market conditions, Doğuş REIT has achieved to grow 
and diversify its portfolio of real estate properties in 
line with its targets. 

In December 2018, we purchased D-Office Maslak office 
building with a useable area of 40,438 m2 located in 
Maslak, one of the most important business and trade 
centers of Istanbul, and, the Gym Center with a rentable 
area of 6,745 m2 consisting of the independent sections 
no. 16 and 17 located in Doğuş Center Etiler complex 
within our portfolio. D-Office Maslak real estate has been 
fully leased to Doğuş Holding and, the Gym Center is 
being operated by D-Gym, one of the most prestigious 
gym centers in Istanbul.

On the other hand, we have completed the sales 
procedures for Antalya 2000 Plaza, which we had 
decided to sell strategically, in June 2018, in spite of 
all tough market conditions. 

In spite of the liquidity contradiction and, decreased 
opportunities for loans as experienced in the global 
financial markets, we have financed the sales procedures 
for 2 real estate properties in December with the loan 
of 100 million Euro amounts with a repayment period 
of 6 years made available by Credit Europe Bank N.V. 
headquartered in the Netherlands. This long term 

The price of our portfolio of investment real estate 
properties has reached an amount of TL 1.77 billion.

finance obtained on the last days of the year is the 
result of the confidence of the international financing 
institutions both on our country’s economy and our 
company.  

In the light of all these developments, the price of the 
portfolio of investment real estate properties of Doğuş 
REIT consisting of Doğuş Center Maslak, D-Office Maslak, 
Doğuş Center Etiler-Office Building, Doğuş Center Etiler- 
Gym Center, Gebze Center Shopping Center, Gebze 
Center Hotel and Gebze Center Automotive Showroom 
and Service has reached an amount of TL 1.77 billion 
as of the end of 2018.

The rental incomes obtained from the real estate 
properties in 2018 were TL 98.6 million, which results 
in the net profit of TL 3.9 million. 

We at Doğuş REIT will maintain our strong investment 
portfolio and, continue our efforts intended to provide 
the highest level of added values for our country, 
shareholders and stakeholders in the upcoming years, 
as we have always done so far.  

I would like to express my thanks to our main shareholder 
Doğuş Holding that has provided full support for us 
during 2018, our investors who have put their trust on 
us, the Doğuş REIT team and all the stakeholders. 

Yours respectfully, 

Çağan Erkan
General Manager
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Completing his primary and secondary 
education at Birecik High School 
(Şanlıurfa), Hüsnü Akhan is a graduate 
of Middle East Technical University, 
Department of Business Administration 
and earned his Master’s degree in 
Economics from University of Miami (USA). 
Akhan served at various positions of the 
Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey. 
He served as Representative at London 
Office and Assistant General Manager 
at the Foreign Relations Department 
of the Central Bank of the Republic 
of Turkey. He joined Doğuş Group in 
1994. After serving as the Executive VP 
responsible for Treasury, Operations and 
Foreign Relations at Garanti Bank, he 
was assigned as the General Manager 
of Körfezbank in 1998. Hüsnü Akhan was 
a board member of Doğuş Holding and 
CFO during 2001-2005. Since January 
2006, he has been a board member of 
Doğuş Holding and the CEO. Additionally, 
he currently serves as the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of Doğuş REIT, 
Hedef Media Promotion Interactive 
Media Marketing, Doğuş Photography, 
Körfez Aviation, Doğuş Planet Electronics 
& Informatics Services, PIT Istanbul Hotel 
Operations and, as Vice-Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of Ara Güler Doğuş 
Arts and Museum, Doğuş Information 
and Technology Services and, as Member 
of the Board of Directors of TUVTURK. 

After graduating from the Faculty of 
Economics and Administrative Science, 
Hacettepe University, Mr. Öztangut joined 
the Capital Markets Board of Turkey and 
served as an Auditor and a Chief Auditor 
at the Audit Department between 1984 
and 1994. Mr. Öztangut then continued 
his career as an academic member of 
Marmara University between 1992 and 
1994. Mr. Öztangut has been the CEO of 
Garanti Securities between 1994 and 2015. 
Mr. Öztangut served as the Chairman of 
Doğuş SK Private Equity Company and 
Director of the Board of Garanti Emeklilik, 
Doğuş Otomotiv, Doğuş Oto, Doğuş REIT, 
Doğuş Energy, Garanti Investment Trust. 
He has also been the Deputy Chairman 
of the Settlement & Custody Bank 
(Takas Bank) between 2000 and 2013, 
President of the Association of Capital 
Market Intermediary Institutions of Turkey 
between 2007 and 2011, and Chairman 
of the Junior Achievement Education 
Foundation between 2011 and 2015 and, 
Independent Board Member of Goodyear 
Lastikleri T.A.Ş. between 2011-2017 and, 
Chairman of D.ream Doğuş Restaurant 
Group Companies between 2014 and 
2018. Mr. Öztangut is currently holding 
the position of Board Member of Doğuş 
Holding A.Ş. and, Member of Sectoral 
Assembly of TOBB Capital Market.

Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz is 1986 graduate of 
the Faculty of Law of Istanbul University. 
After serving as self-employed lawyer and 
as Legal Adviser in holding companies until 
1995, he participated in the group in 1996 
while he was performing the duties of Legal 
Adviser of AGF Garanti Sigorta, Garanti 
Yatırım ve Ticaret Bankası and Garanti 
Yatırım Menkul Kıymetler in the Doğuş 
Group. He carried out the incorporation 
procedures for Garanti Portföy Yönetim A.Ş. 
in June, 1997. In addition to the positions 
within the organization of Garanti Yatırım 
Menkul Kıymetler A.Ş. and Garanti Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş., he has held the office of legal 
advisor of this company. He served as a 
Board Member in charge of the internal 
audit of the company. He held the position 
of Board Member within the organization 
Tansaş Gıda Perakende Mağazacılık A.Ş., 
managing the respective legal procedures. 
He has served as a Board Member, 
Consultant to Chairman and, Chief Legal 
Advisor within the organization of Doğuş 
Otomotiv Servis ve Ticaret A.Ş. and Doğuş 
Oto Pazarlama ve Ticaret A.Ş. He established 
the law office called HHG Hasan Hüsnü 
Güzelöz Legal and Consultancy Office in 
May, 2017. He served as Vice-Chairman 
of Doğuş Publication Group Companies 
and Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. He is also serving as Legal Counselor 
for Doğuş Automotive Group Companies, 
REIT, Garanti Yatırım Menkul Kıymet A.Ş. He 
serves as Chairman, Discipline Committee, 
the Turkish Capital Market Association. 
He lectured in the Faculty of Law, Kadir 
Has University and, the Faculty of Law, 
MEF University, in the fields of Capital 
Markets Law and Competition Law. He 
has CMB Advanced Level and Corporate 
Governance Rating Licenses. He carries 
out studies in the fields of family-owned 
companies and corporate governance, and 
has published articles concerning capital 
market legislation. He is the founder of 
HHG Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz Legal and 
Consultancy Office. 

Hüsnü Akhan
Chairman

Ekrem Nevzat Öztangut
Board Member

Adv. Hasan
Hüsnü Güzelöz
Board Member

He graduated from Yıldız Technical 
University in 1981 as an engineer and, 
received MBA degree from the Faculty 
of Business Administration, Istanbul 
University in 1983. As a Management, 
Strategy and Investment Consultant, he 
provides support in the fields of Corporate 
Governance, Corporate Risk Management, 
Corporate Financing, Family Owned 
Companies and Institutionalization, 
Application of the Turkish Commercial 
Code in Companies and, Capital Market 
Legislations and, takes place in such 
projects intended to find financing, 
shareholders, business mergers, transfers 
and acquisitions. He is a Board Member 
in the Corporate Governance Association 
of Turkey. He teaches in the fields of 
corporate governance, institutionalization 
and management as a visiting lecturer 
in the master’s degree and doctorate 
department of universities. He takes place 
in advisory boards of universities. He has 
held positions of Executive Committee 
Member and Board Member in some 
of the most respectful organizations in 
Turkey for long years and, is currently 
serving as Board Member, Advisory Board 
Member and Consultant to Management 
Boards of many companies. He has been 
holding the position of Independent 
Board Member of Doğuş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. since 2014.

After completing his high school 
education in Istanbul Science High 
School in 1986, he graduated from the 
Department of Business Management, 
the Faculty of Economics and 
Administrative Sciences, ODTU in 1991. 
He has completed the Finance program 
in Wharton Business School. He started to 
take office in the Capital Market Board in 
1991. He has served in the departments 
of Partnership Financing and Corporate 
Investors in the Capital Market Board as 
specialist, vise head of department for 
14 years. He has acted as a consultant 
in a company named Istanbul Capital 
Consultancy he had established in the 
fields of capital markets, corporate 
investors, real estate financing, real estate 
investment companies, mortgage credits 
and financing. He serves as an executive 
director in Şeker Finansman A.Ş’, where he 
is one of the incorporators.  He has three 
published books “Real Estate Financing 
through Capital Market Instruments”, 
“Investment Funds in Turkey”, “Capital 
Market Regulations in OECD Countries”.

Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy
Independent Member

Murat Bahadır Teker
Independent Member
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INFORMATION ON THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES 
AND NUMBER OF PERSONNEL

Board of Directors

The Members of the Board of Directors elected for a 
term of office of 1 year at the Ordinary General Meeting 
of Shareholders for 2017 held on 28.03.2017 and, the 
task distribution among them are as follows:

NAME, SURNAME POSITION APPOINTMENT 
START DATE

APPOINTMENT
END DATE

EXECUTIVE 
POSITION

INDEPENDENT 
MEMBER STATUS

Hüsnü AKHAN Chairman 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive

Ekrem Nevzat ÖZTANGUT Member 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Executive

Hasan Hüsnü GÜZELÖZ Member 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive

Hayrullah Murat AKA Member 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive

Mustafa Sabri DOĞRUSOY Member 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive Independent 
Member

Özlem TEKAY Member 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive Independent 
Member

As per the resolution adopted by the Board of Directors 
on April 18, 2018, it was resolved to accept the resignation 
of Hayrullah Murat Aka, a Board Member, who has 
submitted a petition to our Company indicating that 
he had resigned the position of Board Member, and 
revoke the Group (A) Signing Authority granted to him 
to act on behalf of our Company.

As per the resolution adopted by the Board of Directors 
on June 26, 2018, whereas Özlem Tekay, an Independent 
Board Member, has submitted a petition to our 
Company indicating that she had resigned the position 
of Independent Board Member (also the positions of 
Audit Committee Member, Corporate Governance 
Committee Member, Early Detection of Risk Committee 
Member). It was resolved to accept this resignation in 
line with the Corporate Governance Principles.

As per the resolution adopted by the Board of Directors 
on June 26, 2018, it was resolved to appoint Murat 
Bahadır TEKER as Independent Board and member 
of the respective committees, for whom a proposal no. 
2018/3 was submitted by the Corporate Governance 
Committee on June 26, 2018 to fulfil the requirements 
of the position that become vacant due to the 
resignation of Özlem TEKAY, Independent Board 
Member, on June 26, 2018, and whose suitability for 
the position of Independent Member was approved 
and from whom an Independence Statement was 
received in line with the Capital Market Board’s 
Corporate Governance Communique Serial No. II.17.1, 
which shall be submitted to the next General Meeting 
for approval.

As of today, the members of the Board of Directors 
consisting of 5 persons and, the duty distribution 
among them are as follows;

NAME, SURNAME POSITION APPOINTMENT 
START DATE

APPOINTMENT
END DATE

EXECUTIVE 
POSITION

INDEPENDENT 
MEMBER STATUS

Hüsnü AKHAN Chairman 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive

Ekrem Nevzat ÖZTANGUT Member 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Executive

Hasan Hüsnü GÜZELÖZ Member 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive

Mustafa Sabri DOĞRUSOY Member 28.03.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive Independent 
Member

Murat Bahadır TEKER Member 26.06.2018 28.03.2019 Non-executive Independent 
Member

Information on the Operating Principles and 
Structure of the Board of Directors

The members of the Board of Directors of the Company 
were elected at the Ordinary General Meeting of 
Shareholders held on 28.03.2018 for a term of office 
until the respective Ordinary General Meeting of 
Shareholders, where the business operations for 2017 shall 
be deliberated, and satisfy the qualifications as set forth 
under articles 347 and 375 of the Turkish Commercial 
Code No. 6102. The Board of Directors consists a chairman 
and four members.

The independent members of the Board of Directors 
fulfil the independency criteria as mentioned in the 
Corporate Governance Principles of the Capital Market 
Board. The independent members have submitted their 
written statements proving that they are independent 
as per the applicable legislations, articles of association 
and corporate governance principles to the Corporate 
Governance Committee serving also the Nomination 
Committee. The Corporate Governance Committee has 
confirmed that the independent members fulfill the 
independency criteria as per article 4.3.6 of the “Annex-1 
Capital Market Board’s Corporate Governance Principles” 
an annex to the Corporate Governance Communique 
(II-17.1). This certification is available at the website of the 
Company. The independency statements of the 

independent members were submitted to the General 
Meeting held on 28.03.2018, during which they were 
elected to that position. 

Nothing happened in the period of 01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018 
that has affected the independency of the Independent 
Members of the Board of Directors. 

The Chairman and members of the Board of Directors 
have the authorities as indicated in articles 11-15 of the 
Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to the 
respective articles, the Company are managed and 
represented by the Board of Directors. The Board of 
Directors performs the duties as set forth in the pertinent 
provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code, the Capital 
Market Legislations as well as other relevant regulations.

An approval is obtained from the respective general 
meeting in accordance with articles 395 and 396 of the 
Turkish Commercial Code with respect to the members 
of the Board of Directors performing or acting on behalf 
of others to perform, whether directly or indirectly, any 
commercial activities falling to the subject-matter of 
the Company, and becoming a partner of a company 
engaging in such activities. 

No event occurred within the period of 01.01.2018 
- 31.12.2018, which is contrary to the principle “no 
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transaction and competition with the Company” with 
respect to the members of the Board of Directors.

There is no restriction on the members of the board 
of directors to hold an office outside the Company. 
Such restriction is not required especially due to the 
contributions of the professional knowledge and 
experiences of the independent members to the 
Board of Directors. 

During the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018, the Company 
has not lent any amount or made available any loan 
or provided any security through a third person to 
the members of the board of directors or executives.

The board of directors discloses the vision, mission and 
strategic targets of the Company through the website 
and the respective annual reports. Our Company’s 
Board of Directors is composed of six members.

Each member has an equal vote at the Board of 
Directors and, the number of the meeting is sufficient 
for them to carry out their tasks in an efficient member 
and, the secretariat procedures are carried out by the 
Company. The agenda of the meetings of the Board 
of Directors is previously prepared and submit to the 
members for their review. The Board of Directors meets 
whenever the business operations of the Company 
require it. 

The Board of Directors has met 31 times and adopted 
41 resolutions within the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018.

At the meetings of the Board of Directors, no opposition 
or different statement has been submitted during the 
period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018.

During the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, the members 
of the Board of Directors, who have been in relation 
with related parties, have not attend the respective 
resolutions of the Board of Directors, complying with 
the Capital Market Legislations.

There has been no disagreement between the Board 
of Directors with the executive management of the 
Company within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018.

There has been no subject that the Independent 
Members of the Board of Directors have specially asked 
the Board of Directors to include into the respective 
agenda items within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018.

The meetings of the Board of Directors are held in 
accordance with article 13 of the Articles of Association 
of the Company. Article 13 of the Articles of Association 
of the Company also contains the information with 
respect the fact that the special resolutions of the 
Board of Directors should be unanimously adopted. 
In the event that such resolutions are not adopted 
unanimously, then it is obligatory that the Capital 
Markets Board and the Stock Exchange shall be 
informed accordingly. There has been no case 
that requires a public disclosure up to today. The 
independent members of the Board of Directors have 
agreed on all the resolutions and, cast affirmative 
votes thereon.

The members of the Board of Directors are required 
to have the qualifications as set forth in the Turkish 
Commercial Code, the Capital Market Legislations and 
other pertinent legislations. This is also specified in 
article 12 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

The structure of the Board of Directors has been 
established in order to ensure that quick and rational 
resolutions are adopted, that the committees required 
to be formed in accordance with the corporate 
governance principles, and that they work in an 
efficient and productive manner. There are executive 
and non-executive members of the Board of Directors 
and, the majority of the members consists of non-
executive members. One member of the Board of 
Directors is of executive member and, four members 
are of non-executive members. Out of non-executive 
members, two members are independent members.

The two independent members of the Board of 
Directors have no relationships with our shareholder 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş. in terms of capital and commercial 
and, have no commercial relationships with individuals 
and legal entities, from which our Company receive 
services. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors and two 
members of the Board of Directors holds the positions 
of Chairman of the Board of Directors, Member of 
the Board of Directors and Legal Counselor in the 
companies within the organization of Doğuş Group.

The duties that may be assumed by the Members 
of the Board of Directors outside the Company are 
performed under certain rules in accordance with 
article 18 of the Articles of Association. The restrictive 
provisions of the Capital Market Legislations apply to 
the qualifications of the members. 

It has been unanimously approved that pursuant to 
the pertinent provisions of article 1.3.6 of the Corporate 
Governance Communique (II-17.1) issued by the Capital 
Market Board and, of articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code,  the shareholders with the power of 
management, the members of the board of directors, 
the executives with administrative responsibilities as 
well as their relatives by blood and marriage may 
perform and carry out any significant business, which 
could cause any conflict of interest with the company 
or its affiliates, engage in any commercial business 
within the scope of the business operations of the 
company or its affiliates on their own behalf or on 
behalf of others, and may be a general partner of a 
partnership engaging in the similar types of business 
operations as the company at the Ordinary General 
Meeting of Shareholders held on 28.03.2018 as a result 
of the respective deliberations thereon. There has been 
no such transaction carried out by the members of 
the Board of Directors and the senior executives of 
the Company.

No event occurred within the period of 01.01.2018-
31.12.2018, which is contrary to the principle “no 

transaction and competition with the Company” with 
respect to the members of the Board of Directors. 

At the meetings of the Board of directors, article 9, 
article 10 of the Corporate Governance Principles of 
the Capital Markets Board (II-17.1), and the pertinent 
provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company 
apply to all kinds of related party procedures as well 
as common and continuous transactions. 
 
A Related Party Transactions Report was prepared 
for the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, approved by 
the resolution of the Board of Directors no. 2019/9 
on 28.02.2019 and, disclosed at the Public Disclosure 
Platform (PDP) on 28.02.2019.

There has been no legal action, administrative or 
criminal sanction against the Members of the Board 
of Directors and the employees of the Company 
due to actions contrary to the respective legislations 
applicable to the activities of the Company within 
the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018.

The chairman of the Board of Directors and the general 
manager is not the same person in compliance with 
the pertinent provisions of article 4.2.5 of the Corporate 
Governance Principles of the Corporate Governance 
Communique Serial No. II-17.1. 

As per the resolution adopted by the Board of 
Directors on June 26, 2018, whereas Özlem Tekay, an 
Independent Board Member, has submitted a petition 
to our Company indicating that she had resigned 
the position of Independent Board Member (also the 
positions of Audit Committee Member, Corporate 
Governance Committee Member, Early Detection of 
Risk Committee Member). It was resolved to accept 
this resignation in line with the Corporate Governance 
Principles.

Based on the resolution of the Board of Directors no 
2016/441 of 27.06.2016 , a Policy on Female Members 
of the Board of Directors was formed and disclosed 
on the website of the Company www.dogusgyo.com.tr.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Çağan Erkan received his BSc degree from the School 
of Business Administration, Istanbul Technical University 
in 1991 and MBA degree from the Graduate School of 
Management, St. John Fisher College in 1994. He started 
his career at Garanti Securities in 1994 and acted as 
Executive Vice President responsible from Corporate 
Finance until June, 2015. Erkan joined Doğuş REIT in 
June 2015 as the General Manager of the Company.

He received Bachelor’s Degree (BA-Hons) in the field of 
International Business Management from Nottingham Trent 
University, U.K., and Master’s Degree (MBA) in the field of 
International Marketing Management from London European 
School of Economics, U.K. in 2001 and 2005 respectively. 
Cem Engin served in the departments of Foreign Trade 
and Procurement for the local group companies within the 
organization of the Doğan Group between 1999 and 2001 
and, was transferred to a foreign company of the group 
(London, U.K.) in January 2001, and served as Deputy General 
Manager in charge of Foreign Trade and Procurement until 
2005. Mr. Engin joined the Doğuş Group in May, 2005, 
served in the departments of Holding Strategical Planning, 
Business Development and Investor Relations within the 
organization of the Doğuş Group and, held the positions 
of Director and Deputy General Manager in the group 
companies of the Doğuş Automotive Group (DOD, Porsche) 
and, was transferred to Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. in June, 2007 as Deputy General Manager in charge 
of Corporate Communications, Marketing and Leasing 
and, currently holds this position; Mr. Engin is members 
of the Corporate Governance Association of Turkey (TKYD), 
the Ethics and Reputation Society of Turkey (TEİD) and, 
the Association of Real Estate and Real Estate Investment 
Companies (GYODER). 

Çağan Erkan
General Manager

Cem Engin
Deputy General Manager of
Corporate Communications

and Marketing

Nazlı Yılmaz
Deputy General Manager of

Financial Affairs

She received Bachelor’s Degree from the Department of 
Economics, the Faculty of Economics and Administrative 
Sciences, Eskişehir Anatolian University in 1996, completed 
her education for Master’s Degree in Law in MEF University 
between 2017 and 2019 and, held the position of Officer 
in charge of Financial Affairs and Finance in Ege Yatırım 
Menkul Değerler A.Ş. between 1997 and 2003. She went 
to Yapı Kredi Portföy Yönetimi A.Ş. in 2003 taking the 
position of Deputy General Manager in charge of Financial 
Affairs and Finance. She has served as Financial Affairs 
Director for Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 
within the organization of the Doğuş Group since 2004 
and, promoted to the position of Deputy General Manager 
in charge of Financial Affairs in Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş. as from January 1, 2014. She is a member of 
the Real Estate Investment Trust Profession Committee, 
the Turkish Capital Market Association. She has also the 
Independent Accountant and Financial Advisor Certificate 
(2005), Expert Certificates and, Capital Market Activities 
Level-3, Corporate Governance Rating Licenses.  
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INDEPENDENCE 
STATEMENTS 
STATEMENTS OF INDEPENDENCE FROM INDEPENDENT BOARD MEMBERS

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. Independent Member Statements of Mustafa Sabri DOĞRUSOY and Murat Bahadır 
TEKER, who are independent members in the Board of Directors of Doğuş REIT, were announces in the Public Disclosure 
Platform on March 2, 2018 and June 26, 2018 respectively and are available in the Company’s website.

INDEPENDENCE STATEMENT

I announced my nomination for the Board of Directors as “Independent Member” at Doğuş REIT (the Company) according 
to criteria specified in the legislation, Articles of Association, and the Capital Markets Board Corporate Governance Principles 
defined in the Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué on Corporate Governance (II-17.1), which was entered into force following 
its publication in Official Gazette No. 28871 of January 3, 2014.

Accordingly I declare that;

a) There has been no employment relation at manager level with important duties and responsibilities between myself, 
my spouse, or my relatives with second degree of consanguinity and affinity and the Company’s controlling shareholders 
according to Turkish Financial Reporting Standards 10 or shareholders with management control or significant influence in 
the company or associates over which the company has significant influence according to Turkish Accounting Standards 28 
for the last five years; I do not have, jointly or alone, more than 5 percent of capital or voting rights or preference shares; or I 
do not have any commercial relation of significance;
b) I have not been a partner (5 percent and more) and/or have not worked as manager with significant duties and responsibilities 
and/or have not officiated as Board of Directors member at any companies from or to which the Company has provided 
significant services or products under a contract, including company audit (tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), rating and 
consultancy, while these products or services have been provided within the last five years;
c) I have the education, knowledge, and experience required to perform any duties I will perform as an independent Board 
member;
d) I do not work / will not work upon my selection as Board member full time in any public bodies, except as a faculty member 
if compliant with the related regulations;
e) I am a resident in Turkey according to Income Tax Law No. 193 of December 31, 1960;
f) I have strong ethical standards, the professional reputation and the necessary experience to make significant contributions 
to the Company’s activities, to remain neutral in any conflict of interests between the Company and its shareholders, and to 
decide freely taking into consideration the rights of stakeholders;   
g) I will allocate enough time to the Company’s affairs and representative duties assigned by the Board of Directors in order 
to be able to follow the course of Company’s activities and to duly meet the requirements of duties I will assume;   
h) I have not been a member in the Company’s Board of Directors more than six years within the last ten years;
i) I have not officiated as independent member in the Board of Directors at more than three companies over which the 
Company or the controlling shareholders of the Company has/have management control and more than five publicly-traded 
companies in total.

I kindly submit to the Board of Directors, General Meeting, our shareholders, and all stakeholders for information.

March 1, 2018
Mustafa Sabri DOĞRUSOY

INDEPENDENCE STATEMENT

I announced my nomination for the Board of Directors as “Independent Member” at Doğuş REIT (the Company) according 
to criteria specified in the legislation, Articles of Association, and the Capital Markets Board Corporate Governance Principles 
defined in the Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué on Corporate Governance (II-17.1), which was entered into force following 
its publication in Official Gazette No. 28871 of January 3, 2014.

Accordingly I declare that;

a) There has been no employment relation at manager level with important duties and responsibilities between myself, 
my spouse, or my relatives with second degree of consanguinity and affinity and the Company’s controlling shareholders 
according to Turkish Financial Reporting Standards 10 or shareholders with management control or significant influence in 
the company or associates over which the company has significant influence according to Turkish Accounting Standards 28 
for the last five years; I do not have, jointly or alone, more than 5 percent of capital or voting rights or preference shares; or I 
do not have any commercial relation of significance;
b) I have not been a partner (5 percent and more) and/or have not worked as manager with significant duties and responsibilities 
and/or have not officiated as Board of Directors member at any companies from or to which the Company has provided 
significant services or products under a contract, including company audit (tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), rating and 
consultancy, while these products or services have been provided within the last five years;
c) I have the education, knowledge, and experience required to perform any duties I will perform as an independent Board 
member;
d) I do not work / will not work upon my selection as Board member full time in any public bodies, except as a faculty member 
if compliant with the related regulations;
e) I am a resident in Turkey according to Income Tax Law No. 193 of December 31, 1960;
f)I have strong ethical standards, the professional reputation and the necessary experience to make significant contributions 
to the Company’s activities, to remain neutral in any conflict of interests between the Company and its shareholders, and to 
decide freely taking into consideration the rights of stakeholders;   
g) I will allocate enough time to the Company’s affairs and representative duties assigned by the Board of Directors in order 
to be able to follow the course of Company’s activities and to duly meet the requirements of duties I will assume; 
h) I have not been a member in the Company’s Board of Directors more than six years within the last ten years;
i) I have not officiated as independent member in the Board of Directors at more than three companies over which the 
Company or the controlling shareholders of the Company has/have management control and more than five publicly-traded 
companies in total.

I kindly submit to the Board of Directors, General Meeting, our shareholders, and all stakeholders for information.

March 1, 2018
Özlem TEKAY

Resigned on 26.06.2018.
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INDEPENDENCE STATEMENT

I announced my nomination for the Board of Directors as “Independent Member” at Doğuş REIT (the Company) according 
to criteria specified in the legislation, Articles of Association, and the Capital Markets Board Corporate Governance Principles 
defined in the Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué on Corporate Governance (II-17.1), which was entered into force following 
its publication in Official Gazette No. 28871 of January 3, 2014.

Accordingly I declare that;

a) There has been no employment relation at manager level with important duties and responsibilities between myself, 
my spouse, or my relatives with second degree of consanguinity and affinity and the Company’s controlling shareholders 
according to Turkish Financial Reporting Standards 10 or shareholders with management control or significant influence in 
the company or associates over which the company has significant influence according to Turkish Accounting Standards 28 
for the last five years; I do not have, jointly or alone, more than 5 percent of capital or voting rights or preference shares; or I 
do not have any commercial relation of significance;
b) I have not been a partner (5 percent and more) and/or have not worked as manager with significant duties and responsibilities 
and/or have not officiated as Board of Directors member at any companies from or to which the Company has provided 
significant services or products under a contract, including company audit (tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), rating and 
consultancy, while these products or services have been provided within the last five years;
c) I have the education, knowledge, and experience required to perform any duties I will perform as an independent Board 
member;
d) I do not work / will not work upon my selection as Board member full time in any public bodies, except as a faculty member 
if compliant with the related regulations;
e) I am a resident in Turkey according to Income Tax Law No. 193 of December 31, 1960;
f) I have strong ethical standards, the professional reputation and the necessary experience to make significant contributions 
to the Company’s activities, to remain neutral in any conflict of interests between the Company and its shareholders, and to 
decide freely taking into consideration the rights of stakeholders;   
g) I will allocate enough time to the Company’s affairs and representative duties assigned by the Board of Directors in order 
to be able to follow the course of Company’s activities and to duly meet the requirements of duties I will assume;   
h) I have not been a member in the Company’s Board of Directors more than six years within the last ten years;
i) I have not officiated as independent member in the Board of Directors at more than three companies over which the 
Company or the controlling shareholders of the Company has/have management control and more than five publicly-traded 
companies in total.

I kindly submit to the Board of Directors, General Meeting, our shareholders, and all stakeholders for information.

26.06.2018
Murat Bahadır Teker

NUMBER, STRUCTURE AND INDEPENDENCY 
OF THE COMMITTEES FORMED IN THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS 

An Audit Committee, Corporate Governance Committee 
and Early Detection of Risk Committee have been formed 
within the Company in order to ensure that the Board 
of Directors dully fulfills its duties and responsibilities. 

Since a separate nomination and remuneration 
committee has not established due to the structure of 
the Board of Directors, the duties of such committees 
are carried out by the Corporate Governance Committee. 
The Audit Committee consists of two members, while 
the Corporate Governance Committee and the Early 
Detection of Risk Committee consist of three members. 

The Board of Directors provides such coordination and 
supervision necessary to ensure that the Committees 
operate in an efficient and productive manner. The scope 
of tasks, operating principles and the qualifications of 
the members of the Committees are determined by the 
Board of Directors and, disclosed to the public. 

All the members of the Audit Committee, most of the 
members and the chairmen of the Corporate Governance 
Committee and the Early Detection of Risk Committee 
have been elected among the independent members of 
the Board of Directors. The Chief Executive / the General 
Manager doesn’t take part in this Committee.

There has been no adverse consideration of the Board of 
Directors in respect of the operations of the committees 
within the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018. 

All efforts carried out within the committees are 
regularly recorded. After the Ordinary General Meeting 
of Shareholders for 2017 held on 28.03.2018 and, the 
Meetings of the Board of Directors held on 06.04.2018 
and 26.06.2018, the following members are appointed to 
serve for the Committees; As per the resolution adopted 
by the Board of Directors on 26.08.2018, the commitee 
members are as follows;

a) Audit Committee
-   Mustafa Sabri DOĞRUSOY - Chairman
      (Member of the Board of Directors - Independent Member)
-   Murat Bahadır TEKER
    (Member of the Board of Directors - Independent Member)

b) Corporate Governance Committee
-   Mustafa Sabri DOĞRUSOY - Chairman
      (Member of the Board of Directors - Independent Member)
-   Hasan Hüsnü GÜZELÖZ -
     Member of the Board of Directors (Executive)
-   Murat Bahadır TEKER -
       (Member of the Board of Directors- Independent Member)

c) Early Detection of Risk Committee
-   Mustafa Sabri DOĞRUSOY - Chairman
      (Member of the Board of Directors - Independent Member)
-   Murat Bahadır TEKER
     (Member of the Board of Directors - Independent Member)
-   Hasan Hüsnü GÜZELÖZ - 
    Member of the Board of Directors (Executive)

Our company’s website contains some detailed 
information on the activities and operating principles 
for the Audit Committee, the Corporate Governance 
Committee and the Early Detection of Risk Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Committee consists of at least two members elected 
among the independent members of the Board of 
Directors. 

The chairman of the Committee was elected among 
the independent members of the Board of Directors. 
The Chief Executive or the General Manager doesn’t 
take part in this Committee.  

The Committee fulfills the duties as set forth in the Capital 
Market Legislations in this respect.  

The Committee supervises the functionality and 
efficiency of the accounting system, the disclosures of 
the respective financial information, the independent 
audit and the internal control and internal audit system 
of the Company. 

COMMITTEES
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The Committee supervises the functionality and efficiency 
of the accounting system, the disclosures of the respective 
financial information, the independent audit and the 
internal control and internal audit system of the Company. 

The election of the independent audit company, the 
initiation of the independent audit process upon 
the preparation of the respective independent audit 
agreement as well as all the efforts by the independent 
audit company at any stage are carried out under the 
supervision of the Audit Committee. The independent 
audit company from which the Company shall receive 
services and, the services to be received therefrom have 
been identified and, submitted to the Board of Directors 
for approval.

It examines such complaints submitted to the company 
concerning the accounting and internal control system 
and, the independent audit of the company and, adopts 
a resolution accordingly.

It identifies the methods and criteria that are to be 
applied with respect to the assessment of the company’s 
employees concerning the accounting and independent 
audit of the company within the respective confidentiality 
principles.

It submits to the board of directors a written report 
containing its assessments of and the conformity of the 
annual and interim financial statements, which are to be 
disclosed to the public, with the accounting principles 
applied within the Company as well as the accuracy 
thereof, accompanying the opinions from the responsible 
executives and the independent auditors.

The Committee meets four times a year, at least once every 
three months to ensure the efficiency of its operations. 
It writes down and records all the operations it carries 
out. It prepares a report to record the information on its 
operations and the results of its meetings and, presents 
the resolutions it adopts to the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has met seven (7) times in during 
the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018, the minutes of such 
meetings have been recorded and, a report containing 

the results thereof has been submitted to the board of 
directors.

There has been no incident during the period of 
01.01.2018–31.12.2018, which may require the audit 
committee to submit to the board of directors its findings 
or recommendations in connection with its own area 
of duties and responsibilities..

After the meeting no. 2018-07 held on 28.12.2018, the 
Committee submitted the minutes to the Board of 
Directors for information and approval, indicating an 
assessment of the year 2018 for the company and, that the 
procedures have started to establish an internal control 
system for the purpose of supervising the operations 
and efficiency of the internal control and internal audit 
system as per the pertinent requirements as set forth 
under Corporate Governance Communique Serial 
No. II-17.17.1, 4.5.9 issued by the Capital Market Board 
concerning the Corporate Governance Principles, that 
the audit procedures have started accordingly in 2018  
and, that it is planned to complete the said system in 
the first quarter of 2019.

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on February 
12, 2018; It was unanimously resolved as a result of the 
respective efforts of the Audit Committee to approve the 
resolution adopted by the Board of Directors concerning 
the engagement of DRT (Deloitte) Bağımsız Denetim 
ve SMMM A.Ş. in 2018 to enhance the efficiency of the 
internal audit, and improve the respective business 
processes to ensure that the internal audit procedures 
are carried out as per the respective International Internal 
Audit Standards by means of outsourcing, to report the 
same and, provide suggestions concerning the findings 
therefrom, and the same was announced at the Public 
Disclosure Platform (PDP) on 12.02.2018.

The chairman and the member of the Committee have 
been elected among the independent members of the 
board of directors and have the required experience 
with respect to the subjects within its assigned duties.

The Audit Committee has performed an annual 
assessment during the committee meeting no. 2018-

07 held on 28.12.2018 and, submitted the same to the 
Board of Directors for approval.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee identifies whether 
the corporate governance principles are applied within 
the Company, the reasons if not and, the conflicts of 
interest arising from the failure to strictly comply with 
such principles, and provides recommendations to the 
board of directors to improve the applications of such 
corporate governance principles. 

It supervises the efforts of the shareholders relations unit 
within the Capital Market Board’s Legislations.
 
Since a separate nomination and remuneration 
committee has not established due to the structure of 
the Board of Directors, the duties of such committees 
are carried out by the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Committee consists of at least two members elected 
among the members of the Board of Directors. The 
chairman of the Committee is elected among the 
independent members of the Board of Directors. The 
Chief Executive or the General Manager doesn’t take 
part in this Committee. Both of the members - in case 
the committee consists of two members, and all of the 
members - in case it consists of more than members, 
are non-executive members of the Board of Directors. 
The committee meets two times per year or more if 
necessary.

The Corporate Governance Committee identifies whether 
the corporate governance principles are applied within 
the Company, the reasons if not and, the conflicts of 
interest arising from the failure to strictly comply with 
such principles, and provides recommendations to the 
board of directors to improve the applications of such 
corporate governance principles. It plays a leading role 
in delivering an efficient communication between the 
company and the shareholders, settling and solving 
possible conflicts that may arise. It supervises the 
operations of the Investor Relations Department to 
that end.

It supports the preparation of the “Corporate 
Governance Compliance Report”, which is included 
in the annual report and which is to be disclosed to 
the public, and checks if the information contained 
in the annual report with the information it has. 

The Corporate Governance Committee that assumes 
the duties of the Nomination Committee  carefully 
assesses the candidates for independent members 
nominated by the management and shareholders 
to identify if they fulfill the criteria with respect to 
independency as described in the Corporate Governance 
Communique, prepares a report in connection therewith 
and, submits the same to the board of directors for 
approval, and obtains a written statement that the 
candidates for Independent Member of the Board of 
Directors fulfill the independency criteria as set forth 
under the pertinent legislations, the articles of association 
and, the Corporate Governance Communique.

The Corporate Governance Committee that assumes 
the duties of the Remuneration Committee  performs 
and carries out the duties to identify and supervise 
the principles, criteria and practices applied in the 
remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors 
and, the executives with administrative responsibilities 
taking into consideration the long term targets of 
the Company. Further, the Committee has adopted 
a resolution on the duty to identify the suggestions 
of the members of the Board of Directors and senior 
executives in respect of the remuneration principles 
and, submit the same to the Board of Directors and, 
submits its suggestions in a report to the Board of 
Directors for approval.

The Corporate Governance Committee has met five 
(5) times in during the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018, 
the minutes of such meetings have been recorded 
and, a report containing the results thereof has been 
submitted to the board of directors.

The Corporate Governance Committee has performed 
an annual assessment during the committee meeting 
no. 2018-05 held on 28.12.2018 and, submitted the same 
to the Board of Directors for approval.
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EARLY DETECTION OF RISK COMMITTEE

This Committee attempts to detect such risks that 
endanger the existence, development and continuity 
of the company in an earlier stage, ensures that 
actions that are necessary to be taken with respect 
to such risks detected in this manner and, carries out 
activities to manage these risks. The Early Detection of 
Risk Committee is composed of at least two members 
elected by the board of directors of the Company 
among the members thereof. The chairman of the 
Committee is elected by the Board of Directors among 
the Independent Members.

The Chief Executive or the General Manager doesn’t 
take part in this Committee. The Committee operates 
based on the meetings. The committee meets at the 
registered office in such frequency as deemed necessary 
for the efficiency of its operations.

The Committee members are identified each year at 
the first meeting of the Board of Directors held after 
the ordinary General Meeting. In the event a member 
leaves the Committee, a new member is appointed for 
the remaining period of the predecessor.

The committee may invite any executive to participate in 
the meeting and, receive their opinions. The committee 
may benefit the independent experts’ opinions in 
respect of such subjects as may be deemed necessary by 
the committee. The price for such consultancy services 
are paid by the Company.

The Early Detection of Risk Committee reports directly 
to the Board of Directors. All sources and supports 
required for the fulfillment by the committee of its 
duties are provided by the Board of Directors.

It is established for the early detection of the risks 
which may endanger the existence, growth and 
continuity of the Company, the implementation of 
the required actions in connection therewith and, 
the management of such risks as well as the review 
of the risk management systems of the Company at 
least once a year and, prepare a report in connection 
therewith.

The main objectives of the committee:

a. Identifies and prepares the risk management 
strategies and policies to be applied by the 
Company, submits the same to the board 
of directors for approval and, monitors the 
implementations thereof,

b. Provides recommendations to the board of 
directors for the identification of the basic risk 
limits to the Company and, checks the conformity 
with such limits,

c. Performs inspections for the identification, 
definition, assessment and management of the 
risks and, makes notifications as may be required 
in connection therewith,

d. Monitors the processes to ensure the accuracy 
and reliability of the risk measurements, methods 
and results,

The Early Detection of Risk Committee has met 7 
(seven) times between 01.01.2018-31.12.2018 in line 
with the respective principles for its duties and tasks 
and, the results of this meetings were kept at the 
respective minutes and submitted to the board of 
directors.

At the committee meeting no. 2018-07 of 29.12.2018, 
the Early Detection of Risk Committee has assessed in a 
general manner the financial structure of the Company 
and the risks pertaining thereto in 2018 and, submitted 
the same to the Board of Directors for information and 
approval.

INVESTORS RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

“The Stakeholders Relations Unit” established to 
deliver the communication between the company 
and investors based on the resolution no. 260 
adopted by the Board of Directors on 12.03.2009 was 
abolished and, “The Investors Relations Department” 
was established based on the resolution no. 2014/387 
adopted by the Board of Directors on June 25, 2014 
as per the pertinent requirements as set forth under 
article 111 of the Corporate Governance Communique 
(II-17.1) published on the Official Journal, issue no. 
28871, on 03.01.2014. As per the pertinent article of 
the communique, this department directly reports 
to the general manager and, is supervised by the 
Corporate Governance Committee. 

The department manager of the Investors Relations 
Department is Hasan Hüsnü GÜZELÖZ and, the 
department officer is Nazlı YILMAZ. Hasan Hüsnü 
GÜZELÖZ, the manager of the Investors Relations 
Department, and Nazlı YILMAZ, an officer in the same 
department, have the licenses for the Capital Market 
Activities, Level 3 and, the Corporate Governance 
Ratings and, is a full-time employee of the Company 
as an executive. 

The purpose of the Investors Relations Department 
that will directly report to the General Manager is 
to inform all the stakeholders as per the pertinent 
legislations and, share the respective information with 
the public.

The main duties and tasks of the Investors 
Relations Department of our Company are to:

• Ensures that the records in respect of the 
correspondences between the investors and 
the company as well as other information and 
documents are kept in a robust, safe and updated 
manner,

• Responds to the requests for information in 
writing by the shareholders in connection with 
the company,

• Prepares the documents that need to be submitted 
to the shareholders for review and examination in 
connection with a General Meeting of Shareholders 
and, takes necessary precautions to ensure that 
the General Meeting of Shareholders is held in 
accordance with the pertinent legislations, the 
articles of association and other respective internal 
arrangements,

• Observes and monitors the fulfillment of the 
obligations arising from the capital market 
legislations including all aspects in connection 
with the corporate governance and the public 
disclosures,

• Performs and carries out all types of tasks and duties 
in connection with the shareholders pursuant to 
the pertinent provisions of the Capital Market 
legislations and communiques in respect thereof 
as well as other laws and regulations on which the 
respective business operations are based,

• Fulfills and carries out all types of procedures and 
transactions in accordance with the Communique 
on the Public Disclosure Platform (VII-128.6) 
published on the Official Journal no. 28864 of 
27.12.2013,

• Ensures that the necessary disclosures are made on 
the Public Disclosure Platform, the Central Registry 
Agency and the Corporate Website in due time 
pursuant to the pertinent legislations,

• Ensures that the Corporate Governance Committee 
performs and carries out its duties and tasks 
pursuant to the pertinent requirements of the 
Corporate Governance Communique (II-17.1) Annex 
1, Article 4.5.10,

• Prepares and submits to the board of directors a 
report in connection with the activities it carries 
out at least once a year,

• Ensures that the annual and periodic activity 
reports are prepared and shared with the public 
in accordance with the pertinent regulations,

Ensures that the records in respect of the correspondences 
between the investors and the company as well as other 
information and documents are kept in a robust, safe 
and updated manner, and acts as a bridge between the 



30 31

DOĞUŞ REIT 2018 ANNUAL REPROT DOĞUŞ REIT 2018 ANNUAL REPORTManagement and Assessments Management and Assessments

shareholders on one side and the senior management 
and the board of directors on the other side to provide 
a smooth flow of information, 

Prepares the documents that need to be submitted 
to the shareholders for review and examination in 
connection with a General Meeting of Shareholders and, 
takes necessary precautions to ensure that the General 
Meeting of Shareholders is held in accordance with the 
pertinent legislations, the articles of association and other 
respective internal arrangements,

Observes and monitors the fulfillment of the obligations 
arising from the capital market legislations including all 
aspects in connection with the corporate governance 
and the public disclosures.

The Corporate Governance Committee precisely performs 
the duty to supervise the efforts of the Investors Relations 
Department pursuant to the Corporate Governance 
Communique (II-17.1) Annex 1, Article 4.5.10.

As per the Corporate Governance Communique (II-17.1) 
published on the Official Journal, issue no. 28871 on 
03.01.2014, the Board of Directors was given the Investors 
Relations 2018 Reports, which were approved by the 
resolutions no. 2018/37 and 2018/41 adopted by the Board 
of Directors on 13.12.2018 and 31.12.2018 respectively.

Out of 74 applications in total made by the shareholders 
to the investors relations department through phone, 
electronic mail or internet within the period of 01.01.2018- 
31.12.2018, all has been responded and, the web site has 
been regularly updated so that the investors have been 
able to follow the updated information.

The names, surnames and contact information of 
the executive and the person that reports to the 
executive for the Investors Relations Department were 
announced at the Public Disclosure Platform with a 
special case disclosure on 25.06.2014. 

The names, surnames, positions, contact information 
and licenses of the executive and personnel of the 
Investors Relations Department are described on our 

company’s page General Information at the Public 
Disclosure Platform and, there has been no change 
within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018.

The updated version of the “Communique on the 
Procedures and Principles Concerning the PDP 
Membership and Notifications Sent to the PDP” 
delivered to the respective companies by the Central 
Registry Agency and, announced on the section 
Legislations and Notifications at the Public Disclosure 
Platform on 26.07.2016 was carefully examined 
and acted accordingly by the Investors Relations 
Department.

Information on Transactions Carried Out by 
the Members of the Board of Directors with the 
Company or on behalf of Others as per the Permit 
Granted by the General Meeting and, Their Activities 
under the Non-Competition:

At the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 
held on 28.03.2018, it has been resolved by majority 
of votes to approve that pursuant to the pertinent 
provisions of article 1.3.6 of the Corporate Governance 
Communique (II-17.1) issued by the Capital Market 
Board and, of articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code,  the shareholders with the power of 
management, the members of the board of directors, 
the executives with administrative responsibilities as 
well as their relatives by blood and marriage may 
perform and carry out any significant business, which 
could cause any conflict of interest with the company 
or its affiliates, engage in any commercial business 
within the scope of the business operations of the 
company or its affiliates on their own behalf or on 
behalf of others, and may be a general partner of a 
partnership engaging in the similar types of business 
operations as the company at the Ordinary General 
Meeting of Shareholders held on 28.03.2018 as a result 
of the respective deliberations thereon.

There has been no such transaction carried out by 
the members of the Board of Directors and the 
senior executives of the Company within the period 
of 01.01.2018 – 31.12.2018. 

Real Estate
Industry
in 2018

32   Development and Operations of REIT Companies
34   Construction Industry
35   Retail Industry
37   Office Industry
38   Hotel Industry
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DEVELOPMENT OF REIT COMPANIES

A Real Estate Investment Trust (“REITs”) is a capital 
market formation organized to make investments on 
real estate and real estate-based rights. This formation 
of a REIT is dated back 45 years ago and, the number 
of them operating in 35 countries is now more than 
300. The country, where REITs are most common, is 
the USA.

The formation of a REIT started to operate in our 
country in 1995 after the respective legal arrangements 
have been completed by the Capital Market Board 
(“CMB”) and, started to be traded at the exchange 
in 1997.

The respective procedures and principles concerning 
REITs are set forth under the “Communique Serial 
No. III-48.1 on Real Estate Investment Trusts” issued 
by the CMB.

MARKET VALUE OF REITS 

While there were 30 public REIT’s in 2017, the total 
number of REIT’s has reached 33 as of the end of 2018.  

The Market Value of the REIT’s has increased up to 
TL 26.9 billion as of the quarter 4 in 2017. The value 
in USD has reached up to USD 7.12 billion, which is 
slightly higher than that in the same quarter of the 
last year. The Market Value of the REIT’s has become 
TL 20.3 billion as of the quarter 3 in 2018.

REIT EXPECTATION AND CONFIDENCE INDEX

It was observed that the Expectation Index and 
the Confidence Index were declined to 103.3 and 
65.1 respectively as of the end of 2017, this decline 
in the Expectation Index and the Confidence Index 
continued in 2018. 

For 2018, the Expectation Index was declined by 11% 
to 91.5 and, the Confidence Index was declined by 
23% to 50.2.

DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS 
OF REIT COMPANIES

Q1’15 Q2’15 Q3’15 Q4’15 Q1’16 Q2’16 Q3’16 Q4’16 Q1’17 Q2’17 Q3’17 Q4’17 Q1’18 Q2’18 Q3’18

Number 
of REITs

31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 33 33 33

Million 
TL

23.073 22.326 20.515 21.279 23.531 23.704 24.446 24.962 25.096 26.077 25.818 26.924 26.512 22.729 20.304

Million 
USD

8.813 8.393 7.025 7.279 8.315 8.202 8.133 7.080 6.889 7.402 7.255 7.125 6.702 4.975 3.383

MARKET VALUE OF REIT’S

CMB
Exchange rate of USD is based on the rate in force on the first foreign 
exchange transaction date of the following quarter. Data for Q4 was 
published as of January 24, 2019 in the report issued by the CMB. Only 
Q3 2018 was published.

REIT INDEX

An analysis carried out on the Istanbul Stock Exchange 
(BIST) reveals that the REIT Index closed in 2017 at 
115,333 points and, it entered at 117,524 points as of 
the first quarter of 2018. As of the end of the quarter 
4 of 2018, it has declined by quarters and, completed 
in the year at 94,974 points.  

Sources; 
GYODER 2017& 2018 Quarter Reports

BIST100 Closing (TL)

XGMYO Closing (TL)
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CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY 

Construction was the driving force of the growth in 
2017. The Turkish Economy grew by 7.4 percent in 
2017, while the construction sector grew by 9 percent 
in the same period.

A growth of 7.4% in the Turkish Economy was observed 
as of the end of 2017. In 2017, the Turkish Economy 
provided a good level of performance in respect of 
growth rate, in particular, in the two quarters of the 
year and, this growth rate was 7.4% in the first quarter 
and, 5.3% in the second quarter. We have observed 
that the growth in the construction industry is slightly 
below the general economic growth in the first two 
quarters of the year, but stays in the same parallel 
acceleration. The Construction Sector grew by 8% as 
a result of the impact of the incentives granted in the 
first quarter of 2018 and, the growth rate reduced to 
1.5% within the second quarter in parallel with the 
economic growth.

SLOWDOWN IN THE CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY 
HAS A NEGATIVE IMPACT ON EMPLOYMENT

The construction industry, one of the significant leading 
sectors concerning the basic economic indicators, was 
affected by this slowdown due to connected sectoral 
impacts and, the growth in the construction industry 
was quickly declined to 0.12% and, almost came to 
a stopping point. This sector with a big potential is 
considered to be a “leading sector” since it triggers 
more than 250 sub-sectors and, it has a significant 
factor in respect of employment since it has a great 
source of employment. It is the service sector that 
employed the largest number of people between 
2005 and 2017, followed by the construction, industry 
and agriculture sectors. However, the economic 
slowdown experienced as of the third sector in 2018 
has affected in particular the construction industry, 
which had an indirect negative impact on the increase 
of unemployment.

THE SECTOR RECESSED BY -8.7% IN THE LAST 
QUARTER OF 2018

In the third quarter of 2018, an economic slowdown 
was observed especially in the leading indicators of 
the economic growth such as industry, production, 
unemployment and other significant factors. Therefore, 
the slowdown experienced in the third quarter took 
effect resulting a growth rate of 1.8% and, a significant 
volume of constriction took place, particularly in the last 
quarter and, the general economic indications shown 
a recession of -3% at the end of the year resulting in 
a growth of 2.6% in the Turkish Economy at the end 
of 2018. And the growth in the construction, one of 
the sectors that are most sensitive to the economic 
fluctuations have become reversed in the third quarter 
of 2018 and, the sector constricted by -5.6%. The 
construction sector, one of the most important sectors 
of our company due to the added value it creates, 
constricted by -8.7% in the last quarter of 2018, and it 
has become of the factors that limit the growth. The 
construction sector contributed about 0.64 points to 
the economic constriction in the last quarter and, it 
constricted by -1.9% on an annual basis.

The constriction experienced in the Construction 
Sector since 2015 is as follows.

References:
GYODER 2018 Quarter Reports
Construction Economy Bulletins

CMB
Exchange rate of USD is based on the rate in force on the first foreign 
exchange transaction date of the following quarter. Data for Q4 was 
published as of January 24, 2019 in the report issued by the CMB. Only 
Q3 2018 was published.

NUMBER OF SHOPPING CENTERS REACHED
TO 455

We have observed that throughout the country, the 
number of shopping centers had reached 429 as of 
the end of 2017 and, 455 as of the end of 2018.  

INVENTORY OF RENTABLE AREA INCREASES

The inventory of rentable area that was total 12 million 
611 thousand m2 as of the end of 2017 has reached 13 
million 461 thousand m2 as of the end of 2018. 

Istanbul accounts for about 39% of the total inventory 
of rentable areas. As of the end of 2018, the rentable 
area per 1,000 people throughout Turkey has reached 
167 m2. As of the end of 2017, the rentable area per 
1,000 people throughout Turkey was 158 m2. 
 

NUMBER OF SHOPPING CENTERS AND
TOTAL RENTABLE AREA*

MOST OF SHOPPING MALLS IS LOCATED
IN ISTANBUL

The cities where the most shopping malls are located 
are Istanbul with 147 units, Ankara with 39 units and, 
İzmir with 28 units. As of the end of 2018, there are 64 
cities where shopping malls are located and, 17 cities 
have no shopping malls throughout Turkey.

TURNOVER INDEX INCREASES

The turnover index was 239 in December, 2017 and, 
increased to 293 compared to that in the same period 
of the last year as of the end of 2018 in an amount of 
net of inflation. 

After the fluctuations in the exchange rates in August 
2018, as per the Presidency Order on Protection of 
the Value of Turkish Currency, the lease contracts 
converted from forein exchange to Turkish Lira.

VISITOR INDEX INCREASES

The Visitor Index was declared to be 109 based on 
the data in December 2017 and, increased to 111 as 
of the end of 2018. 

RETAIL INDUSTRY

Source: Eva Gayrimenkul Değerleme
*The rentable area per 1,000 people as of January 2019
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Sources;
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Future Supplies
(in construction, Thousand m2)

Office Inventory with Green Building Certificate 
(Thousand m2)

OFFICE INDUSTRY

TOTAL DEMAND INCREASED TO 
6.18 MILLION M2

Compared to the last quarter of 2017 with the last 
quarter of 2017, a new office area of about 331,616 
m2 in total has been completed and put into market 
in the fourth quarter of 2017 and the total demand 
increased to 5.79 million m2 as of the year-end, and 
a new office area of about 92,750 m2 in Istanbul has 
been completed and put into market in the fourth 
quarter of 2018 and the total demand increased by 
376,631 m2 to 6.18 million m2 as of the year.

TOTAL RENTAL DECLINES 

Based on the total rental transactions, the total 
rented areas was 300,651 m2 as of the end of 2017 
and, although the total rental transactions in 2018 
matched with the total demand, but slightly declined 
to 279.127 m2 in comparison.   

As a comparison between the vacant areas in the total 
offices, the total vacant areas was 24.68% as of the last 
quarter of 2018, and the total vacant areas was 24.3% 
in the last quarter of 2017. 

ATAŞEHİR IN THE ASIAN SIDE AND, LEVENT 
IN THE CENTRAL BUSINESS AREA (CBA) 
PREFERRED FOR RENTAL

Considering the rental agreements based on m2 for 
2017, we observe that the Anatolian Side accounts for 
most of the agreements. Based on the last quarter of 
2018; MIA [Levent, Etiler, Maslak, Zincirlikuyu-Esentepe-
Gayrettepe, Beşiktaş-Balmumcu]: Stock share of MIA 
is 34% Non-MIA-Europe [Taksim-Nişantaşı, Şişli-
Fulya-Otim, Airport]: Stock share of Non-MIA–Europe 
is 18%. Non-MIA-Asia [Kozyatağı, Altunizade, Kavacık, 
Ümraniye]: Stock share of Non MIA-Asia is 25%. 

Developing Office Regions [Kağıthane, Bomonti-
Piyalepaşa, Maltepe-Kartal, Batı Ataşehir]: No increase 
in the office stock was observed in the Developing 
Office Regions; it was recorded as 23%.

Q4’17 Q3’18 Q4’18
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HOTEL INDUSTRY

NUMBER OF FOREIGN TOURISTS IS EXPECTED 
TO REACH 38 MILLION  

Considering the first 11 months of 2018 in Turkey, 
one of the most important 10 tourism destinations 
in the world, according to the data from the Ministry 
of Tourism, the number of tourists visiting Turkey is 
37.5 million and, it is aimed to exceed 38 million as 
of the year-end. In the first 11 months of 2017, the 
total number of foreign tourists was 30.7 million and, 
compared to that in 2018, it seems that there is a 
significant increase in this number by 22%.  

It is predicted that the direct contribution of the 
tourism sector to the gross national product of Turkey 
is about USD 26.1 billion in 2017, the positive trend in 
the tourism sector of our country in 2017 is getting 
increased due to the affect in the increase in the 
investments in the transportation infrastructure, hotel 
and airport constructions and, the direct contribution 
of the tourism sector to the gross national product 
of Turkey will be about USD 36.3 billion in 2018, and 
the tourism incomes will increase by 11.3% compared 
to the last year.

In the first 11 months of 2018, out of the foreign tourists 
visiting Turkey, 32.8% came for Istanbul, 32.5% for 
Antalya and, 7.2% for Muğla. These important tourism 
destinations were followed by Ankara and İzmir.

NUMBER OF FACILITIES IS ABOUT 5,000  

The average room price of the hotels in our country is 
Euro 67.60, while the average in Istanbul is Euro 76.89.

Considering the data from the Turkish Ministry of 
Culture and Tourism, as of the end of 2018, there 
are 3,905 accommodation facilities with a capacity 
of 463,763 rooms in total and, 981 accommodation 
facilities with a capacity of 103,823 rooms with 
investment certificates. Out of the accommodation 
facilities with investment certificates, Istanbul takes the 

first place with 170 facilities and rooms of 14.357 m2.
And this is followed by Muğla with 102 facilities with a 
capacity of 11,255 rooms and, Antalya with 93 facilities 
with a capacity of 19,852 rooms.  

Considering the hotel occupancy rates in the first 11 
months of 2018, it is observed that this rate is 66.7% 
in total. Within the same period, the occupancy rate 
in Istanbul is 71.5%. In 2017, the average room price 
of the hotels in our country is Euro 67.60, while the 
average in Istanbul is Euro 76.89. 

As of 2018, the average room price throughout Turkey, 
it is observed that the average price is about Euro 
70.89, but it is about Euro 82.80 in Istanbul according 
to the figures in 2018.

2018*

2017

2016

2015

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018**

12,20

9,40

5,90

3,08 1,20
0,80

12,40
6,72

11,30

1,60
0,67

0,33

9,20 7,60

10,70

2,70

1,98 0,76
9,06

0,50

12,30

0,92
0,54

8,84

TOTAL 37,50

TOTAL 32,40

TURKEY 25,30

TURKEY 35,50

TOURISM AND HOTEL PERFORMANCE
Total Number of Foreign National Visitors (Million)

Source: STR Global
*2018, 11 months data.
** 2018 Jan-Nov data.

Turkey-Istanbul Yearly ADR (Euro)

Antalya İzmirMuğla Ankara*İstanbul Other

130,02
120,85

90,51
77,95 76,33

82,80
70,8966,81

105,42105,33
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DOĞUŞ REIT REAL ESTATE 
INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 2018 (TL)

The Company’s portfolio consists of the folllowing real 
estate properties Doğuş Center Maslak, D-Office Maslak, 
Doğuş Center Etiler – Office Building, Doğuş CenterEtiler 
– Gym (D-GYM), Gebze Center – Shopping Center, Gebze 
Center – Hotel (Hyatt House Gebze), Gebze Center – 
Automotive Showroom and Service (Doğuş Automotive 
Gebze) 

Gebze Center 
Automotive Showroom and Service
(Doğuş Automotive Gebze)

Doğuş Center Etiler
Sport Center (D-Gym)

Doğuş Center Etiler
Office Building

Doğuş Center Maslak

Gebze Center
Shopping Center

Gebze Center
Hotel (Hyatt House Gebze)

D-Ofis Maslak

551,105,000
Gebze Center

Shopping Center

43,525,000
Gebze Center

Hotel (Hyatt House Gebze)

23,155,000
Gebze Center

Automotive Showroom
and Service

(Doğuş Automotive Gebze)

1,771.905,000
Total

525,693,000
D-Ofis Maslak

388,762,000
Doğuş Center Maslak

176,758,000
Doğuş Center Etiler
Off ice Building

62,907,000
Doğuş Center Etiler
Sport Center (D-Gym)
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DOĞUŞ CENTER MASLAK

Appraisal Value

TL 388,762,000
Construction Area 

63,202 m2

Rentable Area

47,398 m2

Opening Date

2006 

Doğuş Center Maslak serves with the showrooms and 
services areas of the Doğuş Automotive Group, as well 
as the studio and offices of the Doğuş Publication 
Group and, the food court area.

It is situated in Maslak, a significant location considered 
to be at the heart of the business and finance center 
of Istanbul, where there are many business centers. 
The total area of the center is 63,202 m2, of which 
there is a rentable area of 47,398 m2.

The construction of the project was completed in 
November 2006, and the Doğuş Center Maslak was 
opened for service.

The value of the building with a share of 21.94% 
in the total investment real estate portfolio of the 
company is - TL 388,762,000 according to the appraisal 
report issued by Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve 
Değerleme A.Ş. on December 28, 2018.  
  

Doğuş Center Maslak offers services with a concept 
of office and living spaces in an area with a high 
commercial potential due to the advantages from 
its location in the center of Maslak, European Side of 
Istanbul and, its proximity to the metro…

SELECT BRANDS OF THE 
DOĞUŞ GROUP IN MASLAK, A 
SIGNIFICANT BUSINESS AND 
FINANCE AREA OF ISTANBUL…
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D – OFIS MASLAK

Appraisal Value

TL 525,693,000
Construction Area 

40,437 m2

Rentable Area

4,725 m2

Opening Date

2018

Located in Maslak, Sarıyer, European Side of Istanbul, 
D-Ofis Maslak is in Büyükdere Boulevard, a central 
business area of the city, where there are many other 
office buildings. 

Located in Maslak, D-Ofis is a valuable office building 
since it is in a prestigious location, where there are 
offices, the most important shopping centers of the 
city, and luxury houses and residence buildings.    

Completed in 2018, D-Ofis Maslak is constructed in 
a land of 4,725 m2 . Total utilizable area is 40.437 m2. 
as office building. D-Ofis Maslak is composed of 8 
Basements + Ground Floors + Mezzanines + 20 Normal 
Floors + Roof and Heliport.

The value of the building with a share of 29.67% 
in the total investment real estate portfolio of the 
company is - TL 525,693,000 according to the appraisal 
report issued by Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve 
Değerleme A.Ş. on 25.12.2018.     

D-Ofis Maslak serves with a concept of privileged and 
smart office building at the center of business and 
financial center in Maslak, European Side of Istanbul… 

AN OFFICE BUILDING AT 
HIGH STANDARDS IN THE 
FINANCIAL CENTER OF 
ISTANBUL…
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DOĞUŞ CENTER ETILER
– OFFICE BUILDING 

Appraisal Value

TL 176,758,000
Rentable Area

9,827 m2

Independent Sections 

45
Opening Date

2002

Doğuş Center Etiler is an office building located in Etiler, 
Beşiktaş, Istanbul, operating in an easily accessible 
central location, within a peaceful environment.

Doğuş Center Etiler is a center offering privileged 
office unites and different working environment in a 
great combination, in respect of its usage efficiency, 
architectural features, location and size. 

The total land area of the Doğuş Center Etiler is 
36,440.80 m2, and the total rentable area of 45 
detached sections owned by the company is 9,827 m2’. 

The value of the building with a share of 9.98% 
in the total investment real estate portfolio of the 
company is - TL 176,758,000 according to the appraisal 
report issued by Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve 
Değerleme A.Ş. on December 28, 2018.   

Doğuş Center Etiler-Office serves with its high 
standard office areas in Etiler, one of the most 
valuable locations in the European Side of Istanbul…

AN OFFICE CENTER 
DIFFERENTIATED WITH ITS 
LOCATION AND THE PRIVILEGES 
IT OFFERS…
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DOĞUŞ CENTER ETILER
– SPORTS CENTER  

Appraisal Value

TL 62,907,000
Rentable Area

6,745 m2

Independent Sections 

2
Opening Date

2002

It is located in an area called “Maya Residence” within 
the borders of Bebek Quarter in Etiler, Beşiktaş in the 
European Side of Istanbul.  

Located in Bebek and, closed to the Central Business 
Areas in Istanbul, this real estate is in a prestigious 
location where there are important shopping centers 
and, settlement areas where people from high-income 
group are living.  

The independent sections no. 16 and 17 completed 
in 2002 and located in Doğuş Center Etiler Complex 
consist of a rentable area of 6,745 m2 in total, where 
D-Gym Sport Center is operated. 

The value of the building with a share of 3.55% in the 
total investment real estate portfolio of the company 
is - TL 62,907,000 according to the appraisal report 
issued by Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme 
A.Ş. on 25.12.2018.   
 

Doğuş Center Etiler-Gym Center is a prestigious gym 
center with its comfortable and healthy living spaces 
in Bebek, Etiler, one of the most valuable locations in 
the European Side of Istanbul... 

A HEALTHY AND COMFORTABLE 
LIFE CENTER…
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GEBZE CENTER –
SHOPPING CENTER  

Appraisal Value

TL 551,105,000
Construction Area

152,385 m2

Rentable Area

66,072.72 m2 
Opening Date

2010

Considering the accessibility to the city center, the 
shopping center has become the only attraction and 
social/entertainment center in the region. 

Consisting of a rentable area of 66,072.72 m2, about 
130 stores, cinema theaters, bowling, gym and kid 
entertainment areas, the Gebze Center came into 
operation on September 3, 2010 with an investment 
budget of USD 180 million and, accommodates more 
than 9 million visitors in a year.

The building with a share of 31.10% in the total 
investment real estate portfolio of the company is - TL 
551,105,000 according to the appraisal report issued 
by TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. on December 
22, 2018.

The first and only shopping in Gebze, where the 
number of significant offices and operations centers 
has increased in recent years, is located in Gebze-
Kocaeli…

THE MEETING POINT OF 
GEBZE…
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GEBZE CENTER – HOTEL

Appraisal Value

TL 43,525,000
Construction Area

21,983.12 m2

Number of Rooms

158
Opening Date

2017

Hyatt House Gebze has become the new ring of the 
chain of Hyatt Hotel, starting to operate with 158 rooms 
as of November 1, 2017. Hyatt House Gebze, the first 
concept of the brand Hyatt House in Turkey provides 
such details that make the guests accommodating 
for a long time feel that they live all together with 
their neighbors in a peaceful environment.

As the number one in the region in respect of in 
particular the health tourism, Hyatt House Gebze 
offers services to local and foreign guests visiting to 
Istanbul, Gebze and İzmit, to make them feel that 
they are home.  

Consisting of 3 basements, 1 mezzanine and a 13-level 
hotel building started to be constructed in May 2015, 
in a land of 21,983.12 m2, Hyatt House Gebze opened 
its doors on November 1, 2017 in line with the global 
standards and concept of the brand Hyatt. Hyatt House 
Gebze consisting of 158 rooms in total provides services 
of swimming pool, business center, lounge and food 
& beverage.

The value of the building with a share of 2.46% in the 
total investment real estate portfolio of the company 
is - TL 43,525,000 according to the appraisal report 
issued by TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. on 
December 28, 2018.

Hyatt House Gebze operates in Gebze, Kocaeli as the first 
hotel in Turkey of Hyatt House to have the home concept…

OUR FIRST TOURISM 
INVESTMENT HAS ENTERED 
INTO SERVICE…
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GEBZE CENTER – AUTOMOTIVE 
SHOWROOM AND SERVICE 

Appraisal Value

TL 23,155,000
Rentable Area

12,212.21 m2

Construction Date

2015
Opening Date

2017

Offering sales and authorized services for Volkswagen 
Passenger Vehicles and Volkswagen Commercial 
Vehicles under the roof of Doğuş Automotive, Doğuş 
Auto opened its dealer in Gebze in 2018. Doğuş Auto 
Gebze also hosts DOD that offers second-hand services.
Doğuş Auto Gebze offers services in an enclosed area 
of 12,212.21 m2 consisting of a showroom of 1,400 m2 

and an authorized service of 5,300 m2.

The value of the building with a share of 1.31% in the 
total investment real estate portfolio of the company is 
TL 23,155,000 according to the appraisal report issued 
by TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. on December 
28, 2018.

Doğuş Auto Gebze continues to expand its network 
of dealers in Gebze, Kocaeli offering Volkswagen and 
DOD, important brands of Doğuş Auto…

WITH ITS DIGITAL SHOWROOMS, 
IT OFFERS PRESTIGIOUS 
AUTOMOTIVE SALES AND AF TER-
SALES SERVICES…
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APPRAISAL REPORTS IN SUMMARY

APPRAISED PROPERTY DOĞUŞ CENTER MASLAK

Prepared by EPOS Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme A.Ş.

Report Date 28.12.2018/DGYO 2018-00004

Title Deed Details
Province of Istanbul, District of Sarıyer, İ.Ayazağa Mah., sheet no. 2,
block no. 1, parcel no. 131

Final Value TL 388.762.000

Insurance Value EUR 44.073.071

APPRAISED PROPERTY DOĞUŞ CENTER ETİLER-47 INDEPENDENT SECTIONS

Prepared by EPOS Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme A.Ş.

Report Date
28.12.2018/DGYO 2018-00003-25 December 2018/DGYO 2018-0002
(16-17 B.B.)

Title Deed Details
Province of Istanbul, District of Beşiktaş, Bebek Mah., sheet no. 66 , block no. 
593 , parcel no. 53 with 47 independent sections.

Final Value TL 239.665.000

Insurance Value EUR 39.383.816

APPRAISED PROPERTY GEBZE CENTER AVM – HOTEL - AUTOMOTIVE SHOWROOM AND SERVICE

Prepared by TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş.

Report Date 28.12.2018/2018 REV 942

Title Deed Details
Province of Kocaeli, district of Gebze, Sultanorhan Mah., sheet no. 
C22B24C2A, block no:56, parcel no. 2 and 4

Final Value for the Shopping Mall TL 551.105.000

Final Value for the Hotel TL 43.525.000

Final Value for the Showroom TL 23.155.000

Insurance Value EUR 171.773.578 EURO (Including the Otel and Showroom-Service Area)

APPRAISED PROPERTY D-OFFICE MASLAK

Prepared by EPOS Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme A.Ş.

Report Date 25.12.2018/DGYO 2018-0002

Title Deed Details
Province of Istanbul, district of Sarıyer İ.Ayazağa Mah. sheet no. 2 percel no. 
10 with 21 independent sections

Final Value TL 525.693.000

Insurance Value EUR 26.065.500

INFORMATION ON RENTED 
ASSETS 

MONEY AND CAPITAL 
MARKET INSTRUMENTS

REAL ASSETS DECEMBER 2018 MONTHLY RENTAL INCOME -TL NOTE

Gebze Center Shopping Center 4,128,694

Monthly rental income of Gebze Center 

Shopping Mall has taken place according to 

the occupancy rate of 89.15%.

Gebze Center Hotel 367,400

Monthly rental income of Gebze Center Hotel 

has taken place according to the occupancy 

rate of 100%.

Gebze Center Auto Showroom 217,372

Monthly rental income of Gebze Center Auto 

Showroom has taken place according to the 

occupancy rate of 100%.

Doğuş Center Maslak 2,951,235

Monthly rental income of Doğuş Center Maslak 

has taken place according to the occupancy 

rate of 95.98%.

Doğuş Center Etiler 1,576,137

Monthly rental income of Doğuş Center Etiler 

has taken place according to the occupancy 

rate of 97.71%.

(THOUSAND TL) 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Foreign Currency Assets (TL Equivalent) 47 2.93% 5,311 59.05%

Foreign Currency Time Deposit 0 0.00% 4,966 55.21%

Foreign Currency Demand Deposit 47 2.93% 345 3.84%

TL Assets 1,568 97.07% 3,683 40.95%

TL Time Deposit 1,219 75.42% 3,671 40.82%

TL Demand Deposit and Bank 349 21.65  12 0.0013%

Grand Total 1,616 100% 8,994 100%

The real estates included in the portfolio were not 
rented for a price below the values determined by 
the Real Estate Appraisal Companies.

Below is the data of the rental income of one 
month asof 31.12.2018
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TOTAL ASSETS

PORTFOLIO DISTRIBUTION (TL)

NET PROFIT

INFORMATION ON THE 
COMPANY’S SHARE 
PERFORMANCE

The asset size reached in 2018 is 1,836 million TL.

The net profit obtained by the Company in 2018 is 
TL 3,93 million.

The closing price of each of the DGGYO shares as of 
31.12.2018 is TL 2.11 and, the market value is
TL 700,536,428. 

Total Assets (Million TL)

Net Profit (Million TL)

2003 2004 2005

2005

2006

2006

2007

2007

2008 

2008 

2009 

2009 

2010

2010

2011

2011

2012

2012

2013

2013

2014

2014

2015

2015

2016

2016

2017

2017

2018

2018

49.4
92.5

139.9 171.6 166.6
201.9 177.1 176.4 189.3

226.9

720.3
756.6

829.3

1,041.9

1,165

1,836

REAL ASSETS

Money and Capital Market Instruments 0.08% 1,617,554

D-Office Maslak 28.63% 525,693,000

Doğuş Center Maslak 21.18% 388,762,000

Doğuş Center Etiler (47 Independent Sections) 13.05% 239,665,000

Gebze Center Shopping Center and Land 30.02% 551,105,000

Gebze Center Hotel 2.38% 43,525,000

Gebze Center Automotive & Showroom and 
Service 

1.26% 23,155,000

Other Assets 3.40% 62,347,943

TOTAL 100.00% 1,835,870,497
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS ANALYSIS AND 
ASSESSMENT ON FINANCIAL POSITION AND 
OPERATING RESULTS, REALIZATION DEGREE OF 
PLANNED OPERATIONS, COMPANY POSITION 
AGAINST THE STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The Company’s net profit was TL 3,933,529 in the period 
OF 01.01.2018 – 31.12.2018 (31.12.2017: TL 54,065,513).

The Company’s portfolio is managed as to keep the 
risk minimal.

INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL POSITION, 
PROFITABILITY, AND SOLVENCY

Financial statements are prepared as per the Capital 
Markets Board Communiqué (II-14.1) on “Principles 
Regarding Financial Reporting in Capital Markets,” 
entered into force by being published on the Official 
Gazette No. 28676 dated June 13, 2013. 

According to the financial statements dated 31.12.2018, 
the Company’s total assets were - TL 1,835,870,497. 
(31.12.2017: TL 1,165,054,708) Shareholder’s equity 
accounted for 48.18% of the total assets. 

Sales income was - TL 98,555,386 from 01.01.2018 to 
31.12.2018. (31.12.2017: TL 73,916,621) Total sales revenue 
does not include foreign sales.

The Company had a credit debt of Euro 129,335,889 
and USD 24,513,403 principal and proceeds as of 
31.12.2018. 

The Company’s primary financial statements are 
provided for comparison below;

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET (THOUSAND TL) 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Total Assets 1,835,870 1,165,055

Equity 884,455 880,586

Total Foreign Assets 951,416 284,469

Total Foreign Assets / Total Assets 51.82% 24.42%

Total Financial Liabilities 908,599 269,439

Total Financial Liabilities / Total Assets 49.49% 23.13%

CONDENSED INCOME STATEMENT (THOUSAND TL) 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Revenue 98,555 73,917

Cost of Sales (15,623) (11,046)

Gross Profit 82,932 62,870

Operating Profit 116,328 100,188

Total Comprehensive Income 3,869 53,994

Gross Profit / Sales (%) 91.25% 85.05%

140 Şirket Genel Bilgileri
140 Olağan Genel Kurul Gündemi
140 Kâr Dağıtım Politikası
140 Kâr Dağıtım Tablosu
140 2017 Yılı Bağlılık Raporu ve Diğer Hususlar
140 Risk Yönetimi ve İç Kontrol Mekanizması
140 Kurumsal Yönetim İlkelerine Uyum Raporu
140 Taraf Olunan Davalar
140 Denetim, Danışmanlık ve Ekspertiz Hizmeti Alınan 
Firmalar
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FINANCIAL BENEFITS FOR THE BOARD 
MEMBERS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Attendance Fees, Remunerations, Bonuses and 
Dividends

The senior management staff of the Company consists 
of the members of the Board of Directors, the general 
manager and the assistant general managers. The 
amount of the benefits provides is composed of 
the wages, bonuses, SGK employers contributions, 
unemployment employer contributions, private 
insurances (health, life and managerial responsibilities) 
to the senior executives with the administrative 
responsibilities and, the attendance fees to the 
members of the Board of Directors. 

The sum of the benefits provided to the Members of 
the Board of Directors was TL 169,765, the sum of the 
benefits to the consultants to the Board of Directors was 
TL 100,607 and, the sum of the benefits to the senior 
executives with the administrative responsibilities was 
TL 2,006,348 amounting to TL 2,276,720 in total within 
the period of 01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018.

Evaluation of the Period of 01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018

Agreements have been entered into between Doğuş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. And Kobirate 
Uluslararası Kredi Derecelendirme ve Kurumsal 
Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş., a company with an official 
authorization to perform ratings in accordance with 
the Capital Market Board’s Communique Serial VIII 
No 51 on the Principles for Rating Agencies in Capital 

Markets, on 15.12.2014, 15.12.2015, 14.12.2016, 14.12.2017 
and 14.12.2018, under which the latter would prepare 
a report on the Rating for the Compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Principles, and this has been 
disclosed on the Public Disclosure Platform.

the report for the period of 07.07.2015-07.07.2016 was 
published on 07.07.2015

the report for the period of 28.06.2016-28.06.2017 was 
published on 28.06.2016,

the report for the period of 31.05.2017-31.05.2018 was 
published on 31.05.2017,

the report for the period of 31.05.2018-31.05.2019 was 
published on 31.05.2018 and the respective disclosures 
have been made on the Public Disclosure Platform 
(www.kap.org.tr). The first rating of Doğuş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. on the Compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Principles for the period of 
31.05.2018-31.05.2019 was 9.28.  

Our report on the Rating for the Compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Principles is available in the section 
Investor Relations - Corporate Governance Compliance 
Reports on our website (www.dogusgyo.com.tr).

The Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of 
the Company for 2017 was held on 28.03.2018 in 
accordance with the pertinent provisions of the Capital 
Market Board, the Turkish Commercial Code, all the 
relevant legislations and, the Corporate Governance 
Principles. After the meeting, the meeting minutes 

and the documents relating thereto were disclosed 
to the public on the Public Disclosure Platform (PDP) 
on 28.03.2018 and, made available to the shareholders 
through the company’s website for information. The 
results of the General Meeting were filed on 04.04.2018, 
disclosed to the public on the Public Disclosure 
Platform (PDP) on 04.04.2018 and, published on the 
Turkish Trade Registry Gazette, issue no. 9555, on 
10.04.2018.

All the resolutions adopted at the general meeting 
within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 have been 
fulfilled accordingly. 

The Board of Directors of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş rigorously follows whether all objectives 
were attained or not.

As a result of the task distribution at the meeting of 
the Board of Directors held on 06.04.2018 among 
the Members of the Board of Directors elected at the 
Ordinary General Meeting held on 28.03.2018, Hüsnü 
Akhan was appointed as Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and, Ekrem Nevzat Öztangut, Hayrullah 
Murat Aka, Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz, Mustafa Sabri 
Doğrusoy (Independent Member) and Özlem Tekay 
(Independent Member) as Members of the Board of 
Directors, which was disclosed to the public on the 
Public Disclosure Platform (PDP) on 06.04.2018. 

At the same meeting, the chairmen and members 
of the Audit Committee, the Corporate Governance 
Committee and, the Early Detection of Risk Committee 
were also elected.

The following persons were appointed for the Audit 
Committee: Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy - Chairman 
(Independent Member of the Board of Members) and 
Özlem Tekay (Independent Member of the Board of 
Members).

The following persons were appointed for the Early 
Detection of Risk Committee: Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy 

– Chairman (Independent Member of the Board of 
Members), Özlem Tekay- Member (Independent 
Member of the Board of Members) and Hasan Hüsnü 
Güzelöz- Member (Executive Member of the Board 
of Directors).

The following persons were appointed for the Corporate 
Governance Committee: Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy 
– Chairman (Independent Member of the Board 
of Members) Özlem Tekay- Member (Independent 
Member of the Board of Members) and Hasan Hüsnü 
Güzelöz- Member (Executive Member of the Board 
of Directors).

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held 
on 26.06.2018, in place of Özlem Tekay who has 
resigned from the position of Independent Member, 
Murat Bahadır Teker was appointed as (Independent 
Member), which appointment was disclosed on 
27.06.2018 through the Public Disclosure Platform 
(PDP). 

Murat Bahadır Teker appointed in place of Özlem 
Tekay who resigned on 26.06.2018 was appointed as 
a member of the Audit Committee, the Early Detection 
of Risk Committee and the Corporate Governance 
Committee.

In addition, the Corporate Governance Committee 
assumes the tasks of the Nomination Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee. 

The current status of and the task distribution among 
the members of the committees of the Board of 
Directors was disclosed on the Public Disclosure 
Platform (PDP) on 27.06.2018. 

The Company did not perform any research and 
development activities within the period of 01.01.2018-
31.12.2018.

No incentives were used for investments within the 
period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018.

GENERAL INFORMATION 
ON THE COMPANY

(THOUSAND TL) 07.07.2015 28.06.2016 31.05.2017 31.05.2018

Shareholders 89.68 94.74 95.18 95.18

Public Disclosure and Transparency 78.54 88.52 95.67 97.84

Stakeholders 72.76 86.88 86.88 86.88

Board of Directors 77.43 86.85 88.43 90.01

Note 8.01 8.92 9.17 9.28
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Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 08.01.2018;

I. It was resolved that the weighted average of the 
exchange rate of Euro 1 shall be TL 4.01 only for the 
period of 01.01.2018 - 31.03.2018 (three months) for the 
rental prices in Turkish Liras equivalent to the European 
Union Currency (“EURO”) for the rental fees paid by 
the existing tenants in the real estate in the portfolio 
of the Company called “Gebze Center AVM”.

II. It was resolved that the weighted average of the 
exchange rate of USD 1 shall be TL 3.65 only for the 
period of 01.01.2018 - 31.03.2018 (three months) for 
the rental prices in Turkish Liras equivalent to the 
US Currency (“USD”) for the rental fees paid by the 
existing tenants in the real estate in the portfolio of 
the Company called “Doğuş Maslak Center”.

III. It was resolved that the weighted average of the 
exchange rate of USD 1 shall be TL 3.65 only for the 
period of 01.01.2018 - 31.03.2018 (three months) for 
the rental prices in Turkish Liras equivalent to the 
US Currency (“USD”) for the rental fees paid by the 
existing tenants in the real estate in the portfolio of 
the Company called “Doğuş Maslak Center”.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 30.01.2018;

Article 35.2 “Appointment of Real Estate Appraisal 
Company” of the Capital Market Board’s Communique 
Serial No. III-48.1 “Principles for Real Estate Investment 
Trusts” provides as follows: Within one month following 
the end of the accounting period, a REIT is required 
to identify a real estate appraisal company for each 
asset for which an appraisal needs to be made as per 
the pertinent provisions of the article 34 and, not more 
than two real estate appraisal companies, from whom 
appraisal services are to be received with respect to 
such assets that may be included into its portfolio 
and that need to be appraised in line with a board 

resolution and, disclose the said board resolution in 
line with the regulations on the disclosure of material 
events and, send a copy thereof to the Board.

Considering the respective article and the proposal 
issued by the executive directors of our company on 
January 23, 2018; 

I. Concerning the real estate properties existing in 
our portfolio as of 31.12.2017;  

• Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme 
A.Ş. is appointed for Doğuş Center Maslak,

• Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme 
A.Ş. is appointed for Antalya 2000 Plaza,

• Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme 
A.Ş. is appointed for Doğuş Center Etiler,

• TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. is appointed 
for Gebze Center Shopping Center and Hotel, 
Auto Showroom and Service Areas

appraisal services are to be received from these real 
estate appraisal companies,

II. And for the real estate properties that may be 
included into our portfolio within the accounting 
period of 2018 and that may be needed to be appraised, 
Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme A.Ş. or 
TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. shall be the real 
estate appraisal companies, from which our Company 
is to receive appraisal services; unanimously resolved.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 12.02.2018;

A credit limit of $ 25,000,000 was made allocated under 
the Project Financing Loan made available by Halkbank 
A.Ş. on 26.01.2017 and, an amount of € 20,000,000 was 
used as project financing. As of today, our unused loan 
limit is about TL 2,000,000 considering the parity. 

Unanimously resolved that Çağan ERKAN, General 
Manager of the Company and, Hasan Hüsnü GÜZELÖZ, 
Member of the Board of Directors, who are named as 
the authorized signatories of the Company on the list 
of authorized signatories, shall be jointly authorized to 
issue, sign and amend if necessary the Loan Agreement 
and the annexes thereto, as a revolving credit of TL 
2,000,000 (Two Million Turkish Liras) for the cash 
requirements of the Company, and all types of letters, 
requests, notifications, reports and other documents 
in connection with the Loan Agreement and, sign 
the precondition documents pertaining to the Loan 
Agreement, if any, and submit such documents to 
the respective banks. 

Amount  : TL 2,000,000
Loan Type : Revolving Credit  
Creditor  : Halkbank A.Ş.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 12.02.2018;

It was unanimously resolved as a result of the respective 
efforts of the Audit Committee to approve the resolution 
adopted by the Board of Directors concerning the 
engagement of DRT (Deloitte) Bağımsız Denetim ve 
SMMM A.Ş. in 2018 to enhance the efficiency of the 
internal audit, and improve the respective business 
processes to ensure that the internal audit procedures 
are carried out as per the respective International 
Internal Audit Standards by means of outsourcing, to 
report the same and, provide suggestions concerning 
the findings therefrom.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 28.02.2018;

Considering the proposal issued by the Audit 
Committee of the Company attached to the board 
resolution of February 27, 2018, it was unanimously 
resolved to appoint PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş (“PwC”) as the 
Independent Audit Company for 2018 and, submit 

this appointment to the General Meeting for approval.
Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 06.04.2018;

I. It was resolved that the weighted average of the 
exchange rate of Euro 1 shall be TL 4.46 only for the 
period of 01.04.2018 - 30.06.2018 (three months) for 
the rental prices in Turkish Liras equivalent to the 
European Union Currency (“EURO”) for the rental fees 
paid by the existing tenants in the real estate in the 
portfolio of the Company called “Gebze Center AVM”.

II. It was resolved that the weighted average of the 
exchange rate of USD 1 shall be TL 3.80 only for the 
period of 01.04.2018 - 30.06.2018 (three months) for 
the rental prices in Turkish Liras equivalent to the 
US Currency (“USD”) for the rental fees paid by the 
existing tenants in the real estate in the portfolio of 
the Company called “Doğuş Maslak Center”.

III. It was resolved that the weighted average of the 
exchange rate of USD 1 shall be TL 3.80 only for the 
period of 01.04.2018 - 30.06.2018 (three months) for 
the rental prices in Turkish Liras equivalent to the 
US Currency (“USD”) for the rental fees paid by the 
existing tenants in the real estate in the portfolio of 
the Company called “Doğuş Maslak Center”.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 06.04.2018;

Considering that the Gebze Center Hotel and Additional 
Buildings Project has been completed and, the current 
economic conditions, it is understood that there is an 
employment surplus in our company. Therefore, it was 
decided to close the Project Management Department 
and, in line with the predicted operations, reduce the 
number of personnel available in other departments 
and, revoke the Group (B) signing authorities of 
Mr. Ertan Barın, Assistant General Manager, Project 
Management as of 06.04.2018. 
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Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 18.04.2018;

Mr. Hayrullah Murat Aka declared in his petition 
submitted on 18.04.2018 that he had resigned from 
the position of Board Member of our Company.

It was unanimously resolved to accept the resignation 
of Hayrullah Murat Aka and, revoke the Group (A) 
signing authority previously granted to him.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 04.05.2018;

It was decided to accept the revised board internal 
directive no. 2018/01 of May 4, 2018 attached hereto 
and the annexes thereto as issued in line with the 
pertinent provisions of the articles 367 and 371 of 
the Turkish Commercial Code and of the articles of 
association and, file the same with the trade registry 
office and, announce it accordingly.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 14.05.2018;

It was decided to start negotiations with Kar Otomotiv 
ve Tekstil Ticaret Limited Şirketi for the sales of Antalya 
2000 Plaza included in the portfolio of our company, 
located in Haşimişcan, Muratpaşa, Antalya, recorded in 
Block No. 10479, Parcel No. 1, consisting of 2 basements, 
one ground floor, with 10 storeys, 92 independent 
sections and, disclose the same through the Public 
Disclosure Platform (PDP).

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 14.05.2018;

1. Antalya 2000 Plaza included in the portfolio of our 
company, located in Haşimişcan, Muratpaşa, Antalya, 
recorded in Block No. 10479, Parcel No. 1, consisting 

of 2 basements, one ground floor, with 10 storeys, 
92 independent sections shall be sold to with Kar 
Otomotiv ve Tekstil Ticaret Limited Şirketi for a price of  
TL 10,600,000 and, the title deed transfer procedures 
for this sales shall be started accordingly,

2. Mr. Çağan Erkan, Company Manager shall be 
authorized to collect the sales price of the said real 
estate in cash and concurrently with the sales and 
ownership transfer procedures to be carried out before 
the respective title deed office and, Lawyer Özgür Çınar 
shall be appointed as attorney authorized to carry out 
the sales procedures.

3. Here are the reasons why the sales price are below 
the appraisement value of TL 13,800,000 excluded VAT 
as determined by the EPOS Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık 
ve Değerleme A.Ş under its expert’s report no. 2018-
00001 of 15.05.2018 if the independent sections are 
sold as a whole;

a. The sales will be made on the condition of it 
will be for cash,
b.  There has been no serious purchaser within 

the period between 13.05.2015 when a disclosure 
was made through the PDP up until today,
c.  And the today’s economic conditions have 

been considered by the management, which 
shall be described in the respective disclosure to 
be made through the PDP and, the shareholders 
shall be informed accordingly during the first 
General Meeting, unanimously resolved.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018,  at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 04.06.2018;

With respect to the Gebze Center Shopping Center, 
Hotel and Commercial Area included in the portfolio 
of our Company located in an area of 60.865 m2 in 
Sultanorhan, Gebze, Kocaeli recorded in the title deed 
registry under the Section No. G22B24C2A, the Block 
No. 6371, and the Parcel No. 2 of 2.000 m2 located in 
Sultanorhan, Gebze, Kocaeli recorded in the title deed 

registry under the Section No. G22B24B2A and the 
Block No. 6371 and, the Parcel No. 4, where we have 
the shares of 74433/100000 thereof, it was resolved to 
start negotiation with SEYİR Gayrimenkul Yatırım A.Ş. 
for the sales of this share of 74433/100000, which shall 
be disclosed through the Public Disclosure Platform 
(PDP).

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 08.06.2018;

Included in the portfolio or our Company;

• The Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel, 
Commercial Area (“Parcel 2”) located in the land 
of 60,865 m2  recorded in the title deed registry 
under the Section No. G22B24C2A, the Block 
No. 6371 and the Parcel No. 2 in Sultanorhan , 
Gebze, Kocaeli,

• The real estate (Parcel No. 4) of 2.000 m2 located in 
Sultanorhan, Gebze, Kocaeli recorded in the title 
deed registry under the Section No. G22B24B2A 
and the Block No. 6371 and, the Parcel No. 4, 
where we have the shares of 74433/100000 
thereof,

• The fixtures in the assets of our Company on the 
Parcel No. 2 (the “Moveable Properties”)

• The brand “Gebze Center” of our Company (the 
“Brand”)

The Real Estate shall be sold to Seyir Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım A.Ş. for a price of Euro 102,500,000 in case 
excluding VAT and, an agreement and/or promise-to-
sell agreement shall be made concerning the sales of 
the said Real Estate;

Mr. Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz, Board Member and Mr. 
Çağan Erkan, General Manager, shall be authorized to 
sign the agreement and/or promise-to-sell agreement 
concerning the sales of the said Real Estate and, 
collect the price thereof concurrently with the sales 
and ownership transfer procedures to be carried out 
before the title deed registry office and, Lawyer Özgür 

Çınar and/or Lawyer Özge Esmer shall be authorized 
to carry out the said sales procedures;
Here are the reasons why the sales price are below the 
appraisement value of TL 638,995,000 excluded VAT as 
determined by the TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. 
under its expert’s report no. 2018-REV325 of 07.06.2018 
if the real estate properties are sold as a whole;

• The sales will be made on the condition of it 
will be for cash,

• And the today’s economic conditions have been 
considered by the management, which shall be 
described in the respective disclosure to be made 
through the PDP and, the shareholders shall be 
informed accordingly during the first General 
Meeting, unanimously resolved.

All the sales price obtained from this sales shall be 
used to make new investments with a fixed income 
and that could increase the value of the portfolio of the 
company in accordance with the company’s strategy, 
unanimously resolved.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018,  a disclosure 
made through the PPD on 28.12.2018 in connection 
with the resolution adopted at the meeting of the 
Board of Directors held on 08.05.2018, the following 
information was disclosed;

With the detailed Material Disclosure made on 
08.06.2018 and, the updates on 19.11.2018 and 27.11.2018, 
the Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel, Commercial 
Area and the land, of which 74433/100000 shares are 
owned, were to be sold to Seyir Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
A.S. for a price of Euro 102,500,000 in cash excluding 
VAT and, a promise-to-sell agreement was entered into 
for this sales. As a result of the mutual understanding 
between the parties, it was decided to give up the 
sales procedures.

 Within the growth strategy of our company, as disclosed 
in the Material Disclosures made on 24.12.2018, 
25.12.2018 and 26.12.2018, a loan was received from 
Credit Europe Bank NV, and with this loan, the D-Office 
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Maslak Office Building and, the independent sections 
no. 16-17 within the Doğuş Center Etiler Building have 
been purchased.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 26.06.2018;

Özlem TEKAY, an Independent Board Member, has 
submitted a petition to our Company on 26.06.2018 
indicating that she had resigned the position of 
Independent Board Member (also the positions of 
Audit Committee Member, Corporate Governance 
Committee Member, Early Detection of Risk Committee 
Member). This resignation was accepted in line with 
the Corporate Governance Principles.

It was decided to inform the Corporate Governance 
Committee that also fulfills the tasks of the Nomination 
Committee of the candidacy application of Murat 
Bahadır TEKER for the position of independent 
member to determine the conformity thereof with 
the Corporate Governance Principles and, assess the 
situation accordingly.

During the meeting of the Board of Directors held 
on the same day;

It was resolved to appoint Murat Bahadır TEKER 
as Independent Board and member of the Audit 
Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee 
and the Early Detection of Risk Committee, for whom 
a proposal no. 2018/3 was submitted by the Corporate 
Governance Committee on June 26, 2018 to fulfil the 
requirements of the position that become vacant due 
to the resignation of Özlem TEKAY, Independent Board 
Member, on June 26, 2018, and whose suitability for 
the position of Independent Member was approved 
and from whom an Independence Statement was 
received in line with the Capital Market Board’s 
Corporate Governance Communique Serial No. II.17.1, 
which shall be submitted to the next General Meeting 
for approval. 

So that, the duty distribution in the Committees, which 
shall be effective as of June 26, 2018, shall be as follows:

a. Audit Committee
Mr. Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy - Chairman 
(Independent Member of the Board of 
Members)
Mr. Murat Bahadır Teker - Member (Independent 
Member of the Board of Directors)

b. Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy - Chairman  
(Independent Member of the Board of 
Members)
Mr. Murat Bahadır Teker - Member (Independent 
Member of the Board of Directors)
Mr. . Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz - Member (Member 
of the Board of Directors)

c. Early Detection of Risk Committee
Mr. Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy – Chairman 
(Independent Member of the Board of Directors)
Mr. Murat Bahadır Teker – Member (Independent 
Member of the Board of Directors)
Mr. Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz – Member (Member of 
the Board of Directors)

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 27.06.2018;

It was resolved to appoint PwC Bağımsız Denetim 
ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. as the 
independent audit firm to carry out the independent 
audit that will start as of December 31, 2018, in 
accordance with the “Methods and Principles for 
Monitoring the Turkish Central Bank (TCMB) of 
Transactions Affecting Foreign Exchange Positions” 
published in the Official Journal on February 17, 2018.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 29.06.2018;

1. Considering the requests from the lessees due to 
the significant recessed business volume and the 
negative impacts of the foreign exchange increases 
during the recent period concerning the rental prices 
paid by the existing lessees in European Currency 
(“Euro) for the real estate “Gebze Center Shopping 
Center” included in the company’s portfolio only for 
the period of 01.07.2018-31.08.2018 (two months), it 
was resolved to set the average weighting of Euro 1 as 
4.80 Turkish Liras, and this shall be exclusively valid for 
a period of two months for the lessee and, not to be 
considered as a general application and, the lessees 
shall be informed in writing accordingly.

2. Considering the requests from the lessees due to 
the significant recessed business volume and the 
negative impacts of the foreign exchange increases 
during the recent period concerning the rental prices 
paid by the existing lessees in US Dollars (“USD) for 
the real estate “Doğuş Center Maslak” included in the 
company’s portfolio only for the period of 01.07.2018-
30.09.2018 (three months), it was resolved to set the 
average weighting of USD 1 as 4.20 Turkish Liras, and 
this shall be exclusively valid for a period of two months 
for the lessee and, not to be considered as a general 
application and, the lessees shall be informed in 
writing accordingly.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 05.09.2018;

Considering the requests from the lessees due to the 
significant recessed business volume and the negative 
impacts of the foreign exchange increases during 
the recent period concerning the rental prices paid 
by the existing lessees in European Currency (“Euro) 
for the real estate “Gebze Center Shopping Center” 
included in the company’s portfolio only for the period 
of 01.09.2018-30.09.2018  (one month), it was resolved 
to set the average weighting of Euro 1 as 5.54 Turkish 
Liras, and this shall be exclusively valid for a period of 
one month for the lessee and, not to be considered as a 

general application and, the lessees shall be informed 
in writing accordingly.

In 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 period; at Company Board of 
Directors meeting made on the date of 02.10.2018;

With Presidency Decree numbered 85 and dated 
12.09.2018 regarding Doing Change on 32 Numbered 
Decree About Protecting Value of Turkish Lira, regulation 
towards contracts that persons who reside in Turkey 
will do between one another has been evaluated.

In related regulation; persons who reside in Turkey, 
except for situations indicated by the Ministry, will not 
be able to decide movable and immovable trading, 
including vehicle and financial leasing, including all 
kinds of movable and immovable leasing, all kinds of 
movable and immovable leasing, work with leasing, in 
service and work contracts that will be made between 
themselves, contract price and other payment 
obligations cause by these contracts, exchange type 
or exchange rate indexed, within 30 days as of the date 
that same decree’s 4th article’s (g) paragraph comes 
into force, prices that were finalized in exchange on 
contracts that are in force and concluded before and 
indicated on aforesaid paragraph, except for situations 
indicated by the Ministry, will be determined again 
by parties as Turkish Lira.

On the other hand, with provision of both of two 
articles taken place on the said decree, related to 
newly to be made or currently concluded contracts, it 
was decided that some situations which are deemed 
suitable by the Ministry of Treasury and Finance can 
be exempted. Under this scope, legal regulation that 
will be made by the Ministry will be waited.

Accordingly, it has been decided to evaluate making 
change on rental contracts that belong to immovable 
on our portfolio matter following the said legal 
regulation of the Ministry, rental prices of immovable 
to be determined as below related to October 2018 
(for one month period).
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For European Currency (¨Euro¨) based Turkish Lira 
rent prices equivalence that has been paid by current 
tenants at “Gebze Center AVM” and “Gebze Doğuş 
Oto” named real estates which are in our Company’s 
portfolio, exclusively for 01.10.2018–31.10.2018 (one 
month) period, requests coming from tenants as 
their business volumes were highly narrowed and by 
considering negative effects of rate increases seen 
on financial markets recently; 1 EURO rate’s weighted 
average to be determined as it will be 5,90 Turkish 
Liras, this situation to be notified to tenants in written 
by stating that this will be exclusive for one-month 
period, it will not be a general application towards 
future and acceptance

3.  For USA Dollar (¨USD¨) based Turkish Lira rent prices 
equivalence that has been paid by current tenants at 
“Gebze Center AVM” and “Gebze Doğuş Oto” named 
real estates which are in our Company’s portfolio, 
exclusively for 01.10.2018–31.10.2018 (one month) 
period, requests coming from tenants as their business 
volumes were highly narrowed and by considering 
negative effects of rate increases seen on financial 
markets recently; 1 USD rate’s weighted average to be 
determined as it will be 4,90 Turkish Liras, this situation 
to be notified to tenants in written by stating that this 
will be exclusive for one-month period, it will not be a 
general application towards future and acceptance, it 
has been decided with unanimous vote for aforesaid 
issues above.

In 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 period; at Company Board of 
Directors meeting made on the date of 13.12.2018

By considering suggestion and decision of our 
Company’s Corporate Management Committee 
that was taken at 11 December 2018 date and 
2018/4 numbered meeting; it has been decided 
with unanimous vote to continue 2018-2019 period 
Corporate Management Compatibility Rating works 
with Kobirate Uluslararası Kredi Derecelendirme ve 
Kurumsal Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. firm.

In 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 period;  at Company Board of 
Directors meeting made on the date of 13.12.2018;

It has been accepted with unanimous to accept 
13.12.2018 dated, 2018-01 numbered ̈ Investor Relations 
Division Report¨.

In 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 period; at Company Board of 
Directors meeting made on the date of 24.12.2018;

(a) Between our Company as borrower, Doğuş Holding 
A.Ş. as company and Credit Europe Bank N.V. (“Credit 
Europe”) as arranger, original lender, agent and security 
agent, concluding a loan contract (Facility Agreement) 
regarding giving term loan that its conditions given 
below in the amount of [100,000,000 Euro] to be 
given to our Company;

Amount  : EUR 100.000.000 
Creditor  : Credit Europe Bank NV
Term  : 2025

Terms of Payment: capital and interest pay in changing 
amounts once in 3 months with a total of six years 
term, with balloon payment of 66.500.000.-Euro at 
the end of term
Credit Terms: First two years 5% fixe, as of 3rd year 
Euribor + 5% variable interest rate

(b) Between our Company as pledgor to constitute Loan 
Contract and guarantee of other finance documents 
indicated on the Loan Contract and Credit Europe as 
pledgee, for the purpose of pledging for the benefit 
of Credit Europe on bank accounts of our Company 
mentioned on Loan Contract, concluding an Account 
Pledge Agreement

(c) Between our Company as assignor to constitute Loan 
Contract and guarantee of other finance documents 
indicated on the Loan Contract and Credit Europe 
as assignee, concluding an Assignment of Lease 
Receivables Agreement regarding rental income 
mentioned on the Loan Contract;

(d) Between our Company as assignor to constitute Loan 
Contract and guarantee of other finance documents 
indicated on the Loan Contract and Credit Europe 
as assignee, concluding an Assignment of Insurance 
Receivables Agreement regarding insurance income 
mentioned on the Loan Contract;

(e) Between our Company as mortgagor to constitute 
Loan Contract and guarantee of other finance 
documents indicated on the Loan Contract and 
Credit Europe as mortgagee, concluding a Mortgage 
Agreement related to establish a first-degree joint 
capital lien in the amount of [100,000,000 Euro] for 
the benefit of Credit Europe on immovable indicated 
below:

(i) [all of our immovable at Kocaeli cit, Gebze district, 
Sultanorhan quarter, block no 6371 and parcel no 
2], and
(ii) [all of 74,433/100,000 shared ownership shares 
that our Company owns on immovable at Kocaeli 
cit, Gebze district, Sultanorhan quarter, block no 
6371 and parcel no 2];

(f) For the purpose of restructuring payables that are 
yet to be paid back in the presence of loans provided 
to D. Hospitality B.V. by Credit Europe, concluding an 
early reimbursement and restructuring contract that 
are changed and indicated again between Credit 
Europe, D. Hospitality B.V., Doğuş Holding A.Ş. and 
our Company

(g) To sign a Contract for Shopping Mall Management 
and Renting Consultancy services regarding “GEBZE 
CENTER Alışveriş Merkezi”, that is located at the address 
of Tatlıkuyu Mahallesi Güney Yan Yol Cad No.310 Gebze/
Kocaeli and is owned by Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş., to be conducted by FİBA CP Yönetim 
Hizmetleri A.Ş. and Fiba Ticari Gayrimenkul Yatırımları 
A.Ş.

(h) Above-mentioned Loan Contract and all kinds of 
contracts, acceptance, commitment, warning, change, 
certificate, statement, letter, file and document 

regarding other contracts to be concluded, signed, 
issued and delivered by our Company.

Hereinafter above-mentioned contract and document 
will be referred to as ¨Finance Documents¨.

As a result:

1. Finance Documents to be concluded, signed, issued 
and delivered by our Company;

2. All provisions of Finance Documents and all 
transactions projected on Finance Documents to be 
accepted and approved by our Company;

3. [To negotiate Finance Documents on behalf of 
our Company according to one’s own appreciation, 
to get agreed, to conclude, to deliver and to change 
and (including but not limited to arbitration articles 
regarding resolutions of all disputes arisen from Loan 
Contracts that is on Loan Contract through arbitration 
according to rules of the London Court of International 
Arbitration, including but not limited to Utilization 
Request of loan and Finance Documents, on the 
presence of Finance Documents or all kinds of warning, 
file and document that will be issued, signed and 
delivered in connection with Finance Documents to be 
issued, delivered for and on behalf of our Company, and 
to represent and bind our Company by signing for and 
on behalf of our Company under our Company’s trade 
name, Company General Manager Çağan ERKAN and 
Member of Executive Board Hasan Hüsnü GÜZELÖZ 
to be authorized jointly; As it was determined that 
establishing lien (real right establishment) transaction 
indicated on (e) article of resolution of herein executive 
board fulfills importance criteria that were determined 
with 6th article that has the title of ¨Importance 
Criteria¨ defined on II-23.1¨Common Principles and 
Severance Right Notification Regarding Transactions 
with Important Nature¨ of CML, for this reason it will 
be presented to approval of the first General Assembly 
Meeting and shareholders who report a minute of 
dissent by attending General Assembly Meeting in 
which the transaction will be approved according to 
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9th article that has the title of ¨Usage of Severance 
Right¨ of the same notification will have the right to 
sell their shares to the Company and leave,

4. Severance right price is 2,2190 Turkish Liras per share 
which has 1 TL nominal value each that was calculated 
(weighted average prices of arithmetic average that 
was accumulated on stock exchange within thirty 
days excluding the disclosure date that is the date 
before first time the transaction is disclosed to the 
public) within the framework of 24th article that has 
the title of ̈ Severance Right Price¨ of 6362 numbered 
Capital Market Law and 10th article that has the 
title of ¨Severance Right Usage Price¨ of ¨Common 
Principles and Severance Right Notification Regarding 
Transactions with Important Nature (II-23.1)¨ of CML

5. Within the provisions of 6th paragraph of 9th article 
that has the title of ¨Usage of Severance Right¨ of 
¨Common Principles and Severance Right Notification 
Regarding Transactions with Important Nature (II-23.1)¨ 
of CML, Severance right usage transaction to be started 
at the latest within 6 (six) business days as of General 
Assembly Meeting in which the transaction will be 
presented to approval and will not last less than 10 (ten) 
business days no more than 20 (twenty) business days,

6. According to 9th paragraph of 9th article that has 
the title of ¨Usage of Severance Right¨ of ¨Common 
Principles and Severance Right Notification Regarding 
Transactions with Important Nature (II-23.1)¨ of CML; 
it is mandatory for our shareholders to use severance 
right for all shares that they own,

7. According to 7th paragraph of 9th article that has 
the title of ¨Usage of Severance Right¨ of ¨Common 
Principles and Severance Right Notification Regarding 
Transactions with Important Nature (II-23.1)¨ of CML; our 
shareholders who will use severance right will actualize 
the sales of said severance right shares by carrying 
them forward in direction of general provisions to 
our Company account in presence of Garanti Yatırım 
Menkul Kıymetler A.Ş. which is intermediary firm that 
will be intermediary in usage of severance right; share 

prices will be paid to our shareholders who applied 
to intermediary firm for using severance right on the 
business day following the sale by our Company,

8. In case that transaction is denied at General 
Assembly Meeting, severance right does not arise, 
to give information on these matters to the General 
Assembly
9. 
10. It has been decided with unanimous vote of 
members who attended the meeting to notify Credit 
Europe for the representation authorization indicated 
above by conveying a notarized copy of herein executive 
board resolution to Credit Europe.

In 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 period; at Company Board of 
Directors meeting made on the date of 25.12.2018;

Executive Board of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
Anonim Şirketi by gathering at company center under 
the presidency of Mr. Hüsnü Akhan;

1. By considering expertise value in the amount of 
525.693.000-TL excluding VAT that was determined 
in case that immovable which is subject matter of 
25.12.2018 dated and 2018-00002 numbered expertise 
report (¨real estate value assessment report¨) of EPOS 
Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme A.Ş. for D Ofis 
Maslak Building (¨Real estate¨) which has 40.437,91 
m2 usage area located at İstanbul city, Sarıyer district, 
Maslak Ayazağa Quarter, 11 Block and with 4.725 m2 area 
at 10 numbered parcel of the land registry, registered 
under asset of Doğuş Holding A.Ş. which is main 
partner of our Company to be sold as a whole; it is to 
be bought in cash with 525.693.000-TL excluding VAT 
price and land registry transfer transactions regarding 
the purchase to be started,

2. In the matter that aforesaid purchase price to be 
paid simultaneously and in cash with purchase and 
ownership transfer transactions that will be actualized 
before land registry, Member of Executive Board Mr. 
Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz and General Manager Mr. 
Çağan Erkan to be authorized, 33632228740 Turkish 

ID numbered Att. Özgür Çınar who is registered to 
Istanbul Bar Association with 43565 registry number 
and/or 28645544536 Turkish ID numbered Att. Özge 
Esmer who is registered to Istanbul Bar Association 
with 28862 registry number and 45829511566 
Turkish ID numbered Att. Ömer Kurutluoğlu who is 
registered to Istanbul Bar Association with 50259 
registry number are to be assigned as proxies to sign 
all require documents for these transactions and to 
actualize purchase transactions of the Real Estate 
before Republic of Turkey land registry directorates 
and all related authorities,

3. Due to the reason that Doğuş Holding A.Ş. that is 
in the owner position of the real estate is ultimate 
controlling shareholder of ours, under CML’s regulation 
and decisions in force, Doğuş Holding A.Ş. is the party 
that is in the related party position with the company,

4. As it was determined that value that was given 
with real estate value assessment report above fulfills 
importance criteria that were determined with 6th 
article that has the title of ̈ Importance Criteria¨ defined 
on II-23.1¨Common Principles and Severance Right 
Notification Regarding Transactions with Important 
Nature¨ of CML, for this reason it will be presented 
to approval of the first General Assembly Meeting 
and shareholders who report a minute of dissent by 
attending General Assembly Meeting in which the 
transaction will be approved according to 9th article 
that has the title of ¨Usage of Severance Right¨ of the 
same notification will have the right to sell their shares 
to the Company and leave

5. Severance right price is 2,2190 Turkish Liras per share 
which has 1 TL nominal value each that was calculated 
(weighted average prices of arithmetic average that 
was accumulated on stock exchange within thirty 
days excluding the disclosure date that is the date 
before first time the transaction is disclosed to the 
public) within the framework of 24th article that has 
the title of ̈ Severance Right Price¨ of 6362 numbered 
Capital Market Law and 10th article that has the 
title of ¨Severance Right Usage Price¨ of ¨Common 
Principles and Severance Right Notification Regarding 

Transactions with Important Nature (II-23.1)¨ of CML.
6. Within the provisions of 6th paragraph of 9th article 
that has the title of ¨Usage of Severance Right¨ of 
¨Common Principles and Severance Right Notification 
Regarding Transactions with Important Nature (II-23.1)¨ 
of CML, Severance right usage transaction to be started 
at the latest within 6 (six) business days as of General 
Assembly Meeting in which the transaction will be 
presented to approval and will not last less than 10 (ten) 
business days no more than 20 (twenty) business days,

7. According to 9th paragraph of 9th article that has 
the title of ¨Usage of Severance Right¨ of ¨Common 
Principles and Severance Right Notification Regarding 
Transactions with Important Nature (II-23.1)¨ of CML; 
it is mandatory for our shareholders to use severance 
right for all shares that they own,

8. According to 7th paragraph of 9th article that has 
the title of ¨Usage of Severance Right¨ of ¨Common 
Principles and Severance Right Notification Regarding 
Transactions with Important Nature (II-23.1)¨ of CML; our 
shareholders who will use severance right will actualize 
the sales of said severance right shares by carrying 
them forward in direction of general provisions to 
our Company account in presence of Garanti Yatırım 
Menkul Kıymetler A.Ş. which is intermediary firm that 
will be intermediary in usage of severance right; share 
prices will be paid to our shareholders who applied 
to intermediary firm for using severance right on the 
business day following the sale by our Company,

9. In case that transaction is denied at General 
Assembly Meeting, severance right does not arise, 
to give information on these matters to the General 
Assembly

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018, at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 25.12.2018;

The Board of Directors of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi met at the registered office 
under the chairmanship of Mr. Hüsnü Akhan;
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1. The independent sections no. 16 and 17 with a 
usable area of 6,745.23 m2 registered with the title 
deed registry office under the Block No. 593 and the 
Parcel No. 53 in Bebek, Beşiktaş, Istanbul, as recorded 
in the assets of Doğuş Turizm Sağlık Yatırımları ve 
İşletmeciliği Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the “Real Estate”) 
shall be purchased for a cash price of TL 62,900,000 
Excluding VAT considering the appraisal price of 
TL 62,907,00 Excluding VAT determined by EPOS 
Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme A.Ş. under 
the appraisal report no. 2018-00005 of 25.12.2018 
(the “Real Estate Appraisal Report”) and, the title deed 
ownership transfer procedures shall start accordingly,

2. Mr. Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz, Board Member, and Mr. 
Çağan Erkan, General Manager, shall be authorized to 
ensure that the sales price shall be collected in cash 
concurrently with the purchase and ownership transfer 
procedures to be carried out before the title deed registry 
office and, Lawyer Özgür Çınar, Turkish ID Number 
33632228740, registered with the Istanbul Bar Association 
under registration no. 28862 and/or Lawyer Özge Esmer, 
Turkish ID Number 28645544536, registered with the 
Istanbul Bar Association under registration no. 28862 
and/or Lawyer Ömer Kurutluoğlu, Turkish ID Number 
45829511566, registered with the Istanbul Bar Association 
under registration no. 50259, shall be appointed to carry 
out the purchase procedures for the Real Estate before 
the title deed registry offices and all other competent 
authorities of the Republic of Turkey and, sign all necessary 
documents in connection therewith,

3. Since Doğuş Turizm Sağlık Yatırımları ve İşletmeciliği 
Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.‘, the owner of the Real Estate, is 
controlled by our controlling shareholder, Doğuş Turizm 
Sağlık Yatırımları ve İşletmeciliği Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. is 
a related part in line with the regulations and decisions 
of the Capital Market Board in force,

4. The price determined under the above-mentioned 
Real Estate Property is below the materiality criteria as 
set under the article 6 “Materiality Criteria“ of the CMB’s 
Communique on “Common Principles for Material 
Transactions and Right of Leaving”.

Hüsnü Akhan and Ekrem Nevzat Öztangut did not cast 
vote since they are related to the other party to the 
agreement as per articles 9 and 10 of the Corporate 
Governance Communique (II-17.1), and the resolution 
was unanimously adopted including the independent 
members.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 31.12.2018;

The Board of Directors of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi met at the registered office 
under the chairmanship of Mr. Hüsnü Akhan;

1. Resolved to approve the “Board of Directors’ 
Productivity Report for 2018” issued by the Corporate 
Governance Committee that also fulfill the tasks of 
the Nomination Committee, as per the Corporate 
Governance Communique Serial No. II-17.1, Article 4.5.11; 

2. Resolved to approve the “Investors Relations 
Department Report” no. 2018-02 of 28.12.2018,

3. Resolved to approve the “Early Detection of Risk 
Committee Annual Assessment Report ” no. 2018-07 
of 28.12.2018 and, the Early Detection of Risk Committee 
Report no. 2018-06 of 25.12.2018,

4. Resolved to approve the report containing the 
Governance Committee’s Annual Assessment no. 2018-
05 of 28.12.2018,

5. Resolved to approve the Audit Committee’s Report 
no. 2018-07 of 28.12.2018,

6. Out of the supervisions and reports issued by the 
Audit Committee and submitted to the Board of 
Directors for approval in 2018; Resolved, by means of 
obtaining opinions of the respective executives and 
the independent auditors in connection with the 
conformity of the publicly disclosed annual reports 
and financial statements as of 01.01.2018 – 31.03.2018, 
01.01.2018 – 30.06.2018, 01.01.2018 – 30.09.2018 with the 

respective accounting principles, the reflection of the 
truth and accuracy thereof and, having the signatures 
of the members of the respective committees on the 
declaration of responsibility, the same is documented 
accordingly;

7. Resolved that the Audit Committee, the Corporate 
Governance Committee, the Early Detection of Risk 
Committee formed within the organization of the 
Board of Directors as per the Corporate Governance 
Principles meet as frequently as described in the 
working principles thereof and, submit the results of 
the meetings to the Board of Directors and, thus these 
committees operate efficiently, 

unanimously resolved.

Information in relation to own Shares acquired by 
the Company

12 shareholders out of 16 shareholders having participated 
in the Extraordinary Assembly Meeting of the Company 
held on 29.08.2016 and having cast negative vote against 
Article 6 which is the subject of right to resign and 
having procured the dissenting opinions to be entered 
in the meeting minutes have exercised this right over 
the price of right to resign of 3,7426 for each share with 
nominal value of TL 1 and the share with the nominal 
value of TL 1.064.657 was taken over by the Company 
against a consideration of TL 3.984.585,29 in total.

Information on the Direct and Indirect Participation 
of the Company and the Share Rates thereof 

Our Company does not have direct or indirect any 
participation.

Disclosures in relation to Special Audit and Public 
Audit carried out within the Accounting Period

PWC Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali 

Müşavirlik A.Ş. (Auditor)

As written in subparagraph 2 of Provisional Article 6 
of Turkish Commercial Code (TCC) Number 6102, the 
opening balance with the date 01.01.2013 or prepared as 
of a later date because of the special accounting period 
is audited by an auditor chosen according to this Law in 
accordance with the provisions of this Law. According 
to Article 399 of TCC Law No. 6102, the auditor chosen 
by the general assembly of the company carries out its 
audit according to the provisions of this Law.

As a result of the proposition made to the Board of 
Directors based on the decision taken by the Committee 
responsible for the Audit in its meeting number 2018/3 
dated 27.02.2018, Registry Office as PWC Bağımsız 
Denetim ve SMMM A.Ş (its corporate name was 
registered by the Turkish Trade Registry Office as PWC 
Bağımsız Denetim ve SMMM A.Ş. on 12.12.2016 as it was 
changed to that corporate name) as the auditor for the 
accounting period 2018 with the resolution of the Board 
of Directors with Number 2018/09 and date 28.02.2018 
and was accepted by majority of votes by shareholders 
in the General Assembly Meeting dated 28.03.2018.

Disclosures in relation to Special Audit and Public 
Audit carried out within the Accounting Period

The Company procures its semi-annual interim 
period and annual financial statements to be audited 
independently within the regulations of the Capital 
Markets Board in relation to financial reporting and 
independent auditing. 

The company respects the right of each shareholder to 
get information and examine the respective documents. 
Within this framework, the company management 
avoids taking any action making it difficult the special 
audit to be carried out on condition that the right to 
demand information and review has been exercised 
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previously and with a view to examining certain events. 
In the Articles of Association of the Company, there is 
not any regulation in relation to the right of shareholders 
to appoint special representative. The Company deems 
the right of special audit to be a part of the right to 
demand information. 

Within the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018, there is not 
any special audit demand made within this scope.

Disclosures in relation to Administrative or 
Judicial Sanctions applied about the Company 
and Members of the Board of Directors due 
to Practices contrary to the Provisions of the 
Legislation

There is not any administrative and judicial sanction 
applied about the company or the members of the board 
of directors due to practices contrary to the provisions of 
the legislation within the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018.

Information in relation to Expenditures made 
within the framework of Social Responsibility 
Projects as well as Donations and Aids made by 
the Company within the Year

The shareholders have taken the resolution with the 
majority of votes in the general assembly meeting dated 
28.03.2018 that the total amount of Donations and Aids 
to be made by the Company within 2018 be limited to 
TL 1.000.000 (one million) in line with the motion given 
by the Board of Directors of the Company and within 
the framework of Article 19 of the Capital Markets Law. 

Within the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018, no donation 
and aid have been made. 

If the Company is an Affiliated Company of the 
Group of Companies, Legal Transactions made 
by it with the Holding Company, with a Company 
Affiliated with the Holding Company, with 
Direction of the Holding Company on behalf of it 
or on behalf of a Company affiliated with it and 
all Other Measures taken or avoided to be taken 
on behalf of the Holding Company or a Company 
Affiliated with it in the Previous Activity Period

The transactions carried out with the holding company 
and affiliated companies within the group of companies 
are ordinary business activities and there is not any 
transaction made for and on behalf of the holding 
company or one of the affiliated companies or any 
measure taken or avoided to be taken within this 
framework with or without the direction of the holding 
company. Within this framework, no counter performance 
has been needed no measure has been taken or no 
measure has been avoided and no damage has arisen 
for this reason since not any legal action has been taken.

Information on Changes in Legislation that may 
affect the Operations of the Company significantly

Capital Market Board’s;

All the regulations of the Capital Market Board in force 
before 01.01.2018 are complied with and, the following 
communiques in force between 01.01.2018-31.12.2018;

• Communique (VII-128.9) on Information Standards 
published on the Official Gazette, issue no. 30292 
on 05.01.2018 and, entered into force accordingly

• Communique (III-62.2) on Information Standards 
Independent Audit Communique published on the 
Official Gazette, issue no. 30292 on 05.01.2018 and, 
entered into force accordingly 

• Communique (VII-128.1b) on Amendment on Shares 
published on the Official Gazette, issue no. 30313 
on 26.01.2018 and, entered into force accordingly

• Communique (VII-128.1ç) amending the 
Communique (VII-128.1) on published on the Official 
Gazette, issue no. 30331 on 13.02.2018 and, entered 
into force accordingly

• Communique (II-15.1b) amending the Communique 
(II-15.1) on Special Cases published on the Official 
Gazette, issue no. 30331 on 13.02.2018 and, entered 
into force accordingly

• Communique (II-23.1.b) amending the Communique 
(II-23.1) on Common Principles for Material 
Transactions and Right of Leaving published on 
the Official Gazette, issue no. 30395 on 05.02.2018 
and, entered into force accordingly

• Communique (III-48.1.c) amending the Communique 
(III-48.1) on Real Estate Investment Trusts published 
on the Official Gazette, issue no. 30417 on 10.05.2018 
and, entered into force accordingly

• Communique (II-26.1.b) amending the Communique 
(II-26.1) on Share Purchases published on the Official 
Gazette, issue no. 30442 on 05.06.2018 and, entered 
into force accordingly

• Communique (III-52.3.c) amending the 
Communique (III-52.3) on Real Estate Investment 
Trusts published on the Official Gazette, issue 
no. 30464 on 30.06.2018 and, entered into force 
accordingly

• Communique on Joint Stock Companies, the Most 
of the Shares of Which is Owned by Cooperatives 
and Cooperative Associations published on the 
Official Gazette, issue no. 30540  on 19.09.2018 
and, entered into force accordingly 

• Communique Serial No. V (III, No:77) amending the 
Communique Serial No. (VIII, No:51) on Principles 
on Rating Activities and Rating Bodies in Capital 

Market published on the Official Gazette, issue 
no. 30540  on 19.09.2018 and, entered into force 
accordingly 

• Communique (VII-128.7.c) amending the 
Communique (VII-128.7) on Principles Concerning 
Licensing and Registrations for Those Operating in 
Capital Market published on the Official Gazette, 
issue no. 30577 on 26.10.2018 and, entered into 
force accordingly

• Communique (IV-87.1) on Principles on Reporting 
for Data Storage Companies published on the 
Official Gazette, issue no. 30578 on 27.10.2018 and, 
entered into force accordingly

• Communique (III-59.1c) amending the Communique 
(III-59.1) on Secured Shares published on the Official 
Gazette, issue no. 30592 on 11.11.2018 and, entered 
into force accordingly

• Communique (III-58.1.a) amending the 
Communique (III-58.1) on Shares Based on Assets 
and Mortgages published on the Official Gazette, 
issue no. 30592 on 11.11.2018 and, entered into force 
accordingly

• Communique (II-15.1.c) amending the Communique 
(II-15.1) on Special Cases published on the Official 
Gazette, issue no. 30598 on 17.11.2018 and, entered 
into force accordingly

• Communique (III-52.3.ç) amending the 
Communique (III-52.3) on Real Estate Investment 
Trusts published on the Official Gazette, issue 
no. 30631 on 20.12.2018 and, entered into force 
accordingly

and the legal amendments in the previous periods 
are considered since these may affect the business 
operations of our company.
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Information on the Conflicts of Interest coming 
into existence between the Company and the 
Institutions from which the Company gets 
Service on Subjects relating to Consultancy, 
Valuation and Rating and the Measures taken by 
the Company in order to prevent those Conflicts 
of Interest 

Our Company has not had any conflict of interest and 
disagreement with Epos Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık 
ve Değerleme A.Ş. from which it has procured real 
estate valuation service for Doğuş Center Maslak, 
Antalya 2000 Plaza, Doğuş Center Etiler, D-Office 
Maslak within the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018. Our 
Company acts meticulously for conflicts of interest not 
to come into existence with the agreements made 
and in-company regulations of ours.

Our Company has not had any conflict of interest and 
disagreement with TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme 
A.Ş. from which it has procured real estate valuation 
service for Gebze Center Shopping Center and Hotel, 
Auto Showroom and Service within the period of 
01.01.2018-31.12.2018. Our Company acts meticulously 
for conflicts of interest not to come into existence with 
the agreements made and in-company regulations 
of ours.

Our Company has not had any conflict of interest 
and disagreement with Kobirate Uluslararası Kredi 
Derecelendirme ve Kurumsal Yönetim Hizmetleri 
A.Ş. from which it has procured rating service within 
the period of 14.12.2018-13.12.2019 in the period of 
01.01.2018-31.12.2018. Our Company acts meticulously 
for conflicts of interest not to come into existence with 
the agreements made and in-company regulations 
of ours.

Our Company has not had any conflict of interest 
and disagreement with DRT Bağımsız Denetim ve 
SMMM (Deloitte). from which it has procured internal 
service within the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018. Our 
Company acts meticulously for conflicts of interest not 
to come into existence with the agreements made 
and in-company regulations of ours.

Within the scope of business secret, our Company 
takes care sensitively for the confidentiality of related 
of information with respect to the clients and suppliers.

Our Company does not get investment consultancy 
service.

Information in relation to Mutual Participations 
exceeding 5%

Our Company does not have any mutual participation 
within this scope.

Guarantees, Pledges, Mortgages and Sureties

A loan was made available by Şirket Credit Europe 
Bank N.V. in the amount of Euro 100,000,000 with 
interest rates of 5% fixed for the first year and of Euribor 
+ 5% and, repaid on the capital and interests in such 
amounts varying once every 3 months, for 6 years and, 
repayment of Euro 66,500,000. 

The agreement conditions concerning this loan are 
as follows:

The rental incomes of the Company concerning the 
Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom 
shall be collected in Fibabanka A.Ş. and, a pledge was 
put by Credit Europe Bank N.V. on the respective bank 
accounts concerning the said rental incomes.

A transfer of receivables agreement is signed 
concerning the rental incomes of the Company for the 
Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom 
Project and, the receivables was assigned to Credit 
Europe Bank N.V.

A 1st degree mortgage was established on the 
Company’s Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and 
Showroom Project in the amount of Euro 100,000,000 
in favor of Credit Europe Bank N.V. 

The disclosure in relation to this subject has been 
presented to shareholders for their information in the 
extraordinary general assembly held on 31.01.2019. 

Our Corporate Social Responsibilities

Doğuş GYO A.Ş. aims to contribute to the social, 
cultural, artistic and economic development of the 
regions, where it performs its projects, and carries out 
social responsibility projects to that end. Our company 
acts with the understanding of social responsibility in 
all types of business operations and, attaches great 
importance to the compliance with the applicable 
laws and environmental values. There is no legal case 
initiated against the Company due to any harm to the 
environment within this period. 

Notwithstanding, in order to minimize the negative 
impacts caused by the Doğuş Group to the ecological 
environment, plastic and paper waste is collected and 
separated within the company and, regularly sent to 
Ayhan Şahenk Foundation.
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DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
AGENDA OF THE ORDINARY GENERAL MEETING 
HELD ON MARCH 28, 2019 

1. Opening and formation of the Meeting Chairmanship,

2. Authorizing the Meeting Committee to sign the 
minutes of the Meeting and the list of attendees,

3. Reading, Deliberating and Approving the Annual 
Report of the Board of Directors for 2018,

4. Reading the Independent Auditing Report Summary 
in relation to the accounting period of 2018,

5. Reading, Deliberating and Approving the Financial 
Statements in relation to the Accounting Period of 2018

6. Approving the changes in the members of the Board 
of Directors within the year as per the article 363 of the 
Turkish Commercial Code,

7. Releasing the Members of the Board of Directors 
separately because of the activities of the Company 
for 2018,

8. Deliberating and voting the proposal of the Board 
of Directors in relation to the Operating Profit of 2018 
prepared within the scope of the Dividend Policy of 
the Company

9. Informing the shareholders within the framework 
of Article 37 of the “Communiqué on the Principles in 
relation to Real Estate Investment Trusts” with Number 
III-48.1 of the Capital Markets Board,
 
10. Presenting information regarding persons whose 
candidateship for the Membership to the Board of 
Directors is proposed in accordance with Article 1.3.1.c 
of the Communiqué No.II-17.1 in relation to Corporate 
Governance Principles of the Capital Markets Board 

11. Election of the Members of the Board of Directors 
and determination of their office periods,

12. Determination of the Attendance Fee of the Members 
of the Board of Directors,

13. Informing the shareholders regarding the 
“Remuneration Policy” for the members of the Board 
of Directors and senior managers and the payments 
made within the scope of the policy in accordance with 
the Corporate Governance Policy;

14. Approval of PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest 
Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş., the independent audit 
company, determined by the Board of Directors as 
auditor for the accounting period of 2019 in accordance 
with the regulations of the Turkish Commercial Code 
and the Capital Markets Board;

15. Informing the General Assembly regarding the 
transactions made with the related parties within 2018 
within the framework of the regulations of the Capital 
Markets Board

16. Informing the General Assembly on the donations 
and aids made in 2018 and determining an upper limit 
for donations to be able to be made in 2019

17. Informing the General Assembly on the guarantees, 
pledges, mortgages and sureties given by the Company 
and its affiliated companies for 3rd parties and the 
benefits obtained in accordance with the regulations 
of the Capital Markets Board in 2018,

18. Giving permission to the shareholders holding the 
management control of the company , members of 
the board of directors, directors with administrative 
responsibility and their spouses and relatives by blood 
and by marriage up to second degree as per the 
articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish Commercial Code, 
and informing the General Assembly regarding such 
transactions carried out within 2018 in accordance with 
Article 1.3.6. of the Communiqué (II-17.1) on Corporate 
Governance published by the Capital Markets Board;

19. Wishes and proposals

ORDINARY GENERAL 
MEETING AGENDA 

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION 
POLICY
There is no privilege in respect of profit distribution 
within the Company.

The Board of Directors prepares its proposal for profit 
distribution and submits it to the General Meeting for 
approval in accordance with the pertinent provisions 
of the Capital Market Legislation, Tax Legislation and 
Articles of Association concerning the profit distribution 
policy. Whether the profit is to be distributed and, 
when and how it will be distributed are discussed and 
a resolution is adopted accordingly at the respective 
General Meeting and, all notices are carried out 
within the respective legal periods set forth under 
the pertinent legislation. 
 
The Company complies with the respective 
arrangements as set forth under the Turkish Commercial 
Code and the Capital Market Legislation in respect of 
the profit distribution and setting aside a reserve fund.

A balanced policy is followed within the profit 
distribution policy between the shareholders’ benefits 
and the partnership’s benefits.

It is obligated to set off the net losses from the current 
and previous years in the financial statements of the 
Company from the appropriate stockholder’s equity 
items. However, the losses from the previous years not 
being set off due to a requirement from the legislation 
or a tax obligation may be subject to a deduction for 
the determination of the net distributable profit.

Accordingly;
The amount left after the losses from the previous 
years are deducted from the net profit as seen in 
the annual balance sheet and left after the amounts 
that need to be paid and set aside by the company 
pursuant to the general accounting principles such 
as general expenses and various depreciation values 
of the Company and the provisions set aside for such 
taxes and financial liabilities that need to be paid 
by the Company will be distributed according to the 
following order and principles:

Primary Legal Reserve

a. 5% of the remaining amount will be allocated 
as primary legal reserve until it amounts to 20% of 
the paid-in capital as per Article 519 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code.

First Dividend

b. From the tax base which is calculated by adding 
donations granted within the related fiscal year, if 
any, to the remaining amount, the first dividend is 
distributed with the amount decided by the General 
Meeting as per the Company’s profit distribution policy, 
provided that it does not remain below the rate and 
amount specified by the Capital Markets Board.   

Second Dividend

c. After the deduction of items mentioned in paragraphs 
(a) and (b) from the net profit, the General Meeting is 
authorized to distribute the remaining portion partially 
or totally as second dividend, retain it as year-end 
profit in the balance sheet, add it to legal or voluntary 
reserves, or allocate it as extraordinary reserves.

Secondary Legal Reserve

d. As per Article 519, paragraph 2, sub-paragraph (c) in 
the Turkish Commercial Code, secondary legal reserve 
is allocated. 

e. Unless necessary legal reserves are set aside as 
required by law and the first dividend is reserved for 
shareholders as specified in Articles of Association, 
the Company cannot decide to set aside any other 
reserves, to transfer them to the following year as profit, 
or to distribute dividends to members of the Board 
of Directors or officials, clerks, and workers, as much 
as dividends cannot be distributed to these people 
unless the allocated first dividend is paid.

f. As per Article 20 in the Capital Markets Law, advance 
dividends can be distributed to shareholders. 
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Profit Distribution Time 

When and how the annual profit shall be distributed 
shall be decided at a General Meeting of Shareholders 
upon the proposal of the Board of Directors considering 
the respective arrangements of the Capital Market 
Board. No profit distributed as per the respective 
provisions of the articles of association shall be taken 
back.

The procedures corresponding to the profit distribution 
shall be performed and carried out within the legal 
periods as set forth under the pertinent legislations.

The dividend may be paid in equal or different 
installments provided that it shall have been decided 
at a General Meeting of Shareholders. The payment 
of the dividend in installments shall take place as per 
the Capital Market Legislations.

The dividends are equally distributed to the existence 
shares as the distribution date irrespective of the dates 
of issuance and acquisition thereof. 

As per the pertinent provisions of article 20 of the 
Capital Market Law, the total dividend advance that 
may be given in an accountancy period may not 
exceed half of the profit obtained in the previous 
period. No decision may be made to grant additional 
dividend advances and distribute dividends unless 
the dividend advances made in the previous periods 
have been set off.

The proposal of the Board of Directors concerning 
the profit distribution or the resolution of the Board 
of Directors concerning the distribution of dividend 
advances as well as the dividend statement and the 
dividend advance statement, the form and content 
of which is determined at a General Meeting of 
Shareholders, shall be disclosed to the public as per 
the pertinent arrangements of the General Meeting 
of Shareholders concerning special case disclosures. 
The dividend statement must be disclosed to the 
public not later than the date the agenda items of the 

respective Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 
have been announced.

Where and when the dividend, for which a 
resolution has been adopted at a General Meeting 
of Shareholders, shall be disclosed to the public by 
means of a newspaper published where the registered 
office is situated, of a special case disclosure through 
the Public Disclosure Platform and, the website of 
the Company.

The dividend amount decided at a General Meeting of 
Shareholders to be distributed to a non-shareholder 
shall be paid in proportion to the installment payments 
made to the shareholders and as per the same 
principles and methods.

In case of an amendment to the dividend policy, the 
resolution of the Board of Directors and the reason 
of the said amendment shall be disclosed to the 
public as per the arrangements in connection with 
the special case disclosures.

With the resolution number 441 dated 27.06.2016 of 
the Board of Directors of the Company, the Profit 
Distribution of the Company was revised and announced 
on Public Disclosure Platform on 28.06.2016. It was 
submitted to the General Meeting for approval on 
the General Meeting held on 28.03.2017 and, it was 
unanimously resolved to approve the same.

Dividend Distribution for 2017 

The Dividend Statements are made available in 
the “Dividend Statement” in the section “Investors 
Relations” in the General Meeting for 2017 held on 
28.03.2018 through the website: www.dogusgyo.com.tr

According to the financial statements prepared as 
non-consolidated for the accounting period of January 
1, 2017 – December 31, 2017 in accordance with the 
Turkish Accounting Standards/ Turkish Financial 
Reporting Standards (TMS/ TFRS) under the scope 
of the Capital Board Market’s Communique (II-14.1) 

DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT FOR 2018

1. Paid-in / Issued Capital 332.007.786,00

2. General Legal Reserves (according to legal records) 5.056.294,50

INFORMATION ON WHETHER THERE IS PREFERENCE IN THE 
DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION AS PER THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

NONE

ACCORDING TO CMB ACCORDING TO LEGAL RECORDS (LR)

3. Profit for the Period 3,933,529.00 -64,671,667.63

4. Taxes (-) 0.00 0.00

5. Net Profit for the Period (=) 3,933,529.00 -64,671,667.63

6. Accumulated Losses (-) 0.00 0.00

7. General Legal Reserves (-) 0.00 0.00

8. DISTRIBUTABLE NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD (=) 3,933,529.00 0.00

9. Donations during the Year (+) 0.00

10. Distributable Net Profit for the Period including Donations 3,933,529.00

11.

First Dividend to Shareholders 0.00

- Cash

- Bonus

- Total

12. Dividend Distributed to Preference Shareholders 0.00

13. Other Distributed Dividends 0.00

- Members of Board of Directors

- Employees

- Non-Shareholders Non-Shareholders

14. Dividend Distributed to the Redeemed Shareholders 0.00

15. Second Dividend to Shareholders 0.00

16. General Legal Reserves 0.00

17. Statutory Reserves 0.00 0.00

18. Special Reserves 0.00 0.00

19. EXTRAORDINARY RESERVES 3,933,529.00 0.00

20. Other Liabilities Available for Distribution 0.00 0.00

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION 
STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF DIVIDEND RATES

GROUP TOTAL DISTRIBUTED DIVIDEND TOTAL DISTRIBUTED DIVIDEND / 
NET DISTRIBUTABLE PROFIT FOR 

THE PERIOD

DIVIDEND CORRESPONDING TO A 
SHARE OF 1 TL NOMINAL VALUE

czxc CASH (TL) BONUS (TL) RATE (%) AMOUNT (TL) RATE (%)

NET

A 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

B 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL 0.00 0.00  0.00 0.00 0.00 

The term of share affiliate is used to include the parent company’s subsidiaries,affiliates and joint ventures.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Report Period    :2018
Corporate Name  :DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL   
                              YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.
Mersis Number    :0648-0081-4890-0019
Registered Office :Doğuş Center Maslak, Maslak   
     Mah. Ahi Evran Cad. No:4/7   
     Maslak Sarıyer İSTANBUL

CONTACT INFORMATION
   
Phone     : 0 212 335 28 50
Fax     : 0 212 335 28 99
E-mail Address    : info@dogusgyo.com.tr
Website Sitesi    : www.dogusgyo.com.tr

This report has been prepared within the scope 
of Articles 9- 10 of the Communiqué No. II-17.1 on 
Corporate Governance of the Capital Markets Board 
and in accordance with Article 199 of the Turkish 
Commercial Code No. 6102.

As per Article 199 in the Turkish Commercial Code No. 
6102, for a company affiliated to a group of companies, 
the Board of Directors should prepare a report on 
the relations between the holding company and the 
affiliated companies in the first three months of the 
year. The report gives account of all legal transactions 
performed by the company in the previous year of 
activity with the controlling company, a company 
affiliated to the controlling company, on behalf 
of the controlling company or any of its affiliated 
companies as guided by the controlling company 
and all other measures taken or avoided on behalf 
of the controlling company or any of its affiliated 
companies in the previous year of activity. Statements 
about legal transactions should include actions and 
counteractions, while explanations on measures should 
include reasons, as well as benefits and damages to the 
Company. If damages were offset, the report should 
also include how this was actually accomplished within 
the year of activity or for which benefits was the right 
to demand granted.  

As per Article 9 and 10 of the Capital Markets Board 
Communiqué No. II-17.1 on Corporate Governance, 
publicly-traded companies are required to prepare a 
report with respect to the common and continuous 
transactions between their related parties. This is done 
in cases where it is foreseen that a rate more than 
10 percent may be achieved in respect of the rate 
of the transaction amount comparing to the total 
asset as per the latest financial statements disclosed 
to public or to the revenue amount as per the latest 
financial statements disclosed to public. This report or 
its result is also required to be disclosed on the Public 
Disclosure Platform.

Such a report was issued on the relations of Doğuş 
REIT with its holding company and its subsidiaries 
in accordance with principles of accurate and fair 
accountability, as per Article 199 in the Turkish 
Commercial Code No. 6102 and Articles 9 and 10 in 
the Capital Markets Board Communiqué No. 11-17.1 on 
Corporate Governance.

INFORMATION ON THE HOLDING COMPANY 
AND ITS AFFILIATES

It continues to operate under Doğuş Group and the 
group of companies composed of its affiliates. Doğuş 
Group of Companies operates in seven industries, 
including automotive, construction, media, tourism 
and services, real estate, energy, and catering.

RELATIONS WITH HOLDING COMPANY AND ITS 
AFFILIATES

The Company has mutual business relations with 
companies under Doğuş Group as per related laws 
and regulations. Transactions performed are priced 
according to Article 13 “Disguised profit distribution 
through transfer” in Corporate Tax Law No. 5520 of 
01.01.2007.  

AFFILIATION REPORT 2018 
AND OTHER ISSUES

TRANSACTIONS CARRIED OUT IN 2018

38% of the sales revenues of the Company consist of 
the following transactions taking place with the group 
companies affiliated with our main partner. 

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

TRADE RECEIVABLES FROM RELATED PARTIES:

Doğuş Yayın Grubu A.Ş. 1,933,145 -

DG Financial Advisers LTD 398,681 -

Doğuş Spor Kompleksi Yat. ve İşl. A.Ş. 166,453 -

Doğuş Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. - 116,030

Doğuş Perakende Satış Giyim ve Aksesuar Tic. A.Ş. - -

Doğuş Oto Pazarlama ve Ticaret A.Ş. - 22,073

Kral Müzik Medya Hizm. A.Ş. 73,395 -

TOTAL 2,571,674 138,103

As of December 31, 2018, there is no conditional 
liabilities of the Company to the related parties that 
may occur if the guarantee granted by the related 
parties continues, concerning the loan of TL 17,004,145 
to be made available (December 31, 2017: TL 1,622,542). 
There is not any guarantee received from related 
parties as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018:

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

DEBTS TO RELATED PARTIES:

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 33,789,345 942,855

Doğuş Center Maslak Yöneticiliği 91,060 42,028

Doğuş Bilgi işlem ve Teknoloji Hizmetleri A.Ş. 31,599 15,387

Antur Turizm A.Ş. 4,557 3,772

Doğuş Turizm Sağlık Yatırım ve İşl. San. Tic. A.Ş. 609 -

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. - 449,350

VDF Filo Kiralama A.Ş. 81 -

TOTAL 33,917,251 1,453,392

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

DEFERRED INCOMES FROM RELATED PARTIES :

Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. 2,164,101 -

TOTAL 2,164,101 -
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES:
The summary of the transactions made by the Company 
with the related parties for the years ending on the 
dates of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017: 

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

RENTAL INCOMES

Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. 21,009,803 16,097,346

Doğuş Yayın Grubu A.Ş. 9,453,483 7,650,191

Doğuş Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. 4,596,769 -

Doğuş Otomotiv Servis ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,453,304 1,155,062

DG Financial Advisers Ltd. 782,700 -

Doğuş Spor Kompleksi Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 692,501 442,496

Kral Müzik Medya Hizm. A.Ş. 220,084 174,639

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 69,204 55,530

Doğuş Perakende Satış Giyim ve Aks. Tic. A.Ş. 35,628 -

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 18,097 14,521

TOTAL 38,331,573 25,589,785

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

SERVICE EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 958,842 812,330

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 163,017 188,991

Doğuş Bilgi işlem ve Teknoloji Hizmetleri A.Ş. 156,747 114,570

VDF Filo Kiralama A.Ş. 101,024 -

Antur Turizm A.Ş. 8,794 100,329

Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. 8 140,396

TOTAL 1,388,432 1,356,616

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

SERVICE PROCUREMENT

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 1,112,184 2,669,242

TOTAL 1,112,184 2,669,242

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

PURCHASE OF INVESTMENT REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 525,690,000 -

Doğuş Turizm Sağlık Yatırım ve İşl. San. Tic. A.Ş. 62,900,000 -

TOTAL 588,590,000 -

In all of rental service and asset purchase relations, 
the lower limit is the rent and asset values fixed by 
the Real Estate Appraisal Company authorized by the 
Capital Markets Board. This lower limit is respected 
in all actual rent relations.

Balance of a trade payables of the Company to an 
affiliate as of 2018 has occurred due to the purchase 
of the D-Office Building from the affiliate considering 
the real estate appraisal report issued by a real estate 
appraisal company.

The aforementioned transactions with the holding 
company and its affiliates were ordinary commercial 
transactions and their conditions were not specified 
under the guidance of the holding company or in favor 
of any other company. The pricing of such commercial 
transactions does not take into consideration whether 
the other party is the holding or affiliated company.
In order to comply with transfer pricing principles 
specified in Article 13 in the Corporate Tax Law 
No. 5520, the Company observed an arm’s length 
principle in its relations with the holding company 
and its affiliates, paying attention to performing the 
transactions with such companies in the same way 
with unrelated companies. The arm’s length principle 
requires that the price or consideration charged for 
the purchase or sale of goods or services between 
related parties should be the price or consideration 
which would have been occurred in the absence of 
such a relationship between them.

The arm’s length principle was observed in the pricing 
of transactions with holding company and its affiliates 
and the holding company did not use its holding 
capacity in such as a manner as to cause loss for the 
Company. In addition, the holding company and its 
affiliates did not prompt the Company to perform 
any business, asset, funds, personnel, debit and credit 
transfer, or legal transactions which might cause loss; 
to reduce or transfer its profit; to limit its assets to 
real or personal rights; to pledge, afford warrant or 
sign a surety; to make payments; to take decisions or 
measures which might affect negatively its efficiency or 

activity, including renovation of its facilities, restriction 
or  interruption of its investments without any reason; 
or to avoid taking measures which might help the 
Company develop.

Conclusion

Transactions performed by Doğuş REIT with related 
parties defined in International Accounting Standard 
No. 24 (IAS 24), as per the Capital Market legislation, 
did not result against to the Company, provided that 
they did not fall under the term of commercial secret 
and its conditions were specified and compared with 
market conditions. 
 
Transactions performed in 2018 by Doğuş REIT with 
holding company and its affiliated companies under 
the Group of Companies are usual commercial activities 
and there were no transactions performed in favor 
of the holding company and its affiliates in violation 
of the arm’s length principle in 2018. Therefore, no 
legal action was taken against the Company, which, 
in turn, did not have to take counteractions. So, there 
was no measure or loss compensation taken by the 
Company in relation with its transactions with the 
holding company and its affiliates as per Article 199 
in the Turkish Commercial Code and Articles 9-10 in 
the Capital Markets Board Communiqué No. II-17.1 on 
Corporate Governance.

We hereby declare that in respect of all the transactions 
carried out in the activity year of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018, 
no benefit has been granted to the controlling 
company or an affiliate thereof in the direction of 
the controlling company and, there has been no set 
off against the interests or losses of the controlling 
shareholder. 
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DETAILS ON RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS:

The balance amounts of the transactions with the 
related parties of the Company are as follows as of 
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

TRADE RECEIVABLES FROM RELATED PARTIES:

Doğuş Yayın Grubu A.Ş. 1,933,145 -

DG Financial Advisers Ltd. 398,681 -

Doğuş Spor Kompleksi Yat. ve İşl. A.Ş. 166,453 -

Doğuş Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. - 116,030

Doğuş Perakende Satış Giyim ve Aksesuar Tic. A.Ş. - -

Doğuş Oto Pazarlama ve Ticaret A.Ş. - 22,073

Kral Müzik Medya Hizm. A.Ş. 73,395 -

TOTAL 2,571,674 138,103

As of December 31, 2018, there is no conditional 
liabilities of the Company to the related parties 
that may occur if the guarantee granted by the 
related parties continues, concerning the loan of TL 
17,004,145 to be made available (December 31, 2017: 
TL 1,622,542). There is not any guarantee received 
from related parties as of December 31, 2017 and 
December 31, 2018: 

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

TRADE DEBTS TO RELATED PARTIES:

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 33,789,345 942,855

Doğuş Power Center Maslak Yöneticiliği 91,060 42,028

Doğuş Bilgi İşlem ve Teknoloji Hizmetleri A.Ş. 31,599 15,387

Antur Turizm A.Ş. 4,557 3,772

Doğuş Turizm Sağlık Yatırım ve İşl. San. Tic. A.Ş. 609 -

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. - 449,350

VDF Filo Kiralama A.Ş. 81 -

TOTAL 33,917,251 1,453,392

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

DEFERRED INCOMES FROM RELATED PARTIES

Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. 2,164,101 -

TOTAL 2,164,101 -

OTHER ISSUES

Transactions with related parties

The summary of the transactions made by the 
Company with the related parties for the years ending 
on the dates of December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

RENTAL INCOMES

Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. 21,009,803 16,097,346

Doğuş Yayın Grubu A.Ş. 9,453,483 7,650,191

Doğuş Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. 4,596,769 -

Doğuş Otomotiv Servis ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,453,304 1,155,062

DG Financial Advisers Ltd. 782,700 -

Doğuş Spor Kompleksi Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 692,501 442,496

Kral Müzik Medya Hizm. A.Ş. 220,084 174,639

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 69,204 55,530

Doğuş Perakende Satış Giyim ve Aks. Tic. A.Ş. 35,628 -

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 18,097 14,521

TOTAL 38,331,573 25,589,785

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER2017

SERVICE EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 958,842 812,330

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 163,017 188,991

Doğuş Bilgi İşlem ve Teknoloji Hizmetleri A.Ş. 156,747 114,570

VDF Filo Kiralama A.Ş. 101,024 -

Antur Turizm A.Ş. 8,794 100,329

Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. 8 140,396

TOTAL 1,388,432 1,356,616

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

SERVICE PROCUREMENT

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 1,112,184 2,669,242

TOTAL 1,112,184 2,669,242

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

PURCHASE OF INVESTMENT REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES

Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 525,690,000 -

Doğuş Turizm Sağlık Yatırım ve İşl. San. Tic. A.Ş. 62,900,000 -

TOTAL 588,590,000 -
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38% of the sales incomes of the Company (December 
31, 2017: 35%) is from the related companies.

Information on Personnel and Employee 
Movements, Collective Agreement Practices, Rights 
and Benefits provided to Personnel and Employees 
and the Professional Training of the Personnel

The Company has “Human Resources and Training 
Policy” and “Personnel Backup Policy” accepted with 
the resolution number 2015/421 dated 20.07.2015. In 
addition, the respective applications of the Doğuş Group 
are followed in this respect. A Personnel Compensation 
Policy is available within the Company, which was 
approved as a result of the meeting of the Board of 
Directors no. 2014/400 of 30.12.2014. These policies are 
updated when necessary. 

Along with the provision of salary, food to employees 
in the workplace, other social rights are provided in full 
as referred to in the Labor Law. 10 of the employees are 
within the scope of health and life insurance maintained 
by the Company. 

Employees were provided with the opportunity to receive 
professional training and foreign language education 
for 327 hours within the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018.

There is not any practice of collective agreement in the 
Company. 

The freedom of the personnel to establish association 
has not been restricted on condition that they obtain 
permission. Our Company’s severance pay obligation 
seen in legal records as of 31.12.2018 is TL 432,997 and its 
severance pay obligation seen in the financial statements 
prepared in accordance with the financial reporting 
standards adopted by the Capital Markets Board is
TL 330,769 (31.12.2017: TL 296,476).

TL 381,615 (31.12.2017: 501,057) has been reserved as the 
provision of the unused leave.

There is a personnel succession policy that is applied 
within the Company.

Other Points that may be beneficial for Users and 
Disclosures on Significant Events arising after 
Closure of the Accounting Period

During the meeting of the Board of Directors held 
on 01.02.2019;

The Company signed an agreement on February 1, 2019 
so that there shall be an increase by TL 3,000,000 
+ VAT for the first year and, then depending on the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) in the subsequent years 
concerning the D-Office Maslak Building.

A disclosure was made on the same date through 
the Public Disclosure Platform..

During the meeting of the Board of Directors held 
on 24.01.2019;

The Company used a credit from Halkbank A.Ş. on 
January 26, 2017” in the amount of Euro 20,000,000 
under the scope of the “Project Financing”, with a 
grace period of the first year for the capital, on which 
the interest will be paid once every 3 months, for a 
repayment period of 5 years, a fixed interest of 6% and, 
a mutual agreement was made with Halkbank A.Ş. 
on January 28, 2019 that the first capital repayment 
of Euro 5,000,000 will be postponed, as disclosed 
on January 24, 2019 through the Public Disclosure 
Platform.

During the meeting of the Board of Directors held 
on 08.01.2019;

The board of directors duly met with the attendance 
of the above-mentioned members of the board 
of director. It was determined that the quorum 
for meeting was established as per the articles of 
association.

The below-mentioned agenda items were 
deliberated:

a.  The Extraordinary General Meeting of our 
Company shall be held on January 31, 2019, Thursday 

at 11.00 in the registered office located in Maslak 
Mah. Ahi Evran Cad. No:4/7 Doğuş Center Maslak 
34398 Maslak-Sarıyer/İstanbul,

b. The agenda items of the meeting shall be as 
follows,

c. The procedure regarding the Extraordinary 
General Meeting shall be followed by and complied 
with,

An application shall be made to the Ministry of 
Customs and Trade, Istanbul Provincial Directorate 
for the appointment of a Ministerial Representative, 
hereby resolved. A disclosure was made on the same 
date through the Public Disclosure Platform..

In addition, a disclosure was made on 31.01.2019 in 
respect of the results of the Extraordinary General 
Meeting and, a disclosure was made on 05.02.2019 
in respect of the registration thereof through the 
Public Disclosure Platform.

Within the period of 01.01.2018–31.12.2018,  at the 
meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company 
held on 24.12.2018;

A loan was made available by Şirket Credit Europe 
Bank N.V. in the amount of Euro 100,000,000 with 
interest rates of 5% fixed for the first year and of Euribor 
+ 5% and, repaid on the capital and interests in such 
amounts varying once every 3 months, for 6 years 
and, repayment of Euro 66,500,000. 

The agreement conditions concerning this loan are 
as follows:

The rental incomes of the Company concerning the 
Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom 
shall be collected in Fibabanka A.Ş. and, a pledge shall 
be put by Credit Europe Bank N.V. on the respective 
bank accounts concerning the said rental incomes.

A transfer of receivables agreement shall be signed 
concerning the rental incomes of the Company for the 
Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom 
Project and, the receivables shall be assigned to Credit 
Europe Bank N.V.

A 1st degree mortgage shall be established on the 
Company’s Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and 
Showroom Project in the amount of Euro 100,000,000,

The management and rental consultancy services for 
the Company’s Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel 
and Showroom Project shall be carried out FİBA CP 
Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. and Fiba Ticari Gayrimenkul 
Yatırımları A.Ş. as of 2019. 

Since the mortgage established on the Gebze 
Center Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom of the 
Company means that a real right is established on 
a substantial part of the assets and, the purchase of 
the D-Office Maslak Building means that a substantial 
asset is acquired from a related party, it was stated that 
the shareholders are entitled to the right of leaving 
as per the article 24 of the Capital Market Board No. 
6362, and the payment to the shareholders who fulfill 
the requirements regarding this right of leaving shall 
be met by the Company.

A 1st degree mortgage was established on the 
Company’s Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and 
Showroom Project in the amount of Euro 100,000,000 
in favor of Credit Europe Bank N.V.

A disclosure was made on the same date through 
the Public Disclosure Platform..
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The risks to which the Company is exposed are divided 
into three main categories: financial risks (loans, 
exchange rates, liquidity and, capital risks), operational 
risks and legal risks. 

Since the internal control unit has not been established 
yet within the Company, the internal control activities 
are carried out under the control of the Financial 
Affairs Department and, the Company is audited from 
time to time by the internal audit department of 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş. and, the results are forwarded to 
the senior management and the Board of Directors.

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 
February 12, 2018;
It was unanimously resolved as a result of the respective 
efforts of the Audit Committee to approve the resolution 
adopted by the Board of Directors concerning the 
engagement of DRT (Deloitte) Bağımsız Denetim ve 
SMMM A.Ş. in 2018 to enhance the efficiency of the 
internal audit, and improve the respective business 
processes to ensure that the internal audit procedures 
are carried out as per the respective International 
Internal Audit Standards by means of outsourcing, to 
report the same and, provide suggestions concerning 
the findings therefrom, and the same was announced 
at the Public Disclosure Platform (PDP) on 12.02.2018.

It is aimed to keep a certain balance between the 
development projects through the leasable real 
properties and, in this manner, ensure that the 
Company has all the time a strong cash flow and, benefit 
from the higher development profits and growth 
potentials as may be provided by the development 
projects. The efficiency and liquidity principles are 
always considered to be of high importance in the 
portfolios of the Company All the required actions are 
taken to increase the returns for the real properties 
listed in the portfolio, the efficiencies of which tend to 
decline and, the opportunities are used for the sales 
thereof, if necessary. The liquidity is all the time kept 

strong and, the cash and security portfolio is actively 
and professionally managed. It is always aimed that 
the investments yield in such return higher than the 
alternatives and the resource costs thereof. 

The independent audit reports issued periodically for 
the Company contains the detailed information on 
the types of the risks to which the Company may 
be exposed and, such information is disclosed to 
the public and, made available to the shareholders 
through the corporate website. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL MECHANISM

At the meeting of the Board of Directors of Doğuş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. no. 355 held on 
04.04.2013, considering the pertinent provisions as set 
forth under the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102 
and, the Capital Market Board Corporate Governance 
Principles, Early Detection of Risk Committee was 
formed for the purpose of early detection of such 
risks that may endanger the existence, improvement 
and continuity of the Company, the enforcement of 
necessary actions concerning such risks detected 
and, the risk management. The formation, structure 
and the operating principles of this committee are 
described in the Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Report.

The Early Detection of Risk Committee has met 7 
(seven) times between 01.01.2018-31.12.2018 in line 
with the respective principles for its duties and tasks 
and, the results of this meetings were kept at the 
respective minutes and submitted to the board of 
directors.

At the committee meeting no. 2018-07 of 28.12.2018, 
the Early Detection of Risk Committee has assessed 
in a general manner the financial structure of the 
Company and the risks pertaining thereto in 2018 
and, submitted the same to the Board of Directors 
for information and approval.

At the committee meeting no. 2018-07, it has informed 
that the preliminary efforts have been started to create 
the internal control system that needs to be formed 
to supervise the efficiency of the internal control and 
internal audit as per the pertinent provisions of the 
Corporate Governance Comminique, Serial No. II-17-1, 
article 4.5.9.

EARLY DETECTION OF RISK 
COMMITTEE
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SECTION I - STATEMENT FOR THE COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
PRINCIPLES  

The OECD Principles of Corporate Governance published 
in 1999 was revised 2004 and 2015. The last revision 
process started as from 2012, continued within 2014 
and 2015 and, then accepted by the OECD Council 
on July 8, 2015. 

The Capital Market Board’s Corporate Governance 
Principles adopted by the resolution no. 35/835 of 
04.07.2003 of the Capital Market Board and published 
for the first time in Turkey have been updated for five 
times in 2005, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013. Most recently, 
the Corporate Governance Communique (II-17.1) was 
published in the Official Journal no. 28871 on 03.01.2014 
and, entered into force accordingly. 

A new format of the Report on the Compliance with 
the Corporate Governance Principles which is to be 
prepared in the annex to the annual report for 2018 in 
line with the announcement as per the resolution of 
the Board Decision Body no. 2/49 on 10.01.2019 in the 
Capital Market Board Bulletin no. 2019/2 of 10.01.2019. 

Our Report on the Compliance with the Corporate 
Governance Principles for 01.01.2018–31.12.2018 is hereby 
submitted accordingly.

The OECD Principles of Corporate Governance published 
in 1999 was revised 2004 and 2015. The last revision 
process started as from 2012, continued within 2014 
and 2015 and, then accepted by the OECD Council 
on July 8, 2015. 

RATING FOR THE COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

Agreements have been entered into between Doğuş 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. and Kobirate 

Uluslararası Kredi Derecelendirme ve Kurumsal Yönetim 
Hizmetleri A.Ş., a company with an official authorization 
to perform ratings in accordance with the Capital Market 
Board’s Communique Serial VIII No 51 on the Principles 
for Rating Agencies in Capital Markets, on 15.12.2014, 
15.12.2015, 14.12.2016, 14.12.2017 and 14.12.2018, under 
which the latter would prepare a report on the Rating 
for the Compliance with the Corporate Governance 
Principles, and this has been disclosed on the Public 
Disclosure Platform.

the report for the period of 07.07.2015-07.07.2016 
was published on 07.07.2015,

the report for the period of 28.06.2016-28.06.2017 
was published on 28.06.2016,

the report for the period of 31.05.2017-31.05.2018 was 
published on 31.05.2017,

the report for the period of 31.05.2018-31.05.2019 was 
published on 31.05.2018 and the respective disclosures 
have been made on the Public Disclosure Platform 
(www.kap.org.tr).

The first rating of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. on the Compliance with the Corporate Governance 
Principles for the period of 31.05.2018-31.05.2019  was 
9.28.

REPORT ON THE COMPLIANCE WITH 
THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
PRINCIPLES 

As a result of the fact that our Corporate Governance 
Principles Compliance Rating Score for the period 
of 28.06.2016–28.06.2017 increased by 11.36% to the 
level of 8.92 compared to the previous assessment, our 
Company is entitled to the award for the company that 
has increased its score the most in the BIST Corporate 
Governance Index at the International Corporate 
Governance Summit X organized on 19.01.2017 by the 
Corporate Governance Association of Turkey (TKYD). 

As a result of the fact that our Corporate Governance 
Principles Compliance Rating Score for the period of 
31.05.2017–31.05.2018 significantly increased compared 
to the previous assessment, our Company is entitled 
successively to the award for the company that has 
increased its score the most in the BIST Corporate 
Governance Index at the International Corporate 
Governance Summit XI organized by the Corporate 
Governance Association of Turkey (TKYD). The awards 
of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., the only 
company that has received this award successively 
in Turkey, were presented to Çağan Erkan, General 
Manager.

As a leading corporation in the sector, Doğuş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. is proud of receiving this prize for 
two times succesively that proves its full compliance 
with the Corporate Governance Principles, which are 
considered to be the foundation of the Doğuş Group.

The increase in the rating of Doğuş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. for the Compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Principles has proved that it 
has significantly adopted the Capital Market Board’s 

Corporate Governance Principles, enforced the policies 
and taken the measures considered necessary to that 
end as one of the best examples in the concept of 
Governance, and greatly valued the public and its 
shareholders. 

Our report on the Rating for the Compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Principles is available in the section 
Investor Relations - Corporate Governance Compliance 
Reports on our website (www.dogusgyo.com.tr).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., took place 
in the third group of the BIST Market of Collective 
Investment Products and Restructured Products in 
2019 as disclosed in the Capital Market Bulletin no. 
2019/2 of 10.01.2019 as per the Corporate Governance 
Communique II-17.1 article 5- (2.c). 

Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., is within 
the list of Group A as of 31.12.2018.

In our activities performed and carried out between 
01.01.2018 and 31.12.2018, we have fully complied 
with the compulsory principles as per the Corporate 
Governance Communique II-17.1 published on the 
Official Journal no. 28871 of 03.01.2014 and entered 
into force accordingly, and attempted to comply with 
most of the non-compulsory principles.

The Corporate Governance Committee has met 5 (five) 
times between 01.01.2018 and 31.12.2018 in line with 

07.07.2015 28.06.2016 31.05.2017 31.05.2018

Shareholders 89.68 94.74 95.18 95.18

Public Disclosure and Transparency 78.54 88.52 95.67 97.84

Stakeholders 72.76 86.88 86.88 86.88

Board of Directors 77.43 86.85 88.43 90.01

Note 8.01 8.92 9.17 9.28
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the respective principles for its duties and tasks and, 
the results of this meetings were kept at the respective 
minutes and submitted to the board of directors. 

In addition, the Audit Committee has met 7 (seven) 
times between 01.01.2018 and 31.12.2018 in line with 
the respective principles for its duties and tasks, the 
Early Detection of Risk Committee has met 7 (seven) 
times between 01.01.2018 and 31.12.2018 in line with the 
respective principles for its duties and task and, the results 
of this meetings were kept at the respective minutes 
and submitted to the board of directors.

The internal corporate governance system practices are 
continuously developed and improved for the purpose of 
attaining a full compliance of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş with the Corporate Governance Principles.

The Corporate Governance Committee shall continue 
to make great efforts to ensure that the internal 
arrangements are carried out within the required period 
of time as per the Corporate Governance Communique 
(II-17.1) published on the Official Journal no. 28871 of 
03.01.2014 and entered into force accordingly, taking 
into consideration the developments and applications 
as per the Capital Market Law no. 6362, the pertinent 
communiques of the Capital Market Board and the 
Turkish Commercial Code no. 6102 as well as all other 
respective legislations. . 

We hereby declare that we have complied with all the 
compulsory principles as per the Corporate Governance 
Principles (II-17.1) between 01.01.2018 and 31.12.2018, 
that there has been no conflict of benefit among the 
management, stakeholders and shareholders due to 
the failure to comply with the corporate governance 
principles and, that the annual report and periodic 
financial statements reflect the true and accurate 
financial position of the company and, the company 
has fully complied with the pertinent legislations.

The Corporate Governance Committee has continued 
for the period 01.01.2018 – 31.12.2018 and, will continue 
2019 the efforts to ensure that the internal arrangements 
are of the best practices for the governance as per the 

Corporate Governance Communique II-17.1 published on 
the Official Journal no. 28871 of 03.01.2014 and entered 
into force accordingly.

There is no any plan to make any amendment to the 
management applications in terms of the corporate 
governance principles.

The responsibility statements as set forth under the 
financial statements and annual reports as per the Capital 
Market Board’s “Communique on the Principles for 
Financial Reporting in Capital Markets (II-14.1)” published 
on the Official Journal no. 28676 of 13.06.20113 are as 
follows:

a. The financial statements and annual report have 
been examined by the management accordingly,

b. There is so such deficiency in the financial 
statements and annual report that may result in the 
fact that they may contain significant misstatements 
and misleading information as of the respective dates 
to the best of their knowledge;

c. To the best of their knowledge, the financial 
statements together with those under the scope of the 
consolidation if any prepared as per this communique 
reflect the accurate and true information on the assets, 
liabilities, financial condition, profit and loss and the 
annual report together with those under the scope of 
the consolidation if any prepared accordingly reflects 
the accurate and true information on the financial 
condition of the business operations and any potential 
risks and

the financial report for the period of 01.01.2017-31.12.2017 
was disclosed on 21.02.2018

the annual report for the period of 01.01.2017-31.12.2017 
was disclosed on 28.02.2018 

the financial and annual report for the period of 
01.01.2018-31.03.2018 were disclosed on 09.05.2018

the financial and annual report for the period of 
01.01.2018-30.06.2018 were disclosed on 09.08.2018

the financial and annual report for the period of 
01.01.2018-30.09.2018 were disclosed on 08.11.2018

The financial report for the period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018 
was disclosed on 22.02.2019 through the Public Disclosure 
Platform www.kap.org.tr.

The committees formed as per the Corporate 
Governance Principles have continued their respective 
operations between 01.01.2018 and 31.12.2018 and, 
the compulsory principles as set forth under the 
Corporate Governance Communique (II-17.1) have 
been complied. We hereby declare that there has 
been no conflict of benefit among the management, 
stakeholders and shareholders due to the failure to 
comply with the corporate governance principles 
and, that the annual report and periodic financial 
statements reflect the true and accurate financial 
position of the company and, the company has fully 
complied with the pertinent legislations.

We hereby declare that all the respective requirements 
of the Corporate Governance Principles, the Capital 
Market Law and of all other pertinent legislations have 
been fully complied with in respect of the Management 
and Executive Procedures performed and carried out 
within Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., that 
the compliance with the said principles has been 
further improved in terms of the relationships with 
shareholders, stakeholders as well as of the Public 
Disclosure and the Board of Directors within the period 
of 01.01.2018 – 31.12.2018 and that there has been no 
conflict of interest in connection with the Corporate 
Governance Principles. 

We hereby declare that our committee will 
continue to act in compliance with the principles 
to provide the board of directors with the improving 
recommendations when necessary to ensure that the 
corporate governance practices are of the highest 
level of practices within the company and, that the 

developments in respect of the legislations updated 
and/or amended by the Board of Directors will be 
carefully monitored and complied with.

The Company exercises due diligence in the application 
of the principles of the Corporate Governance Principles 
issued by the Capital Market Board (CMB) during the 
accounting period of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018 and, the 
Corporate Governance Compliance Reports shall be 
disclosed through the PDP using the templates of 
the Corporate Governance Compliance Report (UFR) 
and the Corporate Governance Information Form 
(KYBF) as per the resolution no. 2/48 adopted by the 
Capital Market Board on 10.01.2019 and the Corporate 
Governance Communique Serial No. II-17.1.

In addition, the said templates relating to 2018 are 
available in the following sections of this Annual Report 
and, the said reports are also made available on the 
website of the Company, “Investors Relations”.

Corporate Governance Committee

Mustafa Sabri
DOĞRUSOY
Chairman

Murat Bahadır
TEKER
Member

Hasan Hüsnü 
GÜZELÖZ
Member
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Corporate Governance Compliance Report

COMPLIANCE STATUS

YES PARTLY NO EXEMPT IRRELEVANT REMARKS

1.1. FACILITATION OF EXERCISE OF THE 
SHAREHOLDING RIGHTS

1.1.2 - The information and disclosures that may 
affect the exercise of the shareholding rights are 
presented to investors for their use on the corporate 
website of the corporation on a daily basis. 

X

1.2. RIGHT TO DEMAND INFORMATION AND REVIEW 

1.2.1 - The company management has abstained 
from taking action complicating private audit to be 
conducted. 

X

1.3. GENERAL ASSEMBLY

1.3.2 - The company has ensured that the agenda 
of the General Assembly is expressed in an explicit 
manner and every proposal has been provided under 
a separate heading.

X

1.3.7 - Those persons having the opportunity to reach 
the corporation information in a privileged manner 
have informed the board of directors in order for 
information to be provided in the general assembly 
regarding the actions they take for them within 
the scope of the activity of the corporation for such 
information being added to the agenda.  

X Not such a situation has come into existence. 

1.3.8 - The members of the board of directors 
concerning the subjects having speciality on the 
agenda, other related persons, officials having the 
responsibility for preparation of financial statements 
and auditors have been present in the general 
assembly meeting. 

X

 1.3.10 - The amounts of all donations and aids 
and those benefitting from the same have been 
addressed in a separate item on the agenda of the 
general assembly. 

X

1.3.11 - The general assembly meeting has been held 
publicly including beneficiaries and media without 
right to speak.

X

1.4. RIGHT TO VOTE

 1.4.1 - There are not any restrictions and practices 
to complicate the exercise by shareholders of their 
rights to vote. 

X

1.4.2 - The company does not have any shares with 
voting power. X

The shares of our company have been divided 
into two groups as A and B. The Group (A) Shares 
have the privilege of nomination in election of the 
Members of the Board of Directors according to 
the Articles of Association of the Company. The 
shareholders holding the shares of our company 
have voting rights for every share they hold. Apart 
from this, there is not any privilege granting 
concession to shareholders in our Company

1.4.3 - The company has not exercised its rights to 
vote in the General Assembly of any corporation with 
which it has reciprocal participating relationship, 
which introduces the control relationship together 
with. 

X

YES PARTLY NO EXEMPT IRRELEVANT REMARKS

1.5. MINORITY RIGHTS

1.5.1 - The company has taken utmost care for causing 
the minority rights to be exercised. X

1.5.2 - The minority rights have also been granted 
to those holding a rate less than one-twentieth 
of the share capital by way of the Articles of 
Association and the scope of the minority rights 
has been regulated and expanded in the Articles of 
Association. 

X

According to Article 21 of the Articles of 
Association, in compliance of Article 411 of the 
Turkish Commercial Code, the following provision 
is prescribed: The shareholders constituting one 
twentieth of the share capital of the company may 
request in writing the board of directors to convoke 
the general assembly or, if the general assembly is 
already to convene, request the board of directors 
to put the subjects they intended to be decided 
to the agenda by stating the reasons requiring 
to do so and the respective agenda.  Besides, the 
function of informing equally and performing the 
function of investor relations are carried out to all 
shareholders without any discrimination. 

1.6. DIVIDEND RIGHT

1.6.1 - The dividend policy approved by the General 
Assembly has been disclosed on the corporate 
website of the corporation. 

X

1.6.2 - The dividend policy contains the minimum 
information of the clarity that will allow the 
shareholders to be able to foresee the procedures 
and principles of the distribution of the profit to be 
obtained by the corporation in the future periods.

X

1.6.3 - The reasons for not distributing profit and the 
way of use of the profit not distributed have been 
specified in the item of the agenda.

X

1.6.4 - The board of directors has reviewed whether a 
balance has been provided between the benefits of 
shareholders and the corporation’s benefits in terms 
of dividend policy. 

X

1.7. TRANSFER OF SHARES

1.7.1 - There is not any restriction to complicate the 
transfer of shares. X

2.1. CORPORATE WEBSITE

2.1.1 - The corporate website of the company contains 
all the elements included in the corporate gover-
nance principle number 2.1.1.

X

2.1.2 - The shareholding structure is updated every 6 
months as a minimum on the corporate website of 
the company (in terms of the names of real person 
shareholders holding more than 5% of the issued 
capital, their privileges, number of shares and their 
rate).

X

2.1.4 - The information on the corporate website 
of the company has been prepared also in other 
languages chosen based on need so that their 
content shall fully be the same as their Turkish 
version.

X
The company arranges its corporate website also in 
English and the great majority of Turkish content 
are also contained in English. 

2.2. ANNUAL REPORT 

2.2.1 - The board of directors ensures that annual re-
port reflects the activities of the company in full and 
in a complete manner.

X
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YES PARTLY NO EXEMPT IRRELEVANT REMARKS

2.2.2 - Annual report contains all the elements con-
tained in the principle with number 2.2.2. X

3.1. THE COMPANY POLICY IN RELATION TO 
BENEFICIARIES 

3.1.1 - The rights of beneficiaries are protected within 
the framework of the related regulations, agreements 
and the rules of goodwill.

X

 3.1.3 - The policies and procedures relating to the 
rights of beneficiaries are published on the corporate 
website of the company. 

X

3.1.4 - The mechanisms necessary for beneficiaries to 
notify the illegitimate and non-ethical procedures 
have been created.  

X

3.1.5 - The company deals with the conflicts of 
interest among beneficiaries in a balanced way. X

3.2. SUPPORTING THE PARTICIPATION OF 
BENEFICIARIES IN THE COMPANY MANAGEMENT 

3.2.1 - The participation of employees in the 
management has been regulated in the Articles of 
Association or internal directives of the company.

X

Although the Articles of Association or in-house 
regulations have not regulated the participation of 
employees in the management, the participation 
of beneficiaries, mainly, of company employees in 
the company management is tried to be supported 
in compliance with the general approach of the 
group with which we are affiliated and in such a 
way that such participation shall not disrupt the 
company’s operation. There is the “Company Policy 
in relation to Beneficiaries” accepted with the 
Resolution of the Board of Directors with number 
441 and date 27.06.2017.    

3.2.2 - In important decisions creating outcome for 
beneficiaries, the methods such as questionnaires / 
consultation have been applied in order to obtain the 
opinions of the beneficiaries. 

X

The methods such as questionnaires / consultation 
have not been applied. However, the opinions 
and comments of the beneficiaries are evaluated 
equally and without any discrimination of their 
shareholding in important decisions creating 
outcomes mainly for beneficiaries in the General 
Assemblies. 

3.3. HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY OF THE COMPANY

3.3.1 - The company has adopted an employment 
policy ensuring equality of opportunity and a 
succession planning for all key managerial positions 
in the company.  

X

3.3.2 - The criteria in relation to recruitment have 
been determined in writing. X

3.3.3 - The company has a human resources 
development policy and organizes trainings for 
employees within this scope.

X

3.3.4 - Meetings have been held for information of 
employees on subjects such as the financial position 
of the company, salary system, career planning, 
training and health, etc. 

X

3.3.5 - The decisions to be able to affect the 
employees have been notified to employees 
themselves and employee representatives. The 
opinion of unions has also been obtained with 
respect to these issues.

X

There are not any union members by the numbers 
of the company employees. There is not any conflict 
of interest within the year with respect to this 
subject. 

3.3.6 - Görev tanımları ve performans kriterleri tüm 
çalışanlar için ayrıntılı olarak hazırlanarak çalışan-
lara duyurulmuş ve ücretlendirme kararlarında 
kullanılmıştır.

X

YES PARTLY NO EXEMPT IRRELEVANT REMARKS

3.3.7 - Measures such as procedures, trainings, raising 
awareness, targets, monitoring, grievance mecha-
nisms have been taken for preventing discrimination 
among employees and protecting the employees 
against in-house physically, mentally and sentimen-
tally maltreatments. 

X

3.3.8 - The company encourages the freedom of 
association and granting the right of collective 
bargaining in an effective manner. 

X

The company employees do not have any union by 
their numbers and there are not any developments 
like collective bargaining. Provided that permit is 
obtained, the right of association or being member 
to association has not been restricted. With respect 
to this subject, there is not any conflict of interest 
within the year.

3.3.9 - A secure and safe working environment is 
ensured for employees. X

3.4. RELATIONS WITH CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

3.4.1 - The company has measured the customer 
satisfaction and has operated with an unconditional 
customer satisfaction understanding. 

X

3.4.2 - When there is a delay in processing the 
demands of customers in relation to the goods and 
services purchased by them, this situation is notified 
to customers. 

X

3.4.3 - The company adheres to the quality standards 
relating to goods and services. X

3.4.4 - The company has controls in place for 
protecting the confidentiality of the sensitive 
information of customers and suppliers within the 
scope of trade secret. 

X

3.5. CODES OF CONDUCT AND SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY 

3.5.1 - The board of directors has determined the 
codes of conduct, which has been published on the 
corporate website of the company.

X

3.5.2 - The corporation is sensitive about social 
responsibility. Measures for prevention of corruption 
and bribery have been taken. 

X

4.1. FUNCTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

4.1.1 - The board of directors ensures that the 
strategies and risks do not threaten the long-term 
benefits of the company and an effective risk 
management is applied.

X

4.1.2 - The agenda and minutes of the meetings 
set forth that the board of directors deliberates 
and approves the strategic targets of the company, 
determines the sources needed and the fact that 
the performance of the management has been 
controlled. 

X

4.2. THE PRINCIPLES OF ACTIVITY OF THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS 

4.2.1 - The board of directors has documented its 
activities which have been presented to shareholders 
for their information. 

X
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YES PARTLY NO EXEMPT IRRELEVANT REMARKS

4.2.2 - The duties and powers of the board of directors 
have been disclosed in the annual report of the 
company. 

X

4.2.3 - The board of directors has set up an internal 
control system suitable for the scale of the company 
and the complexity of its activities. 

X

4.2.4 - The information relating to the operation and 
efficiency of the internal control system has been 
provided in the annual report of the company. 

X

4.2.5 - Yönetim kurulu başkanı ve icra başkanı (genel 
müdür) görevleri birbirinden ayrılmış ve tanımlan-
mıştır.

X

4.2.7 - The duties of the board of directors and chief 
executive officer (general manager) have been segre-
gated from each other and defined. 

X

4.2.8 - The board of directors ensures that the investor 
relations department and corporate governance 
committee operate in an effective manner and 
has worked in close cooperation with the investor 
relations department and corporate governance 
committee in settlement of disputes between the 
company and shareholders and in communication 
with shareholders.

X

4.3. STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

4.3.9 - The company has set a target of 25% as a min-
imum for the rate of women members in the board 
of directors and set up a policy in order to attain 
such target. The structure of the board of directors is 
reviewed on an annual basis and the process of nom-
ination is realized in compliance with such policy. 

X

4.3.10 - Of the members of the audit committee, at 
least one of them has experience of 5 years on sub-
ject of audit/accounting and finance. 

X

4.4. METHOD OF THE MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

4.4.1 - All of the members of the board of directors 
have ensured physical participation in most of the 
board of directors meetings. 

X

4.4.2 - The board of directors has designated a mini-
mum period for all the information and documents 
relating to the subjects included in the agenda to be 
sent to all the members prior to the meeting. 

X

Not any duration has been defined in relation to 
the subject. However, maximum effort is exerted 
for our members of the board of directors to 
have access to the necessary information within a 
reasonable period of time prior to the meeting. 

4.4.3 - The opinions of the member not attending the 
meeting; however, notifying his/her opinions to the 
board of directors in writing, have been presented to 
other members for their information.  

X

This opportunity has been granted to our 
members of the board of directors; however, not 
any notification has been given by our members 
of the board of directors within 2018. There is not 
any conflict of interest arising within the year with 
respect to this subject. 

4.4.4 - Every member of the board of directors has 
one vote. X

4.4.5 - How to hold the meetings of the board of 
directors has been put in writing with in-house 
regulations. 

X

YES PARTLY NO EXEMPT IRRELEVANT REMARKS

4.4.6 - The minutes of the meeting set forth that all 
the items on the agenda have been deliberated and 
the minutes of resolution are prepared in such a way 
that it shall contain the dissenting opinions. 

X

4.4.7 -The fact that the members of the board of 
directors assume duties outside the company has 
been limited. The duties assumed by the members 
of the board of directors outside the company have 
been presented to shareholders for their information 
in the general assembly meeting. 

X

The chairman and members of the board of directors 
have been granted authorizations for them to 
perform the transactions referred to in Articles 395 
and 396 of the TCC. Not any situation contrary to the 
prohibition of making business and competing with 
the company has been encountered with respect 
to the members of the board of directors within 
2018. There is not any limitation in relation to the 
members of the board of directors assuming duty or 
duties outside of the company. Such a limitation is 
not needed especially because of the contribution 
of independent members to the board of directors 
with their sectoral and business experiences. However, 
this situation has not given rise to any conflict of 
interest in any way whatsoever and the information 
in relation to the duties assumed by the members 
of the board of directors outside the company and 
their background information have been included 
in general assembly information document, annual 
reports, corporate website of the company and Public 
Disclosure Platform.

4.5. COMMITTEES FORMED WITHIN THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

4.5.5 - Every member of the board of directors 
assumes duty in one committee only. X

The members of the board of directors are required 
to assume duty in more than one committee due to 
reasons such as the fact that the board of directors 
consists of five members, the chairmen of the 
committees are required to consist of independent 
members as per the legislation. Due to the fact that 
this principle not being obligatory is not applied, 
there is not any conflict of interest arising within the 
year. 

4.5.6 - Committees have invited such persons as it 
deems necessary to the meetings for taking their 
opinions and taken their opinions. 

X

4.5.7 - The information on the independence of 
the person/institution from which the committee 
receives consultancy service is provided in the annual 
report of the company. 

X

There is not any person and institution from which 
the committees receive consultancy services. Due to 
the fact that this principle not being obligatory is not 
applied, there is not any conflict of interest arising 
within the year.

4.5.8 - Report has been prepared regarding the 
conclusions of the committee meetings and 
presented to the members of the board of directors.

X

4.6. FINANCIAL RIGHTS PROVIDED TO THE MEMBERS 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES 
WITH THE MANAGERIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

4.6.1 - In order to evaluate whether the board of 
directors fulfills its responsibilities in an effective way, 
the board of directors has performed performance 
evaluation. 

X

4.6.4 - The company has not caused any of the 
members of the board of directors or its executives 
with managerial responsibility to use credit, not given 
to them any debt or not extended the term of the 
debt lent nor has it improved their conditions or not 
extended loan under the name of personal credit or 
not given them guarantees such as surety. 

X

4.6.5 - The remunerations given to the members of 
the board of directors or executives with managerial 
responsibility have been disclosed in the annual 
report on basis of persons. 

X

The remunerations given to the members of 
the board of directors and the executives with 
managerial responsibilities are given in 3 headings as 
the members of the board of directors, consultancy 
and the personnel with managerial responsibility in 
the annual report.  
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Corporate Governance Information Form

1. SHAREHOLDERS

1.1. FACILITATION OF EXERCISE OF THE
SHAREHOLDING RIGHTS

Number of the investor conferences and meetings organized by 
the company all the year round None

1.2. RIGHT TO DEMAND INFORMATION AND REVIEW

Number of private auditors requested None

Number of private auditors requested, which is accepted in the 
general assembly meeting None

1.3. GENERAL ASSEMBLY

The connection of PDP announcement through which the 
information requested is announced within the scope of the 
Principle 1.3.1 (a-d)

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/665415

Whether the documents relating to the general assembly 
meeting are presented also in English concurrently with their 
Turkish versions 

The announcement documents in relation to the general assembly are presented 
also in English concurrently with their Turkish versions.

The connections of PDP announcements with respect to 
procedures over which no approval of majority of independent 
members or unanimity exists in terms of attendants within the 
scope of the Principle 1.3.9  

None

The connections of PDP announcements with respect to related 
party transactions realized within the scope of Article 9 of the 
Corporate Governance Communiqué (II-17.1)

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/726345
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/726361
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/726385
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/726563
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/663361

The connections of PDP announcements with respect to 
extensive and continuing transactions realized within the scope 
of Article 10 of the Corporate Governance Communiqué (II-17.1)

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/726345
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/726361
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/726385
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/726563
https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/663361

The name of the section containing the policy in relation to 
donations and aids on the corporate website of the company Homepage>Investor Relations>Policies>Donation and Aid Policy

The connection of PDP announcement containing the minutes 
of the general assembly in which the policy in relation to 
donations and aids are accepted

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/270229

The number of Article regulating the participation of 
beneficiaries in the general assembly in the Articles of 
Association

Article 21 of the Articles of Association

Information on the beneficiaries attending the general assembly 

In the ordinary general assembly meeting held on 28.03.2018 for 2017, the General 
Manager of the company, Deputy General Manager for Financial Affairs and Financial 
Affairs Manager, two members of the board of directors, two independent members 
of the board of directors, one official of the independent auditing company have 
been present song with shareholders and their proxies.  

1.4. RIGHTS TO VOTE

Whether there is privilege in the right to vote No

If the vote contains any privilege, privileged shareholders and 
their voting rates -

The shareholding rate of the largest shareholder 0%

1.5. MINORITY RIGHTS

Whether minority rights have been expanded or not in the Arti-
cles of Association of the Company (in terms of substance or rate) No

If minority rights have been expanded in terms of substance 
or rate, please specify the number of the related article of the 
Articles of Association 

-

1.6. DIVIDEND RIGHT

The name of the section where the dividend policy is available 
on the corporate website of the company Homepage>Investor Relations>Policies> Dividend Policy

In case the board of directors proposes non-distribution of the 
dividend to the general assembly, the text of the minutes in 
relation to the reasons for this and the item of the agenda of the 
general assembly meeting specifying the way of use of the profit 
not distributed

Within the scope of Item 6 of the Agenda, the proposition of the board of directors in 
relation to the operating profit for 2017 has been read. In line with the growth policies 
of our company, it has been unanimously resolved that distributable net profit of 
the period of TL 5.738.479,05 arising for 2017 in the Financial Statements prepared 
according to the Tax Procedural law be transferred to Extraordinary Reserves by 
not be distributed and the proposition of the board of directors for not distributing 
the profit and the annexed distribution table have been presented to the general 
assembly for its approval and further resolved unanimously as a result of voting carried 
out physically and on electronic environment that the subject of not distribution of 
profit be accepted with the positive votes of the shares in the nominal value of TL 
314.112.348,667.   

The connection of PDP announcement containing the minutes 
of the general assembly in case the board of directors proposes 
non-distribution of the dividend to the general assembly 

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/671041

GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEETINGS

Date of the 
General 
Assembly

Number of 
additional 
disclosure 
requests 
conveyed to 
the company 
with respect 
to the 
agenda of 
the general 
assembly

Rate of 
participation 
of 
shareholders 
in the 
general 
assembly

Rate of 
shares 
represented 
directly

Rate of 
shares 
represented 
by proxy

Name of the section 
containing the 
minutes of the 
general assembly 
meeting in such 
a way that it shall 
contain the positive 
and negative events 
relating to the each 
item of the agenda  
on the corporate 
website of the 
company

Name of 
the section 
containing the 
questions posed 
in the general 
assembly 
meeting and the 
replies to them 
on the corporate 
website of the 
company 

The number 
of the article 
or paragraph 
relating to 
related parties 
in the minutes 
of the general 
assembly 
meeting 

Number 
of persons 
giving  
notification 
to the 
board of 
directors and 
having the 
opportunity 
to have 
access to the 
shareholding 
information 
in a 
privileged 
way (list of 
insiders)

Connection of 
general
assembly 
notification 
published on 
PDP

28.03.2018 0 94,610% 0,076% 94,53%

Homepage>Investor 
Relations >General 
Assembly 
Sets>General 
Assembly 
Information> 
General Assembly 
Information  of 
2017>Minutes of the 
General Assembly 

Homepage 
> Investor 
Relations 
> General 
Assembly 
Sets > General 
Assembly 
Information 
> General 
Assembly 
Information  of 
2017> Minutes 
of the General 
Assembly 
Meeting of 
2017

13 40

https://www.
kap.org.tr/tr/
Bildirim/665415
https://www.
kap.org.tr/tr/
Bildirim/671041
https://www.
kap.org.tr/tr/
Bildirim/673269
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2. PUBLIC DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 

2.1. CORPORATE WEBSITE

Names of the sections containing the information requested in 
the principle of corporate governance with number 2.1.1. on the 
corporate website of the company

Homepage>Investor Relations, Homepage >Corporate, Homepage >FAQ

The section containing the list of real person shareholders 
holding more than 5% of the shares of the company either 
directly or indirectly on the corporate website of the company

There is not any real person holding more than 5% of the shares of the 
company either directly or indirectly and the subject is available on the website 
as: Homepage>Investor Relations>Operational and Financial Data>Annual 
Reports>Annual Activity Reports>2018>Annual Report 2018

Languages used in the corporate website of the company 
prepared Turkish and English

2.2. ANNUAL REPORT

NUMBERS OF PAGES OR NAMES OF SECTIONS CONTAINING 
THE INFORMATION SPECIFIED IN IN THE PRINCIPLE OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE WITH NUMBER 2.2.2. IN THE 
ANNUAL REPORT  

a) Number of page or name of section containing the duties 
performed by the members of the board of directors and 
executives outside the company and the statement of 
independence of members

This information is given under the headings of 1.General Information / (q) information 
on the Company’s Board of Directors, Senior Managers and Number of Personnel 
/ Board of Directors, the Principles of Operation of the Board of Directors and its 
Structure, the Statements of Independence of the Independent Members of the 
Board of Directors. 

b) Number of page or name of the section of the information in 
relation to committees formed within the Board of Directors 

This information is given under the headings of 1. General Information / (q) 
information on the Company’s Board of Directors, Senior Managers and Number 
of Personnel / Board of Directors, the Number, Structure and Independence of the 
Committees formed within the Board of Directors. 

c) The number of meetings of the board of directors within 
the year and number of page or name of the section of the 
information of status of participation by members in the 
meetings

This information is given under the headings of 1. General Information / (q) 
information on the Company’s Board of Directors, Senior Manager, information on 
the number of personnel / the Principles of Operation of the Board of Directors and 
its Structure.

ç) Number of page or name of the section of the information 
regarding changes in legislations that may affect significantly 
the activities of the company

This information is given under the headings of 3. Company’s Activities and 
Periodical Developments / the information on the Changes in the Legislation to be 
able to affect the Company’s activities significantly.

d) Number of page or name of the section of the information 
regarding the important lawsuits brought against the company 
and their probable results

This information is given under the headings of 3. Company’s Activities and 
Periodical Developments / the information on the Lawsuits brought against the 
company and to be able to affect the financial situation and activities of the 
company and their probable outcomes. 

e) Number of page or name of the section containing the 
conflicts of interest between the company and the institutions 
from which investment consultancy and rating service are 
received and the measures taken in order to prevent them

This information is given under the headings of 3. Company’s Activities and 
Periodical Developments / the information on the conflicts of interest arising 
between the institutions from which the company receives services such as 
consultancy, evaluation and rating and the company and the measures taken by the 
company for preventing such conflicts of interests.  

f) Number of page or name of the section containing the 
information in relation to the mutual affiliates of which the rate 
of direct participation in the share capital exceeds 5%

This information is given under the headings of 3. Company’s Activities and 
Periodical Developments / information on the Mutual Affiliates exceeding 5%.

g) Number of page or name of the section containing the 
information relating to social rights of employees, vocational 
training and the corporate social responsibility activities 
in relation to company activities creating other social and 
environmental outcomes 

This information is given under the headings of 3. Company’s Activities and 
Periodical Developments / our Corporate Social Responsibilities and 6. Other 
Subjects b)b) in  formation on  Personnel and Employee Movements, Collective 
Bargaining Practices, the rights and benefits provided to the personnel and workers 
and the vocational training of the personnel.

3. BENEFICIARIES

3.1. THE COMPANY POLICY IN RELATION TO BENEFICIARIES

Name of the section containing the compensation policy on the 
corporate website of the company Homepage>Investor Relations>Policies>Compensation Policy

Number of judicial decisions having become definite against the 
company due to infringement of rights of the employees None

The title of the official relating to notification mechanism Corporate Governing Policy and Audit Committee through Investor Relations 

Information of access to the notification mechanism of the 
company info@dogusgyo.com.tr, Phone:0212 335 2850

3.2. SUPPORTING THE PARTICIPATION OF BENEFICIARIES IN 
THE COMPANY MANAGEMENT

Name of the section containing the internal regulations in 
relation to participation by employees in the management 
bodies on the corporate website of the company

None

Management bodies through which employees are represented None

3.3. HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY OF THE COMPANY

Role of the board of directors in developing succession plan for 
key executive positions

With the resolution number 421 and dated 20.07.2015 of the Board of Directors, the 
personnel succession policy has been accepted and caused to enter into force for key 
manager positions.   

Name of the section containing the human resources policy 
involving the equality of opportunity and criteria for recruitment 
of employees or the summary of the articles relating to the 
policy on the corporate website of the company 

Homepage>Investor Relations>Policies>Human Resources and Personnel Succession 
planning

Whether the plan for acquisition of shares is available or not Plan for acquisition of share is not available 

Name of the section containing the human resources policy 
involving the measures for preventing segregation and 
maltreatment or the summary of related articles of the policy 
on the corporate website of the company

Homepage>Investor Relations>Policies>Human Resources and Personnel Succession 
planning

Number of judicial decisions having become definite against 
the company due to responsibility for occupational accidents None

3.5. CODES OF CONDUCT AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Name of the section containing the codes of conduct policy on 
the corporate website of the company Homepage>Corporate>Company Information>Codes of Conduct

Name of the section containing the corporate social 
responsibility report on the corporate website of the company. 
If corporate social responsibility report is unavailable, measures 
taken on subjects of environmental, social and corporate 
governance 

Homepage>Corporate>Company Information>Corporate Social Responsibility 

Measures taken for fighting against any kinds of corruption 
including dishonesty and bribery None
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4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS-I

4.2. PRINCIPLES OF OPERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The most recent board of directors performance evaluation date 28.12.2018

Whether independent experts have been utilized in board of 
directors performance evaluation No

Whether all the members of the board of directors have been 
released or not Yes

Names of the members of the board of directors to whom 
authority is delegated with distribution of tasks and the content 
of such authorities

As result of the distribution of tasks made in the meetings of the board of directors 
dated 06.04.2018 and 26.06.2018, it has been resolved the following persons be elected 
for the following positions:
Mr. Hüsnü Akhan as the Chairman of the Board of Directors, Ekrem Nevzat Öztangut, 
Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz as the members of the Board of Directors, Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz 
as the Executive Member of the Board of Directors and Company General Manager, 
Çağan Erkan as the Chief Executive Officer; 
To perform in the committees:
Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy as the Chairman (Independent Member of the Board of 
Directors), Murat Bahadır Teker as the Member (Independent Member of the Board of 
Directors) in the Audit Committee;
Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy - Chairman (Independent Member of the Board of Directors), 
Murat Bahadır Teker - Member (Independent Member of the Board of Directors), 
Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz - Member (Member of the Board of Directors) in the Corporate 
Governance Committee;
Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy – Chairman (Independent Member of the Board of Directors), 
Murat Bahadır Teker – Member (Independent Member of the Board of Directors), Hasan 
Hüsnü Güzelöz – Member (Member of the Board of Directors) in the Early Detection of 
Risk Committee (the Corporate Governance Committee shall also perform the functions 
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee). 

Number of reports presented by internal control unit to the 
audit committee or other related committees None

Name of the section or number of page containing the 
evaluation in relation to efficiency of the internal control system 
in the annual report 

5. The information in relation to the Risk Management and Internal Control Mecha-
nism of the Company

Name of the chairman of the board of directors Hüsnü Akhan

Name of the chief executive officer / general manager Çağan Erkan

The connection of PDP announcement through which the 
reason that the chairman of the board of directors and chief ex-
ecutive officer / general manager is the same person is specified

None

The connection of PDP announcement in relation to the 
fact that the loss to be caused by the members of the board 
of directors to the company due to their faults during their 
duties is insured with an insurance value exceeding 25% of the 
company’s share capital

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/720323

Name of the section giving information regarding the diversity 
policy for increasing the proportion of women members of the 
board of directors on the corporate website of the company

Homepage>Investor Relations>Policies>Woman Member Policy

Number and proportion of women members None

STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Name/Family Name 
of the Member of the 
Board of Directors

Whether 
he/she is 
executive 
or not 

Whether 
he/she is 
independent 
member

First date of 
election to 
the board of 
directors

Connection of the 
PDP Announcement 
containing the 
Statement of 
Independence

Whether the 
Independent 
Member has been 
evaluated by 
the Nomination 
Committee or not

Whether there 
is a member 
having lost 
his/her 
independence

Whether the 
member has 
minimum 5-year 
experience in 
field of Audit, 
Accounting and/
or Finance 

Hüsnü Akhan Non-
executive

Not 
independent 
member

04.04.2013 Not evaluated No Yes

Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz Executive
Not 
independent 
member

03.01.2011 Not evaluated No No

Ekrem Nevzat Öztangut Non-
executive

Not 
independent 
member

03.01.2011 Not evaluated No Yes

Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy Non-
executive

Independent 
member 09.04.2014 https://www.kap.org.tr/

tr/Bildirim/665337 Evaluated No Yes

Murat Bahadır Teker Non-
executive

Independent 
member 26.06.2018 https://www.kap.org.tr/

tr/Bildirim/690496 Evaluated No Yes

4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS-II

4.4. METHOD OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETINGS 

Number of the meetings of the board of directors held by physi-
cal convocation in the reporting period 31

Average rate of participation in the meetings of the board of 
directors 96,67%

Whether an electronic portal is used or not for facilitating the 
activities of the board of directors No

How many days ago the information and documents are 
presented to the members in accordance with the principles of 
operation of the board of directors  

2 days ago

Name of the section containing the information on the in-house 
regulations determining how to hold the meetings of the board 
of directors on the corporate website of the company

Homepage>Investor Relations>Policies>Board of Directors Internal Directive

The upper limit determined in the policy limiting the members 
in assuming duties outside of the company No limit exists.

4.5. COMMITTEES FORMED WITHIN THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Number of the page or name of the related section containing 
the information relation to the board of directors committees in 
the annual report

This information is given under the headings of 1. General Information / (q) informa-
tion on the Company’s Board of Directors, Senior Managers and Number of Personnel 
/ Board of Directors, the Number, Structure and Independence of the Committees 
formed within the Board of Directors.

Connection of PDP announcement by which the principles of 
operation of the committee are announced https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/370675
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMMITTEES-I

Names of the Board of 
Directors Committees 

Name of the Committee 
specified as “Other” in 
Column One

Name and Family Name of the 
committee members

Whether he/she is the 
committee chairman  

Whether he/she is the member
of the board of directors

Audit Committee  Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy Yes Yes

Audit Committee  Murat Bahadır Teker No Yes

Corporate Governance 
Committee  Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy Yes Yes

Corporate Governance 
Committee  Murat Bahadır Teker No Yes

Corporate Governance 
Committee  Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz No Yes

Early Detection of Risk 
Committee  Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy Yes Yes

Early Detection of Risk 
Committee  Murat Bahadır Teker No Yes

Early Detection of Risk 
Committee  Hasan Hüsnü Güzelöz No Yes

4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS-III

4.5. COMMITTEES FORMED WITHIN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS -II

Please specify the section giving information regarding the activities of 
the audit committee on the annual report or corporate website of the 
company (page number or name of the section)

This information is available under the headings of Homepage>Investor 
Relations>Committees>Audit Committee. 

Please specify the section giving information regarding the activities of 
the corporate governance committee on the annual report or corporate 
website of the company (page number or name of the section)

This information is available under the headings of Homepage>Investor 
Relations>Committees>Corporate Governance Committee.

Please specify the section giving information regarding the activities of 
the nomination committee on the annual report or corporate website of 
the company (page number or name of the section)

This information is available under the headings of Homepage>Investor 
Relations>Committees>Corporate Governance Committee.

Please specify the section giving information regarding the activities of 
the Early Detection of Risk Committee on the annual report or corporate 
website of the company (page number or name of the section)

This information is available under the headings of Homepage>Investor 
Relations>Committees>Early Detection of Risk Committee.

Please specify the section giving information regarding the activities of 
the Remuneration Committee on the annual report or corporate website 
of the company (page number or name of the section)

This information is available under the headings of Homepage>Investor 
Relations>Committees>Corporate Governance Committee.

4.6. FINANCIAL RIGHTS PROVIDED TO THE MEMBERS OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES WITH THE MANAGERIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

Number of the page or name of the section of the annual report giving 
information on operational and financial performance targets and in 
relation to the fact whether these have been attained 

This information is contained in the heading 4. Financial Situation of the 
Annual Report. 

Name of the section of the corporate website containing the 
remuneration policy in relation to members being in charge of and not 
being in charge of the execution

Homepage>Investor Relations>Policies>Remuneration Policy

Number of the page or name of the section of the annual report 
specifying the remunerations given to the members of the board of 
directors and executives with managerial responsibility and all other 
benefits provided

This information is contained under the headings 2. The financial rights/
attendance fee right provided to the members of the board of directors 
and senior managers, remuneration, premium, dividend and benefits like 
these.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMMITTEES-II

Names of the Board of 
Directors Committees

Name of the 
Committee specified 
as “Other” in Column 
One

Proportion of the 
Non-Executive 
Directors

Proportion of 
Independent 
Members in the 
Committee 

Number of Physical 
Meeting in which 
Committee is realized

Number of Physical Meeting 
in which Committee is 
realized Number of Reports 
submitted to the Board 
of Directors regarding the 
Operations of the Committee 

Audit Committee  100% 100% 7 7

Corporate Governance 
Committee  67% 67% 5 5

Early Detection of Risk 
Committee  67% 67% 7 7



116 117

DOĞUŞ GYO 2018 ANNUAL REPORT DOĞUŞ GYO 2018 ANNUAL REPORTCorporate Governance Corporate Governance

There is not any lawsuit brought against the company 
and to be able to affect the financial position and 
activities of the company within the period of 
01.01.2018-31.12.2018.

There is not any lawsuit brought against the members 
of the board of directors and employees of the 
company nor is there any administrative or judicial 
sanction about them due to their practices contrary 
to the provisions of the legislations within the period 
of 01.01.2018-31.12.2018.

The following written lawsuits have been brought 
against our company within the period of 01.01.2018–
31.12.2018 and there is not any lawsuit other than these 
lawsuits brought against the board of directors of our 
company, brought by its shareholders and/or third 
parties and being under pursuit of ours.

1. A reemployment lawsuit has been instituted by 
“Ayşe Didem Gülsever”, one of the former employees 
of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş., against 
our company with the file number 2016-557 E.s. of 
the Office of the Judge of Istanbul Labor Court and it 
has been decided by the local court that the lawsuit 
be declined. The lawsuit has become final. 

2. An action for damages with pecuniary and non-
pecuniary damages claim has been brought by Mutlu 
Karadeniz, the plaintiff, due to the occupational 
accident occurring in the Gebze Center Hotel Project 
construction against Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş,  Teknik Yapı Teknik Yapılar San. Tic. A.Ş. 
ve Engin İnşaat San. Tic. Ltd. Şti with file number 2016-
1460 E.s. Gebze 1st Labor Court. The judicial process 
is in progress.

3. A reemployment lawsuit has been instituted by 
Şebnem Aksoy, the plaintiff, with the file number 2018-
193 E.s. of Istanbul 13th Labor Court against Doğuş GYO 
A.Ş. The judicial process is in progress. 

4. This is the lawsuit brought by Yılmaz Aydın, the 
plaintiff, with the file number 2016-339 E.s. of Gebze 
7th Labor Court, against Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş,  Teknik Yapı Teknik Yapılar San. Tic. A.Ş. 
with the claim of receivable and indemnity. The judicial 
process is in progress.

5. This is the lawsuit brought by Mehmet Orhan, the 
plaintiff, with the file number 2018-577 E.s. of Antalya 
5th Labor Court, against Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş. for “premiums receivable”. The judicial 
process is in progress.

6. This is the lawsuit brought by Ali Uğurluol, the 
plaintiff, with the file number 2018-547 E.s. of Antalya 
6th Labor Court, against. for “premiums receivable”. 
The judicial process is in progress. 

7. Antalya 3.İş Mahkemesinin 2018-549 E.s. dosyası ile 
davacı Ali Şahin tarafından, Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım 
Ortaklığı A.Ş, aleyhine “prim alacağı” talepli açılmış olan 
davadır. Hukuki süreç devam etmektedir

8. This is the lawsuit brought by Ali Şahin, the plaintiff, 
with the file number 2018-549 E.s. of Antalya 3rd Labor 
Court, against Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı 
A.Ş. for “premiums receivable”. The judicial process is 
in progress.

The number of lawsuits of receivables to which the 
company is a party as of 31 December 2018 is 10, 
the number of lawsuits of employees to which the 
company is a party as of the same date is 8, the number 
of execution proceedings is 10, the number of lawsuit 
of evacuation is 1 and the number of the administrative 
lawsuits is 2 as of the same date and the disclosures 
in relation to the lawsuits being importance for the 
company have been given in detail in Note 9 of the 
Independent Audit Report dated 31.12.2018.

LAWSUITS TO WHICH THE 
COMPANY IS A PARTY 

Tax Consultant
PWC Yeminli Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.

Independent Audit Firm
PWC Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci
Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.

Independent Expertise Firm
• TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş.,
• EPOS Gayrimenkul Danışmanlık ve Değerleme A.Ş.

Rating Institution
Kobirate Uluslararası Kredi Derecelendirme
ve Kurumsal Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş.

Internal Audit Company
DRT Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci
Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 
(DELOITTE)

FIRMS FROM WHICH 
AUDIT, CONSULTANCY AND 
EXPERTISE SERVICES ARE 
RECEIVED
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CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the General Assembly of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. 
 
A.  Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
1. Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (the 
“Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended and the notes to the financial statements and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and financial statement notes. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Turkish Accounting Standards (“TAS”). 

 
2. Basis for Opinion 
 
Our audit was conducted in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (the “SIA”) that are 
part of Turkish Standards on Auditing issued by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards 
Authority (the “POA”). Our responsibilities under these standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We hereby declare that we 
are independent of the Company in accordance with the Ethical Rules for Independent Auditors (the 
“Ethical Rules”) and the ethical requirements regarding independent audit in regulations issued by POA 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Ethical Rules and regulations. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained during the independent audit provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for our 
opinion. 

 
3. Key Audit Matters 

 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters were addressed in the context of 
our independent audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of investment properties  
 
 
The accounting policy adopted by the 
Company management for the purpose of 
accounting for such investment properties is 
explained in detail in Notes 2 and 10, 
Company’s investment properties are stated 
at fair value.  The Company’s investment 
properties amounted to TRY1,775,782,034, 
which has 97% of the total assets. 
 
 
Investment properties are stated at fair value 
based on valuations carried out by 
independent qualified professional valuers 
and these values are evaluated by the 
Company’s Assistant General Manager and 
Finance Manager for in the financial 
statements of the Company’s. 
 
 
Significant assumptions associated with 
determining the fair value of Company’s 
investment properties 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Procedures: 
 
Validation of the controls: 
 
We have tested the design and implementation of the 
control in relation to the Assistant General Manager 
and Finance Manager’s review of the valuation 
prepared by the Company’s Valuer. 
 
Assessment of management’s expert: 
 
The valuer’s competence, capability, and objectivity 
have been assessed. We have also assessed the 
independence of the valuer. 
 
Assessment of input and assumptions used for 
the valuation: 
 
We assessed the valuation report prepared by the 
valuation expert of the Company, the valuation 
method applied and the appropriateness of the 
assumptions used. We evaluated our findings with the 
Valuation Expert of the Company along with 
comparing assumptions used with market data.  
 
The values of the real estates in the Company's 
portfolio were determined using the market approach 
and cash discounting method. 
 
We assessed whether inputs such as unit sales value 
that are significant on the property value included 
within the valuation report are in an acceptable range 
by comparing the consistency of the inputs with the 
observable market prices. In addition, the inputs used 
in the valuation reports, which are significant 
influences on the property value, such as rental 
income, duration of rental contracts, occupancy rates 
and expenses are audited.  

 
 

 
4. Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Financial Statements 
 
The Company management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with TAS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
5. Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Responsibilities of independent auditors in an independent audit are as follows: 
 
Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an independent auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance expressed as a result of an independent audit conducted in 
accordance with SIA is a high level of assurance but does not guarantee that a material misstatement will 
always be detected. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
  

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Reasons for concentrating on this topic is the 
significance of the balance in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole and Significant 
assumptions associated with determining the 
fair value of investment properties. 
  

Among the audit procedures we implemented, we 
assessed whether the assumptions used by the 
valuation experts in valuation such as the real 
discount rate are within acceptable ranges. 
Additionally, our valuation experts are involved on 
assessment of the valuation report.  
 
Assessment of financial statement 
disclosures: 
 
We have reviewed compliance of the information in 
the appraisal expert report with the disclosures 
related to the fair value of investment properties in 
Notes 2 and 9. 
 
As a result of the procedures performed, we did not 
have any significant findings. 
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As part of an independent audit conducted in accordance with SIA, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.  
 

• Assess the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
independent auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence.  We also communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.  
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
  

 
 

B.  Other Responsibilities Arising From Regulatory Requirements 
 
 
1. No matter has come to our attention that is significant according to subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of 

Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”) No. 6102 and that causes us to believe that Doğuş Gayrimenkul 
Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.’s bookkeeping activities concerning the period from 1 January to 31 December 
2018 period are not in compliance with the TCC and provisions of the Company’s articles of 
association related to financial reporting. 

 
2. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 402 of the TCC, the Board of Directors submitted the 

necessary explanations to us and provided the documents required within the context of our audit. 
 

3. In accordance with subparagraph 4 of Article 398 of the TCC, the auditor’s report on the early risk 
identification system and committee was submitted to the Company’s Board of Directors on  
22 February 2019. 

 
 
PwC Bağımsız Denetim ve 
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. 
 
 
 
 
Burak Özpoyraz, SMMM 
Partner 
 
İstanbul, 22 February 2019 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. 
 
CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES FOR THE PERIOD  
ENDED 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2018 TOGETHER WITH 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
(ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH) 
 

DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. 
 
INDEX  Page 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (BALANCE SHEET) ........................................  1 
 
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME .....  2 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN EQUITY ................................................................................  3 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW ................................................................................................  4 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .......................................................................  5-58 
 
NOTE 1 COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS ......................................................  5 
NOTE 2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ................................................................  6-25 
NOTE 3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS...........................................................................................................  25-26 
NOTE 4 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES ..........................................................................................................................  26-27 
NOTE 5 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES ...............................................................................................  28 
NOTE 6 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES ...............................................................................................  29 
NOTE 7 PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME ..................................................................................  29 
NOTE 8 CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS ...........................................................................................................  30 
NOTE 9 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES .....................................................................................................................  30-33 
NOTE 10 TANGIBLE ASSETS....................................................................................................................................  34 
NOTE 11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS ...............................................................................................................................  34 
NOTE 12 PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES....................................................................  35-36 
NOTE 13 LIABILITIES FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ..............................................................................................  36 
NOTE 14 PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ...............................................................................................  36-37 
NOTE 15 OTHER CURRENT/NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND SHORT TERM LIABILITIES ..............................  38 
NOTE 16 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ...........................................................................................................  38 
NOTE 17 SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY ......................................................................................................................  38-40 
NOTE 18 SALES AND COST OF SALES ...................................................................................................................  41 
NOTE 19 GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES .............................................................................................  41 
NOTE 20 INCOME / EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES ...................................................................  41 
NOTE 21 OTHER OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSES .............................................................................................  42 
NOTE 22 FINANCIAL INCOME .................................................................................................................................  42 
NOTE 23 FINANCIAL EXPENSES .............................................................................................................................  42 
NOTE 24 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ................................................................................................................  43 
NOTE 25 TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ..............................................................................................................  43 
NOTE 26 EARNING PER SHARE ...............................................................................................................................  43 
NOTE 27 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES ...........................................................................................................  43-45 
NOTE 28 NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ...............................  46-53 
NOTE 29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS .....................................................................................................................  53-55 
NOTE 30 OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS EFFECTING TO OR MAKING FINANCIAL  
  STATEMENTS MORE CLEAR, INTERPRETABLE AND UNDERSTANDABLE 

 SHOULD BE DISCLOSED ..........................................................................................................................  55-56 
NOTE 31  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS .............................................................................................................................  56 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: COMPLIANCE CONTROL OF THE PORTFOLIO RESTRICTIONS .........  56-58 
 
 
 



CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 
 
DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (BALANCE SHEET) 
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise stated.) 
 

1 

  Audited Audited 
 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
ASSETS 
 
CURRENT ASSETS  37,989,729 17,367,884 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,617,554 8,993,753 
Trade receivables  10,621,651 3,613,847 
   - Trade receivables from related parties 5, 27 2,571,674 138,103 
   - Trade receivables from third parties 5 8,049,977 3,475,744 
Other receivables  1,725 1,584 
   - Other receivables from third parties 6 1,725 1,584 
Prepaid expenses 7 533,581 615,726 
Current income tax assets 8 240,031 187,399 
Other current asset 15 24,975,187 3,955,575 
 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS  1,797,880,768 1,147,686,824 
 
Investment properties 9 1,775,782,034 1,145,928,534 
Tangible assets 10 528,178 592,464 
Intangible assets 11 119,408 137,393 
Prepaid expenses 7 565,787 766,593 
Other non-current assets 15 20,885,361 261,840 
 
TOTAL ASSETS  1,835,870,497 1,165,054,708 
 
LIABILITIES 
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES  135,111,284 60,779,475 
 
Short-term portion of long-term liabilities  4 93,384,660 46,600,381 
Trade payables  37,996,060 11,077,492 
    - Trade payables to related parties 5, 27 33,917,251 1,453,392 
    - Trade payables to third parties 5 4,078,809 9,624,100 
Liabilities for employee benefits 13 51,743 114,544 
Other payables  238,792 170,526 
   - Other payables to third parties 6 238,792 170,526 
Deferred income 7 2,787,577 419,495 
Short term provisions  381,615 1,501,057 
    - Short term provisions related to employee benefits 14 381,615 1,501,057 
Other current liabilities 15 270,837 895,980 
 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  816,304,659 223,689,246 
 
Long-term liabilities 4 815,214,647 222,838,686 
Other payables  759,243 554,084 
   - Other payables to third parties 6 759,243 554,084 
Long term provisions  330,769 296,476 
   -Long term provisions related to employee benefits 14 330,769 296,476 
 
EQUITY  884,454,554 880,585,987 
 
Share capital 17 332,007,786 332,007,786 
Restricted reserves  5,056,295 5,056,295 
Share issue premium 17 249,751,377 249,751,377 
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified    
   to profit or loss  (222,769) (157,807) 
   Remeasurement gain arising from 
   defined benefit plans  (222,769) (157,807) 
   Actuarial gain / losses arising from 
   employee benefits  (222,769) (157,807) 
Treasury shares 17 (3,984,585) (3,984,585) 
Retained earnings  297,912,921 243,847,408 
Profit for the period  3,933,529 54,065,513 
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,835,870,497 1,165,054,708 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Audited Audited 
 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Profit or losses 
Revenue 18 98,555,386 73,916,621 
Cost of sales (-) 18 (15,622,626) (11,046,448) 
 
Gross profit  82,932,760 62,870,173 
 
General administrative expenses (-) 19 (5,792,448) (8,104,480) 
Other operating income 21 55,668,267 53,056,412 
Other operating expenses (-) 21 (16,480,988) (7,633,885) 
 
Operating profit  116,327,591 100,188,220 
 
Income from investing activities 20 - - 
Expenses from investing activities 20 - - 
 
Operating Profit Before 
   Finance Income / (Expense)  116,327,591 100,188,220 
 
Financial income 22 49,187,386 15,481,861 
Financial expenses (-) 23 (161,581,448) (61,604,568) 
 
Profit Before Tax     3,933,529 54,065,513 
 
Tax income / (expenses) 25 - - 
 
Profit For the Period  3,933,529 54,065,513 
 
Other comprehensive (loss) / income  (64,962) (71,830) 
 
Other comprehensive income / expense not to be 
   reclassified to profit or loss 
-  Loss on revaluation and measurement  (64,962) (71,830) 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  3,868,567 53,993,683 
 
Earnings per share 26 0.012 0.165 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Audited Audited 
  1 January- 1 January- 
 Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Cash flows from operation activities  36,485,875 34,028,095 
 
Net profit for the period  3,933,529 54,065,513 
 
Adjustments to:  55,163,983 (12,046,873) 
 
Amortization expense for tangible and intangible assets  228,766 231,513 
Adjustments related with interest income and expenses  21,088,213 15,724,132 
Adjustments related with provisions  1,912,898 7,410,978 
Fair value gain on investment properties  (53,206,645) (52,603,722) 
   Fair value gain on investment properties 9 (53,206,645) (52,603,722) 
Adjustments related to profit or loss on sales of tangible assets  (4,107,500) - 
   Adjustments related to profit or loss on  
    sales of investment properties  (4,107,500) - 
Unrealised exchange gain  81,033,251 17,190,226 
 
Operating profit before the changes in working capital  (22,145,324) (7,068,094) 
 
Increase in trade receivables  (9,604,500) (5,926,738) 
Increase in trade payables  26,918,568 (6,327,582) 
Other adjustments for other increase/ (decrease) 
   in working capital  (39,459,392) 5,186,226 
-Decrease/(increase) in other assets related to operations  (41,412,955) 4,852,166 
-(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities related to operations  1,953,563 334,060 
 
Net cash provided by operating activities  36,952,188 34,950,546 
 
Defined benefits paid 14 (466,313) (922,451) 
 
Cash flows from investing activities   (580,900,850) (70,067,239) 
 
Purchase of investment properties 9 (591,354,355) (70,036,278) 
Sale of investment properties 9 10,600,000 - 
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets  (156,708) (30,961) 
-Purchase of tangible assets 10 (156,708) (30,961) 
Sale of tangible and intangible assets  10,213 - 
-Purchase of intangible assets  11 10,213 - 
 
Net cash used in financing activities  537,039,980 42,618,793 
 
Cash in flows from financing activities  603,000,000 82,240,000 
Repayment of bank borrowings  (45,398,100) (24,733,701) 
Interest paid  (21,289,530) (15,681,737) 
Interest received  727,610 794,231 
 
Net decrease on cash and cash equivalents 
   before effect of foreign exchange rate  (7,374,995) 6,579,649 
 
Effect of foreign exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents  - 464,985 
 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (7,374,995) 7,044,634 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  8,991,486 1,946,852 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 3 1,616,491 8,991,486 

 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. COMPANY’S ORGANISATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“Company”) has been incorporated in accordance with 
capital market law on 25 July 1997. 
 
Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.’s (the “Company”) which is traded on the Borsa Istanbul, 
main activity is to invest in properties, create, manage, make the necessary changes in the portfolio, 
minimize the risk of variation in real estate; property related capital market instruments, invest and 
monitor continuously the real estate based projects and take the necessary measures to protect, also 
research to increase the value of the portfolio. 
 
The headquarter of the Company is registered in Doğuş Center Maslak, Maslak Mahallesi Ahi Evran 
Cad. No: 4/23 Maslak, Sarıyer-İstanbul. 
 
The shareholders structure and information on their shares of the Company which is restricted on 
commercial register are as follows as of 31 December 2018 and 2017: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
  Share rate Share rate 
Shareholder Class Type (%) (%) 
 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş. (Non-public) A Registered 0.78 0.78 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş. (Non-public) B Bearer 14.67 14.67 
Public B Bearer 84.55 84.55 
 
Total   100 100 
 
The number of personnel of the Company with respect to education level is as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Post graduate 5 6 
Undergraduate 4 6 
Other 2 2 
 
 11 14 
 
Approval of financial statements 
 
The financial statements for the financial period of 31 December 2018 have been approved by the Board 
of Directors on 22 February 2019. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
2.1. Basis of preparation 
 
a Preparation of the financial statements 
 
The Company, the accounting records and the statutory financial statements in preparing the CMB issued 
by the principles and conditions of the Turkish Commercial Code ("TCC"), tax legislation and the 
Ministry of Finance issued by the Uniform Chart of Accounts complies with the requirements.The 
financial statements have been prepared in Turkish Liras on the basis of historical cost, to the legal 
records for the purpose of fair presentation in accordance with TAS adjustments and reclassifications are 
reflected. 
 
The financial statements for the financial period of 31 December 2018 have been approved by the Board 
of Directors on 22 February 2019. 
 
b Declaration of conformity to TFRS 
 
The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with Communiqué Serial II, No:14.1, 
“Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (“The Communiqué”) published in the Official 
Gazette numbered 28676 on 13 June 2013. According to Article 5 of the Communiqué, consolidated 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Turkish Accounting Standards issued by Public 
Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POAASA”). TAS contains Turkish 
Accounting Standards, Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) and its addendum and 
interpretations (“IFRIC”). 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
These financial statements are presented in Turkish Lira (“TL”), which is the Company’s functional 
currency. All financial information is presented in TL unless otherwise stated. 
 
Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, as is the net amount reported in the financial statements when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Going concern 
 
Company's financial statements are prepared under the going concern assumption. 
 
As of 31 December 2018, the Company’s short term liabilities are 97,121,555 TL higher than current 
assets. The Company management have the opinion that this will not create a situation that will affect 
the continuity of the business by the reason of the rental income and the cash flows from the end of the 
ongoing projects. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.1. Basis of preparation (Continued) 
 
Control of compliance with the portfolio limitations 
 
As of 31 December 2018, presented information in: ‘Additional Note: control of compliance with the 
portfolio limitations’, in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: II, No: 14.1 
“Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” Amendment No: 16 comprised condensed information and 
prepared in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1“Real Estate 
Investment Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 28 May 2013 numbered 28660 and 
Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1a “Amendment on Real Estate Investment 
Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 23 January 2014 numbered 28891. 
 
The additional note for “Compliance control of the portfolio restrictions” is prepared according to the 
accomplying financial statements. 
 
2.2. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Communiqué serial: II, No: 14.1 requires 
the use of assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts 
of revenues expenses which are reported throughout the period. Even though, these assumptions and 
estimates rely on the best estimates of the Company management; the actual results might differ from 
them. 
 
The basis of estimates and assumptions are reviewed continuously and the estimates update according 
to updates. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined below as of 31 December 2018 and  
31 December 2017: 
 
The fair value measurement of investment property 
 
In the financial statements, principal assumptions used in valuation reports during the finding fair values 
of real estates classified as investment property are explained below. 
 
As of 31 December 2018 some significant estimations and assumptions that are stated on financial 
statements are below: 
 
     Valuation market 
 Valuation report Valuation Discount Rent increase  Capitalization m2 value 
 date method rate rate p.a rate in TL 
 
D Ofis Maslak 25 December 2018 “Market Approach” - - - 13,000 
Etiler Sport Center 25 December 2018 “Market Aprroach” - - - 9,326 
Doğuş Center Etiler 28 December 2018 “Market Approach” - - - 17,987 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall  28 December 2018 “Discounted Cash Flow” %20 %8-%22 %8,5 - 
Gebze Center Otel 28 December 2018 “Discounted Cash Flow” %9-%10.5 %2.5-%4 %7-%8 - 
Gebze Center Showroom 28 December 2018 “Discounted Cash Flow” %19.5 %8-%22 %8 - 
Doğuş Center Maslak 28 December 2018 “Discounted Cash Flow” %15-%22 %9-%16 %7,5 - 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.2. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (Continued) 
 
As of 31 December 2017 some significant estimations and assumptions that are stated on financial 
statements are below: 
     Valuation market 
 Valuation report Valuation Discount Rent increase  Capitalization m2 value 
 date method rate (*) rate p.a rate in TL 
 
Antalya 2000 Shopping Mall 26 December 2017 Sale comparison - - - 2,108 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall 29 December 2017 Discounted cash flow %10.00 %2.5 %7.50 -  
Gebze Center Hotel 29 December 2017 Discounted cash flow %8.5-%10.00 %2.5-%4.5 %7.69 - 
Gebze Center Showroom 29 December 2017 Discounted cash flow %10.00 %2.5 %7.50 - 
Doğuş Center Maslak 26 December 2017 Discounted cash flow %11.00 %5.5-%2.0 %7.00 - 
Doğuş Center Etiler 
  Independent Areas            26 December 2017 Sale comparison - - - 14,715 

 
(*) Discount rates are based on the currency in which the majority of cash flows are denominated for each investment property. In Turkey Euro and USD 

are commonly used in rent agreements. 
 
Antalya 2000 Plaza 
 
Antalya 2000 Plaza is classified under investment property as of 31 December 2018 and  
31 December 2017 in the financial statements. Antalya 2000 Shopping Mall located on the 1,135 m2 
land, No.1 parcel, Muratpaşa district, Haşimişcan district, 10479 islands.  
 
Based on Taksim Kurumsal Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in 
accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: III No: 62.1 Communiqué, dated 26 December 2017 
with the report number 2017-2 the aforementioned property’s fair value is 14,707,500 TL as at  
31 December 2018 according to sales comparison method. The property sold amounting to “ 
10,600,000 TL on 1 June 2018 based on the board of directors’ decision number 2018/24 dated 16 May 
2018.  
 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall, Hotel and Additional Buildings Project 
 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall, Hotel and Additional Building Project is classified under investment 
property as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 in the financial statements. Gebze Center Shopping Mall, 
Hotel and Gebze Center Showroom and service area located on the 60,865 m² area, No.22 parcel and 
the land located on the 1,800 m² area, No.24 parcel, Province of Kocaeli, Gebze district, Sultanorhan 
district, 5678 islands. Management of the Mall is conducted by Pam Mülk Yönetim Hizmetleri Ltd. Şti. 
 
Based on TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets 
Board’s Serie: III No:62.1 Communiqué, dated 28 December 2018 with the report number 2018REV942 
the aforementioned property’s fair value is 617,785,000 TL  as at 31 December 2018 according to 
discounted cash flow. (31 December 2017: 661,295,000 TL)  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.2. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (Continued) 
 
Doğuş Center Maslak 
 
Doğuş Center Maslak Company is classified under investment property as of 31 December 2018 and  
31 December 2017 in the financial statements. Doğuş Center Maslak located in province of İstanbul, 
Sariyer district, Ayazağa district, 1 islands, total of 31,265 m² on the No.131 parcel. Management of the 
Mall is conducted by Doğuş Center Maslak Management. 
 
Based on Epos Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with 
Capital Markets Board’s Serie: III No: 62.1 Communiqué, dated 28 December 2018 with the report 
number 2018-00004 the aforementioned property’s fair value is  388,762,000 TL as at  
31 December 2018 according to discounted cash flow. (31 December 2017 : 321,440,000 TL) 
 
Doğuş Center Etiler Independent Areas 
 
Doğuş Center Etiler Independent Areas is classified under investment property as of 31 December 2018 
and 31 December 2017 in the financial statements. Doğuş Center Etiler Independent Areas located in 
province of İstanbul, Beşiktaş district, Bebek district, 45 independent area, 66 plot, 593 islands, total of 
9,827 m²  on the No.53 parcel. 
 
Based on Epos Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with 
Capital Markets Board’s Serie: III No:62.1 Communiqué, dated 28 December 2018 with the report 
number 2018-00003 the aforementioned property’s fair value is 176,758,000 TL as at  
31 December 2018 according to sales comparison method. (31 December 2017: 144,609,000 TL) 
 
D-Ofis Maslak 
 
D-Ofis Maslak Independent Areas is classified under investment property as of 31 December 2018  in 
the financial statements. Doğuş Center Etiler Independent Areas located in province of İstanbul, Sarıyer 
district, Maslak Ayazağa district, 21 independent area, 11 islands, total of 40,438 m² on the No.10 parcel. 
 
Based on Epos Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with 
Capital Markets Board’s Serie: III No:62.1 Communiqué, dated 25 December 2018 with the report 
number 2018-00002 the aforementioned property’s fair value is 525,693,000 TL  as at  
31 December 2018 according to sales comparison method.  
 
Doğuş Center Etiler Sport Center 
 
Doğuş Center Etiler Sport Center Independent Areas is classified under investment property as of 31 
December 2018 in the financial statements. Doğuş Center Etiler Independent Areas located in province 
of İstanbul, Beşiktaş district, Bebek district, 2 independent area, 593 islands, total of 6,745 m²  on the 
No.53 parcel. 
 
Based on Epos Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with 
Capital Markets Board’s Serie: III No:62.1 Communiqué, dated 25 December 2018 with the report 
number 2018-00005 the aforementioned property’s fair value is 62,907,000 TL as at  
31 December 2018 according to sales comparison method.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.3. Changes in accounting policies, estimates 
 
2.3.1. Changes in Turkish Financial Reporting Standards  
 
a) Standards, amendments and interpretations applicable as at 31 December 2018:  
 
- TFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2018. This standard replaces the guidance in TAS 39. It includes requirements on the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities; it also includes an expected 
credit losses model that replaces the current incurred loss impairment model. 

 
- TFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’; effective from annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2018. TFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ is a converged 
standard from the IASB and FASB on revenue recognition. The standard will improve the 
financial reporting of revenue and improve comparability of the top line in financial statements 
globally. 

 
- Amendment to TFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’, effective from annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. These amendments comprise clarifications of the 
guidance on identifying performance obligations, accounting for licences of intellectual property 
and the principal versus agent assessment (gross versus net revenue presentation). New and 
amended illustrative examples have been added for each of those areas of guidance. The IASB 
has also included additional practical expedients related to transition to the new revenue standard. 

 
- Amendments to TFRS 4, ‘Insurance contracts’ regarding the implementation of TFRS 9, 

‘Financial Instruments’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
These amendments introduce two approaches: an overlay approach and a deferral approach. The 
amended standard will:  
 
- Give all companies that issue insurance contracts the option to recognise in other 

comprehensive income, rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when  
TFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts standard is issued;  

- Give companies whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance an optional 
temporary exemption from applying TFRS 9 until 2021. The entities that defer the 
application of TFRS 9 will continue to apply the existing financial instruments standard 
TAS 39. 

 
- Amendment to TAS 40, ‘Investment property’ relating to transfers of investment property; 

effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. These amendments clarify 
that to transfer to, or from, investment properties there must be a change in use. To conclude if a 
property has changed use there should be an assessment of whether the property meets the 
definition. This change must be supported by evidence. 

 
- Amendments to TFRS 2, ‘Share based payments’ on clarifying how to account for certain 

types of share-based payment transactions; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018. This amendment clarifies the measurement basis for cash-settled, share-based 
payments and the accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-
settled. It also introduces an exception to the principles in TFRS 2 that will require an award to 
be treated as if it was wholly equity-settled, where an employer is obliged to withhold an amount 
for the employee’s tax obligation associated with a share-based payment and pay that amount to 
the tax authority.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.3. Changes in accounting policies, estimates (Continued) 
 
- Annual improvements 2014-2016; effective from annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2018. These amendments impact 2 standards: 
 

 TFRS 1, ‘First time adoption of TFRS’, regarding the deletion of short-term exemptions 
for first-time adopters regarding TFRS 7, TAS 19 and TFRS 10, 

 TAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint venture’ regarding measuring an associate or 
joint venture at fair value. 

 
- IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’; effective from annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions 
or parts of transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign 
currency. The interpretation provides guidance for when a single payment/receipt is made as well 
as for situations where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce 
diversity in practice. 

 
b. The new standards, amendments and interpretations introduced to the prior Financial 

Statements as of 31 December 2018, however is not effective yet: 
 
- Amendment to TFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’; effective from annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019. This amendment confirm that when a financial liability measured at 
amortised cost is modified without this resulting in de-recognition, a gain or loss should be 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. The gain or loss is calculated as the difference between 
the original contractual cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. This means that the difference cannot be spread over the remaining life of the 
instrument which may be a change in practice from TAS 39.  

 
- Amendment to TAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint venture’; effective from annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These amendments clarify that companies account 
for long-term interests in associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied using 
TFRS 9.  

 
- TFRS 16, ‘Leases’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with 

earlier application permitted if TFRS 15‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ is also applied. 
This standard replaces the current guidance in TAS 17 and is a farreaching change in accounting 
by lessees in particular. Under TAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction between a 
finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). TFRS 16 now requires 
lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right of use asset’ for 
virtually all lease contracts. The IASB has included an optional exemption for certain short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets; however, this exemption can only be applied by lessees. 
For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However, as the IASB has updated the guidance 
on the definition of a lease (as well as the guidance on the combination and separation of 
contracts), lessors will also be affected by the new standard. At the very least, the new accounting 
model for lessees is expected to impact negotiations between lessors and lessees. Under TFRS 
16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Effect of the revelant standard 
will be assessed on Company’s financial situation and performance.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.3. Changes in accounting policies, estimates (Continued) 
 
- IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’; effective from annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2019. This IFRIC clarifies how the recognition and measurement 
requirements of TAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax 
treatments. The TFRS IC had clarified previously that TAS 12, not TAS 37 ‘Provisions, 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, applies to accounting for uncertain income tax 
treatments. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current income tax 
assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. An uncertain tax treatment is 
any tax treatment applied by an entity where there is uncertainty over whether that treatment will 
be accepted by the tax authority. For example, a decision to claim a deduction for a specific 
expense or not to include a specific item of income in a tax return is an uncertain tax treatment if 
its acceptability is uncertain under tax law. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income tax 
accounting where there is an uncertainty regarding the treatment of an item, including taxable 
profit or loss, the tax bases of assets and liabilities, tax losses and credits and tax rates. 

 
- TFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2021. This standard replaces TFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of 
practices in accounting for insurance contracts. TFRS 17 will fundamentally change the 
accounting by all entities that issue insurance contracts and investment contracts with 
discretionary participation features.  

 
- Annual improvements 2015-2017; effective from annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2019. These amendments include minor changes to: 
 
 TFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’, - a company remeasures its previously held interest in a 

joint operation when it obtains control of the business. 
 TFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, - a company does not remeasure its previously held interest 

in a joint operation when it obtains joint control of the business. 
 TAS 12, ‘Income taxes’ - a company accounts for all income tax consequences of dividend 

payments in the same way. 
 TAS 23, ‘Borrowing costs’ - a company treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing 

originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended use or sale. 
 
- Amendments to TAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’ on plan amendment, curtailment or 

settlement’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These 
amendments require an entity to: 
 
 Use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the reminder 

of the period after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and 
 Recognise in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any 

reduction in a surplus, even if that surplus was not previously recognised because of the 
impact of the asset ceiling.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.3. Changes in accounting policies, estimates (Continued) 
 
- Amendments to TAS 1 and TAS 8 on the definition of material; effective from Annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These amendments to TAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial 
statements’,and TAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’, and 
consequential amendments to other TFRSs: 
 
i)  use a consistent definition of materiality throughout TFRSs and the Conceptual 

Framework for Financial Reporting;  
ii)  clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and  
iii)  incorporate some of the guidance in TAS 1 about immaterial information. 

 
- Amendments to TFRS 3 - definition of a business; effective from Annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2020. This amendment revises the definition of a business. According to 
feedback received by the IASB, application of the current guidance is commonly thought to be 
too complex, and it results in too many transactions qualifying as business combinations. 

 
As of the report date, the following standard amendments have not been published yet by the Kamu 
Gözetim Kurumu (KGK). 
 
 TFRS 17, ‘Insurance Contracts’, 
 TFRS 15, Amendments to ‘Revenue from Contracts from Customers’, 
 Amendments to definition of materiality on TAS 1 and TAS 8, 
 Amendments to TFRS 3– business defination 
 
The company assesses the effect of the regarding changes mentioned above and will apply accordingly, 
if relevant. 
 
2.3.1 TFRS 15 “Revenue from customer agreements” standard  
 
Revenue recognition 
 
Company recognises revenue based on the following five principles in accordance with the TFRS 15 - 
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers Standard” effective from 1 January 2018: 
 
 Identification of customer contracts 
 Identification of performance obligations 
 Determination of the transaction price in the contracts  
 Allocation of transaction price to the performance obligations 
 Recognition of revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied 
 
Company evaluates each contracted obligation separately and respective obligations, committed to 
deliver the goods or perform services, are determined as separate performance obligations. 
 
Company determines at contract inception whether the performance obligation is satisfied over time or at 
a point in time. When the Company transfers control of a good or service over time, and therefore 
satisfies a performance obligation over time, then the revenue is recognised over time by measuring the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.  
 
When a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring promised goods or services to a customer, the 
Company recognises the revenue as the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to that performance 
obligation. The goods or services are transferred when the control of the goods or services is delivered to 
the customers.  
  

CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 
 
DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed as Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise stated.) 
 

14 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.3. Changes in accounting policies, estimates (Continued) 
 
Following indicators are considered while evaluating the transfer of control of the goods and services: 
 
a)  Presence of Company’s collection right of the consideration for the goods or services, 
b)  Customer’s ownership of the legal title on goods or services, 
c)  Physical transfer of the goods or services, 
d) Customer’s ownership of significant risks and rewards related to the goods or services, 
e) Customer’s acceptance of goods or services. 
 
If Company expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the Company transfers a 
promised good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one 
year or less, the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component is 
not adjusted. On the other hand, when the contract effectively constitutes a financing component, the fair 
value of the consideration is determined by discounting all future receipts using an imputed rate of 
interest. The difference between the fair value and the nominal amount of the consideration is recognised 
on an accrual basis as other operating income. 
 
“TFRS 15 Revenue from Customer Agreements” standard, which replaced the “TAS 18 Revenue” 
standard, since 01 January 2018.TFRS 15 does not have any effect on the Company’s financial 
statements. 
 
2.3.2 TFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” standard 
 
Classification and Measurement  
 
Company classifies its financial assets in three categories of financial assets measured at amortised cost, 
financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit of loss. The classification of financial assets is determined 
considering the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial asset. The appropriate classification of financial assets is determined at the 
time of the purchase. 
 
“Financial assets measured at amortised cost”, are non-derivative assets that are held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms 
of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding. Company’s financial assets measured at amortised cost 
comprise “cash and cash equivalents” and “trade receivables” Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
are measured at their fair value at initial recognition and by effective interest rate method at subsequent 
measurements. Gains and losses on valuation of non-derivative financial assets measured at amortised cost 
are accounted for under the statement of income. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.3. Changes in accounting policies, estimates (Continued) 
 
“Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income”, are non-derivative 
assets that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. Gains or losses on a financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income is recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment gains or losses and foreign 
exchange gains and losses until the financial asset is derecognised or reclassified. When the financial 
asset is derecognised the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified to retained earnings. 
 
Company may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition for particular investments in equity 
instruments that would otherwise be measured at fair value through profit or loss, to present subsequent 
changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. In such cases, dividends from those investments 
are accounted for under statement of income. 
 
“Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss”, are assets that are not measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Gains and losses on valuation of 
these financial assets are accounted for under the statement of income. 
 
Changes regarding the classification of financial assets and liabilities in terms of TFRS 9 are summarised 
below. Related changes in classification do not result in changes in measurement of the financial assets 
and liabilities. 
 

Financial assets 
Previous classification according 

to TAS 39 
New classification according  

to TFRS 9 
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost 
Trade receivables Loans and receivables Amortised cost 

 

Financial liabilities 
Previous classification according 

to TAS 39 
New classification according 

to TFRS 9 
Trade payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 
Financial liabilities Amortised cost Amortised cost 

 
Impairment 
 
“Expected credit loss model” defined in TFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” superseded the “incurred credit 
loss model” in TAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” which was effective prior 
to 1 January 2018. Expected credit losses are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses over the 
expected life of the financial instrument. The calculation of expected credit loss is performed based on the 
past experiences and future expectations of the Company. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.3. Changes in accounting policies, estimates (Continued) 
 
Trade Receivables 
 
The Company has preferred to apply “simplified approach” defined in TFRS 9 for the recognition of 
impairment losses on trade receivables, carried at amortised cost and that do not comprise of any 
significant finance component (those with maturity less than 12 months). In accordance with the 
simplified approach, the Company  measures the loss allowances regarding its trade receivables at an 
amount equal to “lifetime expected credit losses” except incurred credit losses in which trade receivables 
are already impaired for a specific reason. 
 
The Company uses a provision matrix for the calculation of the expected credit losses on trade 
receivables. The provision matrix calculates fixed provision rates depending on the number of days that 
a trade receivable is past due and those provision rates are reviewed and, revised if necessary, in every 
reporting period. The changes in the expected credit losses on trade receivables are accounted for under 
“other operating income/expenses” account of the consolidated statement of income.  
 
2.4 Turkish Financial Reporting Standards Change and Comparative Information 
 
2.4.1 Comparative information and reclassifications in the previous period’s financial statements 
 
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared comparatively with the prior period in order to 
allow determination of the financial position and performance trends. Reclassifications can be made in 
comparative information in order to conform with the presentation of the current period financial 
statements. 
 
As of 31 December 2018 statement of financial position has been presented as comparative with prior 
period as of 31 December 2017 and as of 31 December 2018 statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income has been presented as comparative with prior period as of 31 December 2017. 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation 
 
Significant accounting policies applied during the preparation of the financial statements are 
summarised as follows: 
 
2.5.1 Accounting of Revenue and Expense 
 
Revenue 
 
Revenue is rental income that have generated from investment property and recognized in profit or loss 
on accrual basis. Income is measured at fair value basis over the reasonable value that is received or can 
be received.  
 
Interest Income 
 
Interest income is charged to statement of income according to accrual basis. 
 
2.5.2 Investment Property 
 
Investment properties comprise of operating investment properties and investment properties under 
development.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
Operating investment properties 
 
Operating investment properties held to earn rental income or capital appreciation or both. Operating 
investment properties of the Company comprise of buildings and lands. 
 
Investment property under development  
 
Investment properties under development are those which are held either to rent income or capital 
appreciation or for both. Investment properties under development of the Company comprise of lands. 
 
An investment property can be accounted as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that economic benefits 
related to real estate would flow to the company and the cost of the investment property would be 
measured reliably. 
 
After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market 
prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. 
The fair value of investment property does not reflect future capital expenditure that will improve or 
enhance the property and does not reflect the related future benefits from this future expenditure. The 
profit or loss recognized due to the changes in the fair value of an investment property is included in the 
current year’s comprehensive income statement. 
 
2.5.3 Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, 
if any. Any directly attributable costs of setting the asset in working order for its intended use are 
included in the initial measurement. 
 
Depreciation is calculated over of the cost of property and equipment using the straight-line method 
based on expected useful lives (Note 10). 
 
The expected useful lives are stated below: 
 
 Expected Useful Depreciation 
 Duran Varlık Cinsi Life (Year) Rate (%) 
 
Furniture and fixture 4-15 6,67-25 
Rights 5 20 
 
Subsequent costs incurred for tangible assets are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized 
as a separate asset as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the statement of income during the financial period in which they were 
incurred. 
 
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written 
down to its recoverable amount and the provision for impairment is charged to statement of income. 
 
Gains and losses on the disposal of property and equipment are determined by deducting the net book 
value of the property and equipment from its sales and are included in the related income and expense 
accounts, as appropriate.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
2.5.4 Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are consist of licences, access service and computer software. They are recorded at 
acquisition cost. And from the date of acquisition over the estimated useful lives of 5 years are 
amortized using the straight-line method (Note 11). 
 
Estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  
 
2.5.5 Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that 
asset are capitalized over the respective assets. Other borrowing costs are recognized in the 
comprehensive income statement in the period they incur. 
 
2.5.6 Financial instruments 
 
Classification 
 
The Company has the following financial assets, cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables; and 
has the following financial liability, trade payables. 
 
i) Non-derivative financial assets 
 
The company, its assets are recognized at the date they are incurred. All other financial assets, the 
transaction date that becomes a party to the conditions of the contract regarding the Company's financial 
instruments are recognized. When the company transferred the assets with the relevant contract in 
accordance with the resulting cash flows related rights expired or related rights of ownership of all of 
the risks and rewards associated with the assets in a purchase and sale transactions in question is to 
remove the financial asset register. All kinds created or retained financial assets transferred by the 
Company is recognized as a separate asset or liability. 
 
Non-derivative financial assets that can be directly attributable to the statement of financial position and 
transaction costs are recognized at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, subsequent period of 
financial assets are measured as described below. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash, bank deposits with maturity periods of less than three-
months and other highly liquid short-term investments which are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. The carrying values of these assets 
are close to their fair values. The Company evaluates its cash and cash equivalents in accordance with 
expected credit loss model for impairment. In the calculation of the expected credit loss, the Company's 
future forecasts are taken into account along with past loan loss experiences. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is divided into three subgroups: “Financial assets held 
for trading”, “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and “Derivative financial assets held 
for trading”.  



CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 
 
DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed as Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise stated.) 
 

19 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are generally acquired for the purpose of selling in 
the short term in order to acquire revenue from fluctuations in the market. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are reflected to statement of financial position with 
their cost value and then measured at fair value. Difference between cost and fair values is included in 
profit/loss accounts. 
 
Available for sale financial assets 
 
Available for sale financial assets are the financial assets other than assets held for trading purposes, 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity financial assets and loans and 
receivables. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at their fair values. Unrecognised gains 
or losses derived from the difference between their fair value and the discounted values calculated per 
effective interest rate method are recorded in “Fair value reserve” under shareholders’ equity. In case of 
sales, the realised gain or losses are recognised directly in the statement of operations. When equity 
investments are disposed of, any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss as the difference 
between the sales price and the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
Investments held to maturity  
 
Investments held to maturity are the investments, for which there is an intention of holding until maturity 
and the relevant conditions for fulfillment of such intention, including the funding ability, and for which 
there are fixed or determinable payments with fixed maturity; and which are recognized at fair value at 
initial recognition. Investments held to maturity with the initial recognition at fair value including 
transaction costs are subject to valuation with their discounted cost value by using the internal rate of 
return method less provision for any impairment, if any. 
 
Interest income from investments held to maturity are recognized in the income statement as an interest 
income. 
 
Impairment of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, a financial asset or group of financial assets at the 
end of each reporting period whether there are indicators of impairment are assessed. After the initial 
recognition of a financial asset of one or more events to occur and where there is a financial asset or 
group of assets that can be reliably estimated as a result of the negative impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment loss is 
recognized. 
 
For receivables impairment, estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original 
effective interest rate is calculated by the difference between the carrying amount and the present value. 
 
Carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, impairment loss directly deducted from the carrying amount of the 
financial asset. Trade receivables cannot be collected, the amount deducted from the reserve account 
will be deleted. Changes in the allowance account are recognized in profit or loss for the period.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
The exception of available for sale equity instruments, in a subsequent period the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease related to an event occurring after the impairment loss is recognized, the 
previously recognized impairment loss for the investment at the date the impairment is reversed if the 
impairment is recognized in no time to reach does not exceed the amortized cost of in the income 
statement will be canceled. 
 
Available-for-sale equity securities, any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss 
recognized directly in equity. 
 
Recognition and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Company's financial assets and liabilities, is a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument if the statement of financial position reflects. All or part of the Company's financial assets, 
are subject only when it loses control over the contractual rights that removes records. The Company's 
financial liabilities are eliminated, but the obligation specified in the contract, canceled or expires 
releases the records. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
Trade receivables are recognized as net invoice value after deduction of provisions for doubtful 
receivables are carried at. The carrying values of trade receivables net of allowance for doubtful 
receivables considered to approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature. The collection of 
the receivable is estimated for the provision for doubtful receivables is made when it is not possible. 
Provision is made for doubtful receivables have been identified.  
 
Due from related parties  
 
Close relatives of members of the Board of Directors and Senior Executives, and organizations that 
Company can able to control directly or indirectly are defined as related parties. Book value of 
receivables from related parties, close to its fair value. 
 
ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 
Loans and borrowings 
 
Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 
 
Trade and other payable 
 
Trade and other payable are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition these 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
iii) Capital 
 
Ordinary Shares 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares are recognised as a deduction in equity after tax effects. 
 
Treasury shares 
 
The cost of the Company’s own equity instruments that it has reacquired is deducted from equity. Gain 
or loss is not recognized on the purchase, sale, issue, or cancellation of treasury shares. Treasury shares 
may be acquired and held by the company. Consideration paid or received is recognized directly in 
equity. 
 
2.5.7 Foreign Currency Transactions 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into TL at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to TL at the 
exchange rate at that date. Gains or losses on translation of foreign currency denominated transactions 
to TL are recognised in profit of loss.  
 
The exchange rates used by the Company are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
USD 5.2609 3.7719 
EURO 6.0280 4.5155 
 
2.5.8 Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
2.5.9. Earnings per share 
 
Earnings per share are determined by dividing net comprehensive income by the weighted average 
number of shares that have been outstanding during the period concerned. Weighted average number of 
shares is number of ordinary shares at the beginning of the period and the number of shares issued during 
the period or taken back to a time-weight factor multiplied by the number of shares. The time-weight 
factor is the ratio of the number of days where a certain number of shares issued and total number of 
days in the period. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of their shares 
“bonus shares” to existing shareholders funded from retained earnings or other reserves. For the purpose 
of earnings per share computations, such bonus share issuances are regarded as issued shares for all 
periods presented and accordingly the weighted average number of shares used in earnings per share 
computations in prior periods is adjusted retroactively for the effects of these shares, issued without 
receiving cash or another consideration from shareholders. 
 
2.5.10. Subsequent events 
 
Subsequent events represent the events that occur against or on behalf of the Company between the 
reporting date and the date when reporting was authorised for the issue. There are two types of 
subsequent events: 
 
- Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed as at reporting date (adjusting events after 

the reporting date); and 
 
- Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events 

after the reporting date). 
 
If there is evidence of such events as of reporting date or if such events occur after reporting date and if 
adjustments are necessary, the Company’s financial statements are adjusted according to the new 
situation. The Company discloses the post-balance sheet events that are not adjusting events but 
material. 
 
2.5.11  Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 
A provision is recognised when the Company has a present implicit or legal obligation as a result of a 
past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the 
specified criteria are not met, the Company discloses the related issues in the notes. 
 
If the inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements. If the inflow of the economic benefit is more than likely to occur, such asset and income 
statement effect are recognised in the financial statements at  
 
2.5.12. Leases 
 
Financial Leasing 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. Fixed assets that are acquired through financial leasing are 
reflected at the statement through deducting the accumulated depreciation and impairment from the 
lowest version of the beginning of the lease discounted value of minimum lease payments at balance 
sheet date and the fair value of the goods subject to lease. Liabilities under finance leases, decreased by 
the payment of principal and interest payments are recorded as expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
Operational Leasing 
 
Operational leasing transactions are recorded to comprehensive income statements in the period they 
have realized. 
 
2.5.13.  Related parties 
 
(a) A person or a relative of the subject person is considered as related party of the Company in such 

situations that are described as follows:   
 

If the subject person, 
 

i) Has a sole control or jointly control over the Company, 
ii) Has a significant impact on or the authority to effect the Company, 
iii) Has a title in a key management personnel of the main Company or a parent company. 

 
(b) If any of the following conditions apply 
 

i) Entity and the company are the members of the same group, 
ii) Entity is the subsidiary or business partner of the other entity. 
iii) Both of the entities are the business partners of a third party. 
iv) One of the entities is a business partner of a third entity and the other entity is the subsidiary 

of the subject third party. 
v) Entity has utility plans for the personnel of the Company or a related party of the Company 

after quitting the job, these sponsors are also considered as related party. 
vi) Entity is being controlled or jointly controlled by a person that is specified in (a), 
vii) Entity is affected majorly by a person that has the characteristics specified in (a) (i). 
 

Transaction between related parties is the transfers between the reserves, service or the obligations 
without considering if there is a compensation or not. 
 
2.5.14. Segment reporting 
 
Segment reporting is designed as to supply consistence on reporting to the competent authority on taking 
decisions about the activities of the group. The competent authority is responsible for evaluation of the 
departments’ performance and decision taking related to the resources which are to be allocated according 
to departments. 
 
Since the Company operates only in the development of real estate, the Company does not prepare a 
segment reporting. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
2.5.15  Governments grants and incentives 
 
As disclosed in Note 2.5.14., the Company which operates as a real estate investment trust, is exempt 
from corporate tax. 
 
2.5.16. Taxation 
 
According to Article 5/1(d) (4) of the New Corporate Tax Law No: 5520, the income of Real Estate 
Investment Trusts (“REIT”) is exempt from Corporate Income Tax in Turkey. This exemption is also 
applicable to Quarterly Advance Corporate Tax. 
 
Since the Company is exempt from Corporate Income Tax in Turkey in accordance with Article 5 of the 
Corporate Tax Law, deferred tax is not recognised. 
 
2.5.17. Provision for employee termination benefits  
 
Provision for the employee termination benefits shows the present value of total liabilities resulting from 
retirement of personnel in the future for the company in accordance with Turkish Labor Law. Under the 
Turkish Labor Law, the Company is required to pay termination benefits to each employee who has 
completed at least one year of service and whose employment is terminated without due cause, is called 
up for military service, dies or who retires after completing 25 years of service (20 years for women) 
and achieves the retirement age (58 for women and 60 for men). Since the legislation was changed on 
23 May 2002, there are certain transitional provisions relating to length of service prior to retirement. 
The amount payable consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of 5,434 TL amount as of  
31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: 4,732 TL). 
 
Provision is related to fair value of defined benefit plan calculated with the method of estimated liability. 
All actuarial profit and losses are accounted under comprehensive income statement. TFRS requires 
actuarial valuation methods to be developed to estimate the enterprise’s obligation for such benefits. 
The liability for this unfunded plan recognized in the balance sheet is the full present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period, calculated using the projected unit credit method. 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows from the retirement of its employees using the long term TL interest rates. 
 
The principal actuarial assumption is that the maximum liability will increase in line with inflation. Thus 
the effective discount rate applied represents the expected real interest rate after adjusting for the effects 
of future inflation. As the maximum liability amount is revised periodically by the authorities, the 
maximum amount of 6,018 TL which is effective from 1 January 2018 has been taken into consideration 
when calculating the liability (1 January 2017: 5,002 TL ) as of 31 December 2018. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
2.5 Summary of critical account estimation (Continued) 
 
2.5.18. Statements of cash flow 
 
The Company presents statement of cash flows as an integral part of other financial statements to inform 
the users of financial statements about the changes in its net assets, its financial structure and its ability 
to manage the amount and timing of its cash flows under new conditions.  
 
 
3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, cash and cash equivalents are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Cash 256 198 
Banks - Demand deposits 397,235 356,375 
Banks - Time deposits 1,220,063 8,637,180 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the financial position 1,617,554 8,993,753 
 
Interest income accruals on cash equivalents (1,063) (2,267) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 1,616,491 8,991,486 
 
Demand deposits 
 
As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the details of demand deposits at banks are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
TL 349,942 11,777 
USD 47,233 344,593 
EUR 60 5 
 
Total 397,235 356,375 
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 
 
Time deposits 
 
As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the details of time deposits at banks are as follows: 
 
 Nominal 
31 December 2018 Amount (TL) interest rate (%) Maturity 
 
TL 399,164 15.00 2 January 2019 
TL 820,899 10.00 2 January 2019 
 
Total 1,220,063   
 
 Nominal 
31 December 2017 Amount (TL) interest rate (%) Maturity 
 
EUR 4,965,954 0.10 2 January 2018 
TL 2,535,666 8.00 2 January 2018 
TL 1,135,560 6.00 2 January 2018 
 
Total 8,637,180   
 
 
4. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Short-term portion of long term financial liabilities 93,384,660 46,600,381 
 
Short-term portion of long term financial liabilities 93,384,660 46,600,381 
 
Long-term financial liabilities 815,214,647 222,838,686 
 
Long-term financial liabilities 815,214,647 222,838,686 
 
Total financial liabilities 908,599,307 269,439,067 
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4. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
 Weighted 
 average effective 
 interest rate  Original TL 
31 December 2018 (%) Currency balance equivalent 
 
Short term portion    Libor + 5.35 USD 6,147,484 32,341,301 
   of long term financial liabilities Euribor + 4.75 EUR 6,087,191 36,693,588 
 5.00 EUR 3,819,444 23,023,611 
 6.00 EUR 220,000 1,326,160 
 
Long term    5.00 EUR 96,250,000 580,195,000 
   financial liabilities   6.00 EUR  20,000,000 120,560,000 
 Libor + 5.35 USD 18,365,919 96,621,263 
 Euribor + 4.75 EUR  2,959,254 17,838,384 
 
   908,599,307 
 
 Weighted 
 average effective 
 interest rate  Original TL 
31 December 2017 (%) Currency balance equivalent 
 
Short term portion    Libor + 5.35 USD 4,666,562 17,601,806 
   of long term financial liabilities Euribor + 4.75 EUR 6,202,008 28,005,165 
 6.00 EUR 220,000 993,410 
 
Long term    Libor + 5.35 USD 24,507,857 92,441,184 
   financial liabilities   Euribor + 4.75 EUR 8,877,755 40,087,504 
 6.00 EUR 20,000,000 90,309,998 
 
   269,439,067 
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5. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 
As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, trade receivables of the Company are as follows. 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Trade receivables 12,988,245 5,973,820 
Due from related parties (Note 27) 2,571,674 138,103 
Provision for doubtful receivables  (4,938,268) (2,498,076) 
 
Balance at the end of the period 10,621,651 3,613,847 
 
As of 31 December 2018, maturity of the trade receivables amounting to  3,679,152 TL has been expired 
but not impaired. The guaranteed amount of relevant trade receivables is 1,543,438 TL. 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, provisions for doubtful receivables of the Company are as follows:  
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Balance at 1 January (2,498,076) (6,861,167) 
Additions (2,596,696) (6,669,209) 
Provision no longer required 88,426 10,943,050 
Disposal 68,078 89,250 
 
Balance at the end of the period - 31 December (4,938,268) (2,498,076) 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, trade payables of the Company are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Trade payables to third parties  4,078,809 9,624,100 
Due to related parties (Note 27) 33,917,251 1,453,392 
 
Total 37,996,060 11,077,492 
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6. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 
As at 31 December 2018, other receivables from third parties are amounting to 1,725 TL 
(31 December 2017: 1,584 TL). 
 
As at 31 December 2018, other payables to third parties are amounting to 238,792 TL  
(31 December 2017: 170,526 TL) comprise the deposits and guarantee received amounting to  
218,637 TL and other payables amounting to 20,155 TL. 
 
As at 31 December 2018, other long term payables comprise of deposits and guarantee received  
 759.243 TL (31 December 2017:  554,084 TL). 
 
 
7. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the details of prepaid expenses of the Company are as follows:  
 
Short term prepaid expenses 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Prepaid insurance expenses 20,554 16,423 
Prepaid expenses 329,801 502,434 
Prepaid commission expenses 183,226 96,869 
 
Total 533,581 615,726 
 
Long term prepaid expenses 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Prepaid expenses 378,986 396,567 
Prepaid commission expenses 186,801 370,026 
 
Total 565,787 766,593 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the details of deferred income of the Company are as follows:  
 
Short term deferred income 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Short term deferred income (*) 2,787,577 419,495 
 
Total 2,787,577 419,495 
 
(*) Short term deferred income consist of rent income received in advance. 
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8. CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the details of current income tax assets of the Company are as 
follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Prepaid taxes and funds 240,031 187,399 
 
Total 240,031 187,399 
 
 
9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, investment properties of the Company are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Operating investment properties  1,771,905,000 1,142,051,500 
Investment properties under development 3,877,034 3,877,034 
 
Total 1,775,782,034 1,145,928,534 
 
Operating investment property 
 
The fair values of investment properties as at 31 December 2018 are as follows: 
 
 Valuation Valuation Fair 
Description Method report date value 
 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall “Discounted cash flow” 28 December 2018 547,085,000  
Gebze Center Otel  “Discounted cash flow” 28 December 2018 43,525,000  
Gebze Center Additional Buildings  “Discounted cash Flow” 28 December 2018 23,155,000 
Gebze Land “Cost approach” 28 December 2018 4,020,000  
D-Ofis Maslak “Sale comparison” 25 December 2018 525,693,000  
Doğuş Center Maslak “Discounted cash flow” 28 December 2018 388,762,000  
Doğuş Center Etiler “Sale comparison” 28 December 2018 176,758,000  
Doğuş Center Etiler Sport Center “Market approach” 25 December 2018 62,907,000  
 
Total   1,771,905,000 
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9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 
 
The fair values of investment properties as at 31 December 2017 are as follows: 
 
 Valuation Valuation Fair 
Description method report date value 
 
Antalya 2000 Shopping Mall “Sale comparison” 26 December 2017 14,707,500 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall “Discounted cash flow” 29 December 2017 565,990,000 
Gebze Center Hotel “Discounted cash flow” 29 December 2017 64,475,000 
Gebze Center Additional Building “Discounted cash flow” 29 December 2017 26,810,000 
Gebze Land “Cost approach” 29 December 2017 4,020,000 
Doğuş Center Maslak “Discounted cash flow” 26 December 2017 321,440,000 
Doğuş Center Etiler “Sale comparison” 26 December 2017 144,609,000 
 
Total   1,142,051,500 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the movement of the investment properties are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Beginning of the period - 1 January 1,142,051,500 1,019,411,500 
Additions 591,354,355 70,036,278 
Disposals(*) (14,707,500) - 
Increase in fair value 53,206,645 52,603,722 
 
End of the period 1,771,905,000 1,142,051,500 
 
(*) As of 1 June 2018, Antalya 2000 Plaza sold for 10,600,000 TL by the decision of board of directors as at 

16 May 2018 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, insurance amount on investment properties are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall Euro 171,773,578 149,657,423 
Doğuş Center Maslak building Euro 44,073,071 44,473,945 
Doğuş Center Etiler Independent Areas Euro 23,121,359 24,696,678 
Antalya 2000 Plaza Euro - 3,408,168 
D-Ofis Maslak Euro 26,065,500 - 
Doğuş Center Etiler Sport Center Euro 16,262,457 - 
 
Total (**) 281,295,965 222,236,214 
 
(**) As of 31 December 2018, total TL equivalent of insurance on investment properties is 1,695,652,077 TL 

(31 December 2017: 1,003,507,624 TL ). 
 
There is 100,000,000 EUR mortgage on the investment properties. 
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9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 
 
Investment properties under development measured at fair value 
 
As at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 the movement of investment properties under development 
are as follows: 
 
 1 January 2017 Additions Disposal  31 December 2018 
 
Investment properties 3,877,034 - - 3,877,034 
 
Total 3,877,034 - - 3,877,034 
 
As at 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 the movement of investment properties under development 
are as follows: 
 
 1 January 2017 Additions Disposal  31 December 2017 
 
Investment properties 4,598,645 - (721,611) 3,877,034 
 
Total 4,598,645 - (721,611) 3,877,034 
 
Due to reason that the comparable market transactions being infrequent and alternative reliable estimates 
of fair value (for example based on discounted cash flow projections) being not available, the fair value 
of the investment property under development, namely “Doğuş GYO Office Tower Project ” is deemed 
to be not reliably determinable. Therefore, the Company determines that the fair value of its investment 
property under development is not reliable determinable but expects the fair value of the property to be 
reliably determinable when construction is complete; it measures that investment property under 
development at cost until either its fair value becomes reliably determinable or construction is completed 
(whichever is earlier). 
 
Legal processes related to investment properties: 
 
Doğuş GYO Office Tower Project 
 
İstanbul province, Şişli district, Ayazağa district, address and the title of the two layouts, 1 island,  
and 131 numbered following the finalization of development plans on registered real estate parcel, a 
"Business Project", it was decided to construct. According to the Board of Directors resolution dated  
16 November 2012 and numbered 340, the Company has decided to receive service in scope of 
projection, related application to the governmental institutions and obtaining required permission and 
approvals in order to initiate the process of construction from Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme 
A.Ş. through signing engagement letter of “Improvement of Project Construction” and then start to 
construct the project. 
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9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 
 
Legal processes related to investment properties (Continued): 
 
The company raised an objection to and demanded the correction of the Master Development Plan for 
Maslak and its surroundings, scaled 1/5000, which was finalised upon the approval of Istanbul 
Metropolitan Municipality and announced on 12 March 2014. Since the demand for correction was 
rejected, a lawsuit was filed on 11 August 2014 regarding the request of the cancellation and the stay of 
the execution for the said development plan. The İstanbul 2nd Administrative Court rejected the 
company's demand for stay of execution on 11 June 2015. The Company was filed a lawsuit on  
3 November 2015 regarding the request of the cancellation and the stay of the execution to İstanbul 
Administrative Court. The request of the cancellation and the stay of the execution has been rejected as 
of 29 February 2016.  The judicial process continues. 
 
With respect to the lawsuit filed by Sarıyer Municipality for the suspension and cancellation of the 
execution of Sarıyer District, Maslak environment, 1/1000 scale Implementation Plan on  
3 November 2015, which was suspended by Sarıyer Municipality from 7 July 2015 to  
7 August 2015. The reason was the ruling of the Administrative Court 2. The refusal of the executive to 
terminate the request was notified to the Company on 20 June 2017. In response to the decision of 
Administrative Court 2, the Company has requested of appeal to İstanbul District Court. The refusal of 
the executive to terminate the request was notified to the Company on 4 June 2018 and the legal process 
continued. 
 
On 16 November 2016, an amendment to the 1/1000 scale Maslak and Environmental Implementation 
Plan was suspended by Sarıyer Municipality between 17 October  2016 and 17 November  2016, and 
on 6 February 2017, 3 Administrative Court has been sued. The 3rd Administrative Court decided to 
approve the cancellation of the request and notified on 13 November 2017 and regarding the cancellation 
of the construction plan amendment to the Company on 30 January 2018. Sarıyer Municipality has 
appealed against the decision of the 3rd Administrative Court of İstanbul in the presence of the İstanbul 
Regional Administrative Authority, the judicial process continues.As of 31 December 2018, appeal 
demand rejected by the notified decision of Administrative Suit Departmant of Istanbul 4rd  Regional 
Administrative Court.  
 
The legal proceedings concerning the lawsuits are continuing. The Company believes that it will not 
suffer any damages as a result of the ongoing legal process and has not made any corrections to the legal 
proceedings that are continuing on the financial statements in this framework. 
 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall, Hotel and Additional Building Project 
 
According to Board of Directors’ Decision No. 390 dated 9 July 2014, the Company has been 
performing research, evaluation, and planning activities regarding  “Hotel construction (primarily) and 
the construction of additional buildings project’’ on the property whose title deed is registered at plot 
G22B24C2A, block 5678, and parcel number 22, located at Kocaeli, Gebze District, Sultanorhan 
District, Güneyyanyol, No:310. Construction permit of the related Project has been taken on 20 February 
2015. Constructions works have been beginned. The company raised an objection on 11 January 2016 
and demanded cancelation of the Master Development Plan, scaled 1/5000,  that was approved with the 
decision  of Kocaeli Metropolitan Municipality Council’s 516 numbered meeting on 17 September 2015. 
The demand of the Company has been rejected in accordance with Kocaeli Administrative Court 1 
decision, no N2016/114, numbered 2017/539. The refusal of the executive was notified to the Company 
on 20 June 2017. Per the opinion of the lawyer, there is no effect of this objection on the construction 
permit that was taken for Gebze Center Hotel and Additional Buildings Project. The judicial process 
continues. The Company believes that it will not suffer any damages as a result of the ongoing legal 
process and has not made any corrections to the legal proceedings that are continuing on the financial 
statements in this framework. 
 
There is 100,000,000 EUR mortgage on the investment properties.  
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10. TANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
The movement schedule of tangible assets as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 1 January 2018 Addition Disposal 31 December 2018 
 
Furniture and fixture 2,770,110 156,708 (18,570) 2,908,248 
Accumulated depreciation (2,177,646) (210,781) 8,357 (2,380,070) 
 
Net book value 592,464   528,178 
 
 1 January 2017 Addition Disposal 31 December 2017 
 
Furniture and fixture 2,739,149 30,961 - 2,770,110 
Accumulated depreciation (1,966,506) (211,140) - (2,177,646) 
 
Net book value 772,643   592,464 
 
There is no pledge on tangible assets as of 31 December 2018 and 2017. 
 
 
11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
The movement schedule of intangible assets as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 1 January 2018 Addition Disposal 31 December 2018 
 
Rights 303,217 - - 303,217 
Accumulated depreciation (165,824) (17,985) - (183,809) 
 
Net book value 137,393   119,408 
 
 1 January 2017 Addition Disposal 31 December 2017 
 
Rights 303,217 - - 303,217 
Accumulated depreciation (145,451) (20,373) - (165,824) 
 
Net book value 157,766   137,393 
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12. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
According to the decision of CMB’s 28/780 numbered meeting on 9 September 2009, related to the 
commitments of publicly owned companies given to the guarantee 3rd party’s debts, The commitments 
given;  
 
For companies other than publicly owned associations and financial institutions;  
 
i) For their own corporate identities, 
ii) In favor of fully consolidated associations, 
iii) In favor of 3rd parties to continue their operations will not be limited. 
 
After the decision is published at the Platform of Public Enlightenment, publicly owned companies will 
not give commitments to real people or corporations other than mentioned at the bullets (i) and (ii) above 
or to third parties other than mentioned at the bullet (iii). 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 commitments given are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
A. CPM’s given for its own legal personality 30,472 30,472 
B. CPM’s given on half of fully consolidated companies - - 
C. CPM’s given for continuation of its economic  
     activities on behalf on third parties - - 
D. Total amount of other CPM’s - - 
Total amount of CPM’s given to on behalf 
   - The majority shareholder - - 
   - Total amount of CPM’s given to on behalf 
      of other group companies which are not  
      in scope of B and C - - 
   - Total amount of CPM’s given to on behalf 
     of third parties which are not in scope of C - - 
 
Total 30,472 30,472 
 
The proportion of other CPM and Group’s equity is 0.0% as of 31 December 2018  
(31 December 2017: None. ). 
 
As of 31 December 2018, company has 17,004,145 TL contingent liabilities to related parties related to 
borrowing guarantees, which has been given by related parties (31 December 2017: 1,622,542 TL ). 
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12. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
The details of guarantee received are below as of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017: 
 
  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  
 Original TL Original TL 
 amount Equivalent amount Equivalent 
 
TL (*) 18,350,360 18,350,360 28,885,554 28,885,554 
EURO  1,869,192 11,267,489   2,156,917 9,739,561 
USD  162,580 855,317   408,356 1,540,277 
 
  30,473,166  40,165,392 
 
(*) As at 31 December 2018 the company has received amount of 5,000,000 TL letter of guarantee and amount 

of 10,000,000 TL guarantee cheque from the supplier for the construction activities within the scope of 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall, Hotel and Additional Buildings Project (31 December 2017: 27,150,000 TL). 

 
As of 31 December 2018, the Company have 10 receivables cases, 8 business cases, 10  execution 
proceeding case, 1 compensation case, 2 administrative cases, and the important case details have been 
explained in Note 9 by the Company. 
 
 
13. LIABILITIES FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the details of liabilities for employee benefits of the Company are as 
follows: 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Social security premiums payable 51,743 114,544 
 
Total 51,743 114,544 
 
 
14. PROVISIONS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Provision for unused vacation 
 
The undiscounted unused vacation provision liability is below: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Short term liabilities 
 
Provisions for employee benefits - 1,000,000 
Unused vacation 381,615 501,057 
 
Total 381,615 1,501,057 
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14. PROVISIONS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
The movement schedule of the unused vacation as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Balance at the beginning of the period - 1 January 501,057 530,051 
Increase/(decrease) during the period (119,442) (28,994) 
 
At the end of the period - 31 December 381,615 501,057 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Long term liabilities 
 
Provision for employee termination benefit 330,769 296,476 
 
Total 330,769 296,476 
 
Provisions for severance payments represent the Companies’ liabilities that could be occur through 
retirements of its employees and the present value of calculated possible liabilities in accordance with 
Turkish Labour Law. Provisions for severance payments are calculated on an accrual basis as the 
employees deserve and reflected at financial statements. The computation of the liability is based upon 
the retirement pay ceiling announced by the Government. The applicable ceiling amount as of  
1 January 2018 6.018 TL (1 January 2017: 5,002 TL ). 
 
In accordance with TAS 19 - Employee Benefits, the Company is required to use actuarial valuation 
methods in estimating the liability related with current retirement plans. As at 31 December 2018 and 
2017, employee severance indemnity in the accompanying financial statements has been calculated 
using the following actuarial assumptions:  
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Discount rate 3.69% 4.72% 
Expected salary / Rate of limit increase 16.42% 6.00% 
Estimated retirement turnover rate 95% 100% 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
1 January 296,476 176,334 
 
Service cost 40,865 28,916 
Interest cost 32,612 19,396 
Actuarial (loss)/gain 64,962 71,830 
Payment in period (104,146) - 
 
31 December 330,769 296,476 
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15. OTHER CURRENT / NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 
Other current assets 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the details of other current assets are presented below: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
VAT receivables   24,709,309 3,876,783 
Job advances 265,878 78,792 
 
Total 24,975,187 3,955,575 
 
Other non-current assets 
 
As at 31 December 2018, the other tangible assets amounting to 20,871,003 TL consists of long term 
VAT receivables, the other non-current assets amounting to 14,358 TL consist of deposits and 
guarantees given (31 December 2017: 261,840 TL). 
 
Other short term liabilities 
 
As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the details of other short-term liabilities are presented below: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Taxes payables and other duties 270,837 895,980 
 
Total 270,837 895,980 
 
 
16. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
 
None. 
 
 
17. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY 
 
17.1. P aid in capital 
 
As at 31 December 2018, The Company's paid in capital is 332,007,786 TL  
(31 December 2017: 332,007,786 TL). 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, The Company’s capital comprise of issued and each carries 1 TL 
nominal value shares. 
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17. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY (Continued) 
 
17.1. P aid in capital (Continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, The Company’s capital structure shows below: 
 
  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  
 Capital Capital Capital Capital 
Description Class Type amount (TL) rate (%) amount (TL) rate (%) 
 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş.  
   (Non-public) A Registered 2,604,451 0.78 2,604,451 0.78 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş.  
   (Non-public) B Bearer 48,693,875 14.67 48,693,875 14.67 
Public (*) B Bearer 280,709,460 84.55 280,709,460 84.55 
 
Total   332,007,786 100.00 332,007,786 100.00 
 
(*) As of 31 December 2018, the other publicly-held shares belong to Doğuş Holding A.Ş. amounting to  

 261,038,907 TL and to Doğuş Turizm Sağlık Yatırımları ve İşletmeciliği Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. amounting 
to 1,522,029 TL . 

 
On 24 March 2017, the board of directors decided to increase company's issued capital by  
 93,007,455 TL from 239,000,331 TL to 332,007,786 TL without exceeding the registered capital cap 
of 500,000,000 TL. 91,407,527 TL of this amount will be generated from previous years’ profits and 
1,599,928 TL will be generated from positive inflation adjustment differences. The necessary 
application to CMB was made on 27 March 2017. Aforementioned increase transaction in issued capital 
has been approved by CMB on 9 May 2017. 
 
17.2. Restricted reserves 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, restricted reserves are consist of legal reserves. 
 
The legal reserves consist of first and second reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish 
Commercial Code (“TCC”). The TCC stipulates that the first legal reserve is appropriated out of 
statutory profits at the rate of 5% per annum, until the total reserve balance reaches 20% of the 
Company’s paid-in share capital. The second legal reserve is appropriated at the rate of 10% per annum 
of all cash distributions in excess of 5% of the paid-in share capital. Under the TCC, the legal reserves 
can only be used to offset losses and are not available for any other usage unless they exceed 50% of 
paid-in share capital. 
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17. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY (Continued) 
 
17.3. Dividend distribution 
 
According to Communiqué Serial: IV, No: 27, regarding profit distribution obligation, it has been made 
possible that shares, issued in cash or through the addition of dividend to the capital upon the decision 
of the Company’s general assembly, can be distributed to the shareholders free of charge or that the 
distribution can be partly made in cash and partly through the free distribution of shares. It has been 
further made possible that initial dividend amount be left to the companies without distribution, if such 
amount is lower than the 5% of the existing paid-up/issued capital amount. 
 
In this context; according to the decision of CMB, the net distributable profit that is calculated per 
CMB’s minimum profit distribution requirements will be wholly distributed if it is met by the net 
distributable profit of statutory records, if the amount per CMB is not met by statutory records, the 
amount to be distributed will be limited to the amount at the statutory records. If losses are incurred in 
either of CMB or statutory financial statements, no profit will be distributed. 
 
17.4. Retained earnings 
 
As at 31 December 2018 the Company’s statutory retained earnings and statutory net profit are 
8,117,329 TL and 46,241,247 TL respectively. 
 
17.5 Share premium 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Share premium 249,751,377 249,751,377 
 
Total 249,751,377 249,751,377 
 
17.6. Treasury shares 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Treasury shares 3,984,585 3,984,585 
 
Total 3,984,585 3,984,585 
 
Public shareholders, who attend general assembly meetings for merging/spin-off transactions, use 
disapproval votes, and have dissenting opinions written in the minutes of the meeting, have the right to 
leave by selling their shares to partnership. Some of the company’s shareholders, who attended the 
company’s extraordinary assembly meeting on 29 August 2016 for the merging process through spin-
off, requested to leave by selling their shares to partnership. The company purchased back shares with 
a nominal value of 1,064,657 TL in total by paying 3,984,585 TL from a 3,7426 TL value for the shares 
with a nominal value of 1 TL. This is the average of the weighted average price, which took place within 
the 30 days before 4 May 2016, when the partial spin-off was declared to public. The company’s internal 
funding provided share buy-back financing.  
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18. SALES AND COST OF SALES 
 
Sales for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Rent income 98,555,386 73,916,621 
 
Total 98,555,386 73,916,621 
 
Cost of the sales for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Common area expenses 9,063,297 7,185,814 
Real estate tax expenses 6,429,244 3,753,480 
Other 130,085 107,154 
 
Total 15,622,626 11,046,448 
 
 
19. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 
General administrative expenses for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Personnel expenses 3,826,097 5,358,750 
Consultancy expenses 517,464 627,020 
Travel and vehicle rent expenses 266,273 425,613 
Tax and other duties 258,386 261,958 
Head office expenses 189,949 181,353 
Depreciation and amortization 228,766 231,513 
Software expenses 193,720 139,324 
BIST expenses 68,408 52,636 
Communication expenses 29,509 32,862 
Capital increase expenses - 228,101 
Membership and subscription expenses 6,938 8,247 
Other 206,938 557,103 
 
Total 5,792,448 8,104,480 
 
 
20. INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 
None. (31 December 2017: None)  

CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 
 
DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed as Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise stated.) 
 

42 

21. OTHER OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSES 
 
Other operating income for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Fair value gains of investment property 53,206,645 52,603,722 
Provisions no longer required 913,780 366,799 
Foreign exchange gains 251,585 28,816 
Other 1,296,257 57,075 
 
Total 55,668,267 53,056,412 
 
Other operating expense for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Tax expenses 8,828,850 - 
Loss on sale of investment property 4,107,500 - 
Provision for doubtful receivables 2,596,696 6,669,209 
Foreign exchange losses 856,812 168,071 
Other 91,130 796,605 
 
Total 16,480,988 7,633,885 
 
 
22. FINANCE INCOME 
 
Finance income for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Foreign exchange gains 48,460,980 14,685,437 
Interest income 726,406 796,424 
 
Total 49,187,386 15,481,861 
 
 
23. FINANCE EXPENSE 
 
Finance expense for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Foreign exchange losses 138,526,976 43,994,919 
Interest expenses 21,814,619 16,520,556 
Commission expenses 1,207,241 1,069,697 
Other 32,612 19,396 
 
Total 161,581,448 61,604,568 
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24. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 
None. 
 
 
25. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
In accordance with the Corporate Tax Law, the income of the Company is exempted from taxation since 
it’s operations are related to real estate investment trust. Since the earnings of the Company are exempt 
from tax in accordance with the Corporate Income Tax Law, the Company does not any deferred tax 
assets and liabilities earnings per share stated in statement of income are calculated by dividing net 
income for the period by the weighted average number of the Company’s shares for the period. 
(31 December 2017: None) 
 
 
26. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Earnings per share amounts, net income is calculated by the weighted average number of shares in the 
current period, the Company’s shares. 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Profit for the period 3,933,529 54,065,513 
Weighted average number of shares 328,023,201 328,023,201 
Earnings per share 0.012 0.165 
 
 
27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 
Due to/from related parties 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company’s related party balances are as follows; 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Trade receivables from related parties: 
 
Doğuş Yayın Grubu A.Ş. 1,933,145 - 
DG Financial Advisers LTD 398,681 - 
Doğuş Spor Kompleksi Yat. ve İşl .A.Ş. 166,453 - 
Doğuş Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş. - 116,030 
Doğuş Perakende Satış Giyim ve Aksesuar Tic. A.Ş. - - 
Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Tic. A.Ş. - 22,073 
Kral Müzik Medya Hizm.A.Ş 73,395 - 
 
Total 2,571,674 138,103 
 
As of 31 December 2018, company has 17,004,145 TL contingent liabilities to related parties related to 
borrowing guarantees, which has been given by related parties (31 December 2017: 1,622,542 TL ). 
Except this contingent liabilities, as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, there is no guarantee given 
to/received from related parties.  
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27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Trade payables to related parties: 
 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 33,789,345 942,855 
Doğuş Power Center Maslak Yöneticiliği 91,060 42,028 
Doğuş Bilgi işlem ve Teknoloji Hizmetleri A.Ş. 31,599 15,387 
Antur Turizm A.Ş. 4,557 3,772 
Doğuş Turizm Sağlık Yatırım ve İşl. San. Tic. A.Ş. 609 - 
Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. - 449,350 
VDF Filo Kiralama A.Ş. 81 - 
 
Total 33,917,251 1,453,392 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Deferred revenue from related parties 
 
Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş.  2,164,101 - 
 
Total 2,164,101 - 
 
Related party transactions 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company's transactions with related party’s summary is as 
follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Rent income 
 
Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. 21,009,803 16,097,346 
Doğuş Yayın Grubu A.Ş.  9,453,483 7,650,191 
Doğuş Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş 4,596,769 - 
Doğuş Otomotiv Servis ve Ticaret A.Ş. 1,453,304 1,155,062 
DG Financial Advisers Ltd. 782,700 - 
Doğuş Spor Kompleksi Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 692,501 442,496 
Kral Müzik Medya Hizm.A.Ş. 220,084 174,639 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 69,204 55,530 
Doğuş Perakende Satış Giyim ve Aks.Tic. A.Ş. 35,628 - 
Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 18,097 14,521 
 
Total 38,331,573 25,589,785 
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27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Service and other expenses 
 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 958,842 812,330 
Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 163,017 188,991 
Doğuş Bilgi İşlem ve Teknoloji Hizmetleri A.Ş. 156,747 114,570 
Vdf Filo Kiralama A.Ş  101,024 - 
Antur Turizm A.Ş. 8,794 100,329 
Doğuş Oto Pazarlama Ticaret A.Ş. 8 140,396 
 
Total 1,388,432 1,356,616 
 
Service procurement 
 
Doğuş Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İşletme A.Ş. 1,112,184 2,669,242 
 
Total 1,112,184 2,669,242 
 
Purchase of Investment Property 
 
Doğuş Holding A.Ş. 525,690,000 - 
Doğuş Turizm 62,900,000 - 
 
Total 588,590,000 - 
 
The company generated 38% of its’ revenue from intercompanies (31 December 2017: 35%). 
 
Employee benefits to key management: 
 
The total amount of the benefits provided to the members of the Board of Directors of the Company is  
169,765 TL; benefits provided to Board of Directors Consultants 100,607 TL; There is a total benefit of 
2,006,348 TL for senior managers as of 31 December 2018, totaling to  2,276,720 TL for the senior 
managers with administrative responsibility.  
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28. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. The Company has exposure to the 
following risks from its operations: 
 
 Credit risk 
 Liquidity risk 
 Market risk 
 
28.1. Credit risk 
 
The ownership of the financial assets brings the risk of not meeting the obligations of the agreement of 
the counter party. These risks are controlled by credit evaluations and restricting the maximum exposure 
to a counter party. 
 
The Company leased out the majority of its investment property portfolio to the main shareholders, 
group companies and public institutions. Credit risk of other tenants is limited via letter of guarantee. 
 
 2018 2017 
 
1 January 269,439,067 193,438,739 
Received financial liabilities 603,000,000  82,240,000 
Cash outflows related to debt payments (45,398,100) (24,733,701) 
Foreing exchange difference expense 81,033,251 17,190,226 
Change in interest accruals 525,089 1,303,803 
 
31 December 908,599,307 269,439,067 
 
 
 
 
  



CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION INTO ENGLISH OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH 
 
DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
(Amounts expressed as Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise stated.) 
 

47 

28. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued) 

 
28.1. Credit risk (Continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2018, credit risk exposure of financial assets is as follows: 
 
  Receivables  
  Trade   Other 
  receivables   receivables  
 Related Other Related Other Deposits on  
31 December 2018 party party party party banks Other 
 
Maximum exposed credit risk 
   as of reporting date (A+B+C+D) 2,571,674 8,049,977 - 1,725 1,617,298 - 
Secured portion of the maximum 
   credit risk by guarantees, etc. - 1,513,438 - - - - 
A)  Net book value of financial assets 
     that are either not due or not impaired  2,571,674 4,370,825 - 1,725 1,617,298 - 
B)  Net book value of the expired  
          but not impaired financial assets - 3,679,152 - - - - 
C) Net book value of impaired assets 
       - Overdue (Gross book value) - 4,938,268 - - - - 

 - Impairment (-) - (4,938,268) - - - - 
 - Secured portion of the net value 

       - Not overdue (Gross book value) 
 - Impairment (-) - - - - - - 
 - Secured portion of the net value 

D)  Off balance sheet items with  - - - - - - 
       credit risks - - - - - - 
 
As at 31 December 2017, credit risk exposure of financial assets is as follows: 
 
  Receivables  
  Trade   Other 
  receivables   receivables  
 Related Other Related Other Deposits on  
31 December 2017 party party party party banks Other 
 
Maximum exposed credit risk 
   as of reporting date (A+B+C+D) 138,103 3,475,744 - 1,584 8,993,555 - 
Secured portion of the maximum 
   credit risk by guarantees, etc. - 1,043,215 - - - - 
A)  Net book value of financial assets 
     that are either not due or not impaired    138,103 1,840,494 - 1,584 8,993,555 - 
B)  Net book value of the expired  
          but not impaired financial assets - 1,635,250 - - - - 
C) Net book value of impaired assets - - - - - - 
       - Overdue (Gross book value) - 2,498,076  - - - - 

 - Impairment (-) - (2,498,076) - - - - 
 - Secured portion of the net value - - - - - - 

       - Not overdue (Gross book value) - - - - - - 
 - Impairment (-) - - - - - - 
 - Secured portion of the net value - - - - - - 

D)  Off balance sheet items with        
       credit risks - - - - - - 
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28. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued) 

 
28.2. Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the inability of the Company to match the net funding requirements with sufficient 
liquidity. 
 
The following table presents the Company’s financial liabilities including interest payments according 
to their remaining contractual maturities: 
 
Contract terms  
 
  Total of    More 
 Carrying contractual Up to 3 3 months 1 year to 5 than 5 
31 December 2018 value cash flows months to 1 year years years 
 
Short term 
financial liabilities 
(Non - derivative) 
 
Bank Loans 908,599,307 1,089,374,406 34,390,525 96,103,909 466,512,513 492,367,459 
Trade payables 37,996,060 37,996,060 37,996,060 - - - 
Other payables and liabilities 1,320,615 1,320,615 1,320,615 - - - 
 
Total 947,915,982 1,128,691,081 73,707,200 96,103,909 466,512,513 492,367,459 

 
  Total of    More 
 Carrying contractual Up to 3 3 months 1 year to 5 than 5 
31 December 2017 value cash flows months to 1 year years years 
 
Short term 
financial liabilities 
(Non - derivative) 
 
Bank Loans 269,439,067 305,229,627 18,071,222 41,353,285 245,805,120 - 
Trade payables 11,077,492 11,077,492 11,077,492 - - - 
Other payables and liabilities 1,735,134 1,735,134 1,735,134 - - - 
 
Total 282,251,693 318,042,253 30,883,848 41,353,285 245,805,120 - 

 
As at 31 December 2018 the Company does not have any derivative financial liabilities  
(31 December 2017: None). 
 
28.3. Market Risk 
 
The Company is exposed to various market risks, including the effects of changes in exchange rates, 
interest rates, equity prices and credit spreads. 
 
The total risk management program of the Company focuses on the unpredictability of the financial 
markets and aims at reducing the potential negative effects on the Company’s financial performance. 
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28. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued) 

 
28.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
Exchange risk comprises the effects arising from exchange movements in the event foreign currency 
assets and liabilities. 
 
Due to the fact that the Company signs rent agreements on USD and EURO, loans and borrowings has 
been made generally on EURO. 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company’s foreign currency assets and liabilities are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 (TL amount) (TL amount) 
 
Total assets in foreign currency 47,293 5,310,552 
Total liabilities in foreign currency (908,599,307) (270,057,100) 
 
Net position (908,552,014) (264,746,548) 
 
Foreign currency in details; 
 
  31 December 2018   31 December 2017  
 Currency Currency TL Currency Currency TL 
 type amount amount type amount amount 
 
Assets 
 
Cash and cash USD 8,978 47,233 USD 91,358 344,593 
   equivalents EUR 10 60 EURO 1,099,759 4,965,959 
 
Total   47,293   5,310,552 
 
Liabilities 
 
Bank loans EUR (24,513,403) (128,962,564) EURO (35,299,763) (159,396,077) 
Bank loans USD (129,335,890) (779,636,743) USD (29,174,419) (110,042,990) 
Other payables EUR - - EURO (117,160) (529,034) 
Other payables USD - - USD (23,595) (88,999) 
 
Total   (908,599,307)   (270,057,100) 
 
Net position   (908,552,014)   (264,746,548) 
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28. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued) 

 
28.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis table 
 
31 December 2018  
  Profit/ (Loss)  

 Valuation of  Devaluation of 
 foreign currency foreign currency 
 

In the case of US Dollar gaining 10% value against TL; 
 
    1- US Dollar net asset / liability (12,891,533) 12,891,533  
    2- Hedged portion against US Dollar risk (-) - - 
3- Net effect of US Dollar (1+2) (12,891,533) 12,891,533  
 
In the case of Euro gaining 10% value against TL; 
 
    1- Euro net asset / liability (77,963,668) 77,963,668  
    2- Hedged portion against Euro risk (-) - - 
3- Net effect of Euro (1+2) (77,963,668) 77,963,668  
 
31 December 2017  
  Profit/ (Loss)  

 Valuation of  Devaluation of 
 foreign currency foreign currency 
In the case of US Dollar gaining 10% value against TL; 
 
    1- US Dollar net asset / liability (10,978,740) 10,978,740 
    2- Hedged portion against US Dollar risk (-) - - 
3- Net effect of US Dollar (1+2) (10,978,740) 10,978,740 
 
In the case of Euro gaining 10% value against TL; 
 
    1- Euro net asset / liability (15,495,915) 15,495,915 
    2- Hedged portion against Euro risk (-) - - 
3- Net effect of Euro (1+2) (15,495,915) 15,495,915 
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28. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued) 

 
28.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk due to interest bearing assets and liabilities. 
 
The table below shows the financial instruments sensitive to interest rates as at 31 December 2018 and 
2017: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Financial instruments with fixed interest rates 
 
Financial assets 1,220,063 8,637,180 
   Time deposits 1,220,063 8,637,180 
 
Financial liabilities 725,104,771 91,303,408 
   Borrowings 725,104,771 91,303,408 
 
Weighted average interest rates which are applied to financial instruments as of 31 December 2018 and  
2017 are as follows: 
 
 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
Financial instruments 
Time deposits - TL 10,00%-15,00% 6.00%-8.00% 
Time deposits - Euro - 0.10% 
Financial liabilities - Euro 6,00%-5,00% Euribor + 4,75% Euribor + 4.75% 
Financial liabilities - USD Libor + 5,35% Libor + 5.35% 
 
Interest rate sensitivity: 
 
The company’s financial claims and debts are generally short term and there is no exposure to the risk 
of interest. 
 
The company reduces interest risk of change by using variable-rate loans and loan term credit. 
 
Non-financial assets 
 
Real estate appraisal reports prepared by a real estate appraisal company authorized by the CMB are 
used to determine the fair value of investment properties measured at fair value on the Company's 
financial statements  
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28. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued) 

 
28.3. Market Risk (Continued) 
 
Investment Properties: 
 
If there was a 10% increase/decrease in the fair value of investment properties calculated using sales 
comparison comparative method and all other variables were constant, the profit would have been  
76,535,000 TL more and 76,535,000 TL less (31 December 2017: 15,931,650 TL more, 15,931,650 TL  
less) Sensitivity analysis of investment property calculated by using sales comparison comparative 
method is as follows; 
 
 Sales Sensitivity Effect to profit Effect to loss 
31 December 2018 comparison m2 analysis on fair value on fair value 
 

 
Doğuş Center Etiler  17,987 %10 17,675,800 (17,675,800) 
D-Ofis Maslak 13,000 %10 52,569,300 (52,569,300) 
Doğuş Center Etiler 
   Sport Center  6,745 %10 6,290,700 (6,290,700) 
 
 Sales Sensitivity  Effect to profit Effect to loss 
31 December 2017 comparison m2 analysis on fair value on fair value 
 
Etiler Independent Areas 14,715 %10 14,460,900 (14,460,900) 
Antalya 2000 Shopping Mall 2,108 %10 1,470,750 (1,470,750) 
 
If there was a 0.5% increase/decrease in the fair value of investment properties calculated using cash 
discount comparative method and all other variables were constant, the profit would have been 
20,353,189  TL less and 21,231,688 TL more (31 December 2017: 33,697,706 TL less, 35,184,160 TL 
more) Sensitivity analysis of investment property calculated by using cash discount comparative method 
is as follows; 
 
 Discount  Sensitivity  Effect to profit Effect to loss 
31 December 2018 rate analysis on fair value on fair value 

 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall %20 %0.5 16,665,000 (16,005,000) 
Maslak DPC %15-%22 %0.5 2,271,688 (2,218,189) 
 
Gebze Center Otel %9-%10.5 %0.5 1,580,000 (1,445,000) 
Gebze Center Showroom %19.5 %0.5 715,000 (685,000) 
 
 Discount  Sensitivity Effect to profit Effect to loss 
31 December 2017 rate analysis on fair value on fair value 
 
Gebze Center Shopping Mall %10 %0.5 20,010,000 (19,140,000) 
Maslak DPC %11 %0.5 9,504,160 (9,137,706) 
 
Gebze Center Otel %8.5-%10 %0.5 4,720,000 (4,520,000)  
Gebze Center Showroom %10 %0.5 950,000 (900,000) 
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28. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued) 

 
28.4. Capital management 
 
The Company manages capital by using effective portfolio management to reduce the risk of investment. 
The main objectives of the Company are to continue operations with generating revenue, to secure the 
benefits of the shareholders, cost of capital and to continue the optimum level of net liabilities/equity 
and to achieve the efficient capital structure continuity. 
 
 
29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The fair value of an asset is the amount at which that asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction 
between willing parties. 
 
The determination of fair value of company’s liabilities and obligations are required for both accounting 
policies and presentation of the notes. 
 
Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following 
methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values 
is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
 
Following assumptions and methods are used to estimate fair value of financial instruments, if fair values 
are applicable. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
The Company assumes that the carrying values of the trade receivables are close to their fair value 
because of their short-term nature. 
 
Financial assets 
 
Financial assets comprise of government bonds and private sector bonds. These assets are measured at 
fair value in the financial statements. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Trade and other payables 
 
The Company assumes that the carrying values of the trade payables are close to their fair value because 
of their short-term nature. 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
 
Financial value of financial instruments is calculated through reliable information available in Turkey 
financial markets.  
 
Fair values and carrying values of the USD and EURO denominated loans with fix and floating interest 
rates as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
 Carrying value   Fair value  
31 December 2018 31 December 2017 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
 
 908,599,307 269,439,067 909,823,308 269,479,421 
 
Classification of Fair Value Measurement 
 
TFRS 13 - Financial Instruments requires the classification of fair value measurements into a fair value 
hierarchy by reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in measuring fair value 
of financial instruments measured at fair value to be disclosed. This classification basically relies on 
whether the relevant inputs are observable or not. Observable inputs refer to the use of market data 
obtained from independent sources, whereas unobservable inputs refer to the use of predictions and 
assumptions about the market made by the Company. 
 
This distinction brings about a fair value measurement classification generally as follows: 
 
- Level 1: Financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions are valued 

with quoted market prices which are determined on active liquid markets. 
 
- Level 2: Financial assets and financial liabilities are valued by directly or indirectly observable 

market prices rather than the quoted market prices mentioned in first level of the regarding assets 
or liabilities.  

 
- Level 3: Financial assets and financial liabilities are valued by the inputs where there is no 

observable market data of the fair value of the regarding assets and liabilities.  
 
Classification requires using observable market data if possible. 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
 
In this context, classification of fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value are as 
follows: 
 
31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Investment properties - 765,358,000 1,010,424,034 1,775,782,034 
 
Total - 765,358,000 1,010,424,034 1,775,782,034 
 
31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Investment properties - 167,213,534 978,715,000 1,145,928,534 
 
Total - 167,213,534 978,715,000 1,145,928,534 
 
 
30. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS EFFECTING TO OR MAKING FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS MORE CLEAR, INTERPRETABLE AND UNDERSTANDABLE 
SHOULD BE DISCLOSED 

 
 As of 26 January 2017, within the scope of "Project Finance", the Company has borrowed a loan 

amounting to 20,000,000 EUR with 5-year maturity, no principal payment for first two years, 6% 
fixed interest rate and interest repayment in every 3 months. As of 24 January 2019, the Company 
has made a disclosure in the Public Disclosure Platform about the agreement with Halkbank A.Ş. 
for the postpone of first principal payment which normally would be paid on 28 January 2019. 

 
 The Company has borrowed 100,000,000 EUR loan from Credit Europe Bank N.V. with fixed 

5% interest rate for first two years, as from third year, Euribor + 5% variable interest rate and 
variable principal and interest repayments in every 3 months. A baloon repayment amounting to 
66,500,000 EUR in the end of the maturity will be paid. 

 
 The contractual terms of the loan are as follows: 

 
o The rental income of the Company's Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom 

will be collected by Fibabanka A.Ş. and the bank accounts will be put in pledge by Credit 
Europe Bank. N.V. 

 
o A credit transfer contract will be signed for the rental income of Gebze Center Shopping 

Center, Hotel and Showroom project and the receivables will be transferred to Credit 
Europe Bank N.V. 

 
o A mortgage on the Company's Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom 

project will be amounting to 100,000,000 EUR. 
 
o As of 2019, management and rent consultancy services of the Company's Gebze Center 

Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom project will be executed by FİBA CP Yönetim 
Hizmetleri A.Ş. and Fiba Commercial Real Estate Investments Inc.  
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30. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS EFFECTING TO OR MAKING FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS MORE CLEAR, INTERPRETABLE AND UNDERSTANDABLE 
SHOULD BE DISCLOSED (Continued) 

 
 The Company stated that shareholders had a right to leave, as per Article 24 of Capital Market 

Law No. 6362, after these transactions were included in the scope of significant transactions: 
establishing real rights to a significant portion of the assets of the transaction establishing a lien 
on the Gebze Center AVM, Otel and Showroom projects the Company owns; obtaining a 
significant amount of assets from related parties of the transaction to purchase the D Ofis Maslak 
building. The Company will cover the payment to shareholders who meet the conditions related 
to the right to leave. 

 
 A mortgage on the Company's Gebze Center Shopping Center, Hotel and Showroom project will 

be amounting to 100,000,000 EUR. 
 
 
31. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
As of 1 February 2019, the Company signed an agreement to increase the rent of D Ofis Maslak for the 
first year with an amount of 3.000.000-TL + VAT per month and for the next years due to the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI). 
 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: COMPLIANCE CONTROL OF THE PORTFOLIO 
RESTRICTIONS 
 
Presented information, in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: II, No: 14.1 
“Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” Amendment No: 16 comprised condensed information and 
prepared in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1“Real Estate 
Investment Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 28 May 2013 numbered 28660 Capital 
Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1a“Amendment on Real Estate Investment Company” 
published in the Official Gazette dated 23 January 2014 numbered 28891. 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: COMPLIANCE CONTROL OF THE PORTFOLIO 
RESTRICTIONS (Continued) 
 
As of 31 December 2018, the information in the table of “control of compliance with the portfolio 
limitations” is prepared in accordance with the provisions on the control of portfolio limitations of 
Communiqué Series:III No: 48.1a, and article 22(e), article 24(a,b,c,d) and article 28 and 31 “Principles 
Regarding Real Estate Investment Companies”, and the limitations are showed below: 
 

  
Financial Statement Primary 
Accounts Items Related Regulations 

31 December     
2018 (TL) 

31 December  
2017 (TL) 

     
A 
 

Monetary and capital market 
instruments Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(b) 1,617,554 8,993,753 

B 
 
 

Real estates, projects based on 
real estates, rights based on real 
estates Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(a) 1,775,782,034 1,145,928,534 

C Subsidiaries Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(b) - - 

  
Due from related parties ( non-
trade) Serial III-48.1a, Art.23/(f) - - 

  Other assets  58,470,909 10,132,421 
 
D Total asset Serial III-48.1a, Art.3/(p) 1,835,870,497 1,165,054,708 
 
E Financial liabilities Serial III-48.1a, Art.31 908,599,307 269,439,067 
F Other financial liabilities Serial III-48.1a, Art.31 - - 
G Financial leasing obligations Serial III-48.1a, Art.31 - - 
H 
 

Due to related parties  
(non-trade) Serial III-48.1a, Art.23/(f) - - 

I Equity Serial III-48.1a, Art.31 884,454,554 880,585,987 
  Other liabilities  42,816,636 15,029,654 
 
D Total liabilities Serial III-48.1, Art.3/(p) 1,835,870,497 1,165,054,708 
     

  Financial Information Related Regulations 
31 December  

2018 (TL) 
31 December 

2017 (TL) 
A1 
 
 
 

The portion of money and capital 
market instruments held for 
payables of  properties for the 
following 3 years Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(b) - - 

A2 
 

Time deposit/demand 
deposit/TL/Foreign currency Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(b) 1,617,298 8,993,555 

A3 
 

Foreign capital market 
instruments Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(d) - - 

B1 
 
 

Foreign properties, projects based 
on properties  and rights based on 
properties Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(d) - - 

B2 Idle lands Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(c) - - 
C1 Foreign Subsidiaries  Serial III-48.1a, Art.24/(d) - - 
C2 
 

Investments in affiliated 
operating companies Serial III-48.1a, Art.28/1/(a) - - 

J Non-cash loans Serial III-48.1a, Art.31 30,472 30,472 
K 
 
 
 

Mortgage amounts on lands that 
project to be developed and the 
ownership does not belong the 
partnership Serial III-48.1a, Art.22/(e) - - 

L 
 
 

Total investments of monetary and 
capital market instruments at one 
company Serial III-48.1a, Art.22/(1) 964,539 4,966,169 
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RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN RELATION TO ACCEPTANCE OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

DATE OF THE RESOLUTION: 22 February 2019
NUMBER OF RESOLUTION : 2019/8

THE STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 9 OF SECTION TWO OF THE COMMUNIQUÉ 
NO. II-14.1 ON THE PRINCIPLES IN RELATION TO FINANCIAL REPORTING IN CAPITAL MARKET OF THE CAPITAL 
MARKETS BOARD

As approved to be disclosed to the public with the resolution number 2019/8 dated 22 February 2019 of our 
Board of Directors, hereby we declare that: 

a. the Financial Statements of our company prepared individually in relation to the operating period of 01.01.2018-
31.12.2018 and audited independently and their respective footnotes have been reviewed by us within the framework 
of the Communiqué of Principles in relation to Financial Reporting in Capital Market of the Capital Markets Board; 

b. the financial statements prepared individually and their respective footnotes do not contain any disclosure 
contrary to the reality on important subjects or any deficiency that may give rise to them being misleading as of 
the date on which the disclosure is made within the framework of the information held and within our powers 
and responsibilities in the company; and 

c. within the framework of the information held and within our powers and responsibilities in the company, 
the financial statements prepared individually and their respective footnotes reflect the reality relating to the 
assets, liabilities, financial situation as well as profit and loss of the company bona fide in accordance with the 
Communiqué in force. 

Yours faithfully,  

DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.

Murat Bahadır Teker
Member of the Audit Committee

Nazlı Yılmaz
Deputy General Manager for Financial Affairs  

Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy
Chairman of the Audit Committee  

Çağan Erkan
General Manager 

STATEMENTS OF RESPONSIBILITY 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN RELATION TO ACCEPTANCE OF ANNUAL REPORT

DATE OF THE RESOLUTION: 01 March 2019
NUMBER OF RESOLUTION: 2019/11

THE STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 9 OF THE COMMUNIQUÉ NO. II-14.1 ON 
THE PRINCIPLES IN RELATION TO FINANCIAL REPORTING IN CAPITAL MARKET OF THE CAPITAL MARKETS 
BOARD AND THE COMMUNIQUÉ NO. II-17.1 ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As approved to be disclosed to the public with the resolution number 2019/11 dated 01 March 2019 of our Board 
of Directors, hereby we declare that: 

a. the Corporate Governance Compliance Report and Corporate Governance Information Form prepared with 
the templates within the scope of the resolution number 2/49 dated 10.01.2019 in the formats determined by 
the CMB in accordance with the Corporate Governance Communiqué (II-17.1) as well as the Board of Directors 
Activity Report of our Company prepared in relation to the period of 01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018 in accordance with 
the Communiqué No. II-14.1 on the Financial Reporting in the Capital Market of the Capital Markets Board have 
been reviewed by us;

b. the Activity Report, Corporate Governance Compliance Report and Corporate Governance Information Form 
prepared within the framework of the information held and within our powers and responsibilities in the company 
do not contain any disclosure contrary to the reality on important subjects or any deficiency that may give rise 
to them being misleading as of the date on which the disclosure is made; and  

c. within the framework of the information held and within our powers and responsibilities in the company, 
the activity report prepared in accordance with the related Communiqué reflect the reality with respect to the 
development and performance of the business and the financial performance of the company bona fide together 
with the important risks and uncertainties faced by the company  

Yours faithfully, 

DOĞUŞ GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş.

Murat Bahadır Teker
Member of the Audit Committee

Nazlı Yılmaz
Deputy General Manager for Financial Affairs

Mustafa Sabri Doğrusoy
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Çağan Erkan
General Manager
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